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PREFACE

IFRS: Interpretation and Application of International Financial Reporting Standards
provides detailed, analytical explanations and copious illustrations of all current accounting
principles promulgated by the IASB (and its predecessor, the IASC). The book integrates the
accounting principles promulgated by these standard setters and by their respective bodies
responsible for responding to more narrowly focused issues, the current International Finan-
cial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), and the former Standing Interpretations
Committee (SIC). These materials have been synthesized into a user-oriented topical format,
eliminating the need for readers to first be familiar with the names or numbers of the salient
professional standards.

IFRS have been adopted or adapted by well over one hundred nations for mandatory or
optional financial reporting by public and/or private entities, with many more adoptions
scheduled to occur over the next very few years. A key event signaling the growing
recognition of the primacy of IFRS was the decision by the US Securities and Exchange
Commission in 2007 waiving its former requirement for foreign registrants to reconcile key
financial statement captions to amounts computed under US GAAP. Now, for those
submitting financial statements that fully comply with IFRS, this is no longer required.

Another important event, having worldwide implications, occurred in 2008 when the
SEC granted permission for qualified “early adopters” to file annual financial reports for
2009 based on IFRS, with a concomitant promise to decide in 2011, based on early expe-
rience, whether to entirely phase out US GAAP in favor of IFRS. Universal adoption of
IRFS appears to now be a virtual certainty, probably within the near term, although the origi-
nally promoted target of 2014 to 2016 might conceivably slip one or a few years.

The primary objective of this book is to assist the practitioner in navigating the myriad
practical problems faced in applying IFRS. Accordingly, the paramount goal has been to
incorporate meaningful, real-world-type examples in guiding users in the application of IFRS
to the complex fact situations that must be dealt with in the actual practice of accounting. In
addition to this emphasis, a major strength of this book is that it does explain the theory of
IFRS in sufficient detail to serve as a valuable adjunct to, or substitute for, accounting text-
books. Much more than a reiteration of currently promulgated IFRS, it provides the user
with an understanding of the underlying conceptual basis for the rules, to enable the reason-
ing by analogy that is so necessary in dealing with a complex, fast-changing world of com-
mercial arrangements and structures using principles-based standards. Since IFRS is by de-
sign less prescriptive than many national GAAP, practitioners have been left with a
proportionately greater challenge in actually applying the rules. This book is designed to
bridge the gap between these less detailed standards and application problems encountered in
actual practice.

Each chapter of this book, or major section thereof, provides an overview discussion of
the perspective and key issues associated with the topics covered; a listing of the professional
pronouncements that guide practice; and a detailed discussion of the concepts and accompa-
nying examples. A comprehensive checklist following the main text offers practical guid-
ance to preparing financial statement disclosures in accordance with IFRS. Also included is
an up-to-date, detailed, tabular comparison between IFRS and US GAAP, which remains the
second most commonly encountered financial reporting standards, keyed to the chapters of
this book. The book features copious examples of actual informative disclosures made by
companies currently reporting under IFRS.

The authors’ wish is that this book will serve practitioners, faculty, and students as a re-
liable reference tool, to facilitate their understanding of, and ability to apply, the complexities



of the authoritative literature. Comments from readers, both as to errors and omissions and
as to proposed improvements for future editions, should be addressed to Barry J. Epstein, c/o
John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 155 N. 3rd Street, Suite 502, DeKalb, Illinois 60115, prior to
May 15, 2010, for consideration for the 2011 edition.

Barry J. Epstein

Eva K. Jermakowicz
December 2009



ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Barry J. Epstein, PhD, CPA, a partner in the firm Russell Novak & Company, LLP, has
forty-three years’ experience in the public accounting profession, as auditor, as technical
director/partner for several national and local firms, and as a consulting and testifying financial
reporting and auditing expert on over one-hundred and twenty-five litigation matters to date. His
current practice is devoted to providing technical consultations to CPA firms and corporations
regarding US GAAP and IFRS accounting and financial reporting matters; US and international
auditing standards; matters involving financial analysis; forensic accounting investigations; and
corporate governance matters. He regularly serves as an accounting, auditing, financial reporting,
and financial analysis expert in litigation matters, including assignments for both the private sec-
tor litigants and various governmental agencies.

Dr. Epstein is a widely published authority on accounting and auditing. His current publica-
tions include Wiley GAAP, now in its 26th edition, for which he serves as the lead coauthor. He
has also appeared on over a dozen national radio and television programs discussing the crises in
corporate financial reporting and corporate governance, has presented hundreds of educational
programs to professional and corporate groups in the US and internationally, and has had scores
of articles published in legal, accounting, and other professional journals. He previously chaired
the Audit Committee of the AICPA’s Board of Examiners, responsible for the Uniform CPA Ex-
amination, and has served on other professional panels at state and national levels.

Dr Epstein holds degrees from DePaul University (Chicago—BSC, accounting and finance,
1967) University of Chicago (MBA, economics and industrial relations, 1969), and University of
Pittsburgh (PhD, information systems and finance, 1979). He is a member of American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, Illinois CPA Society, and American Accounting Association

Eva K. Jermakowicz, PhD, CPA, has taught accounting for over twenty-six years and has
served as a consultant to prominent international organizations and businesses. She is currently a
Professor of Accounting and Chair of the Accounting and Business Law Department at Tennessee
State University, Nashville, and held previous positions on the faculties of the University of
Southern Indiana and Warsaw Tech University in Poland, and she has taught accounting courses
in several additional countries. In 2003-2004, Dr. Jermakowicz was a Fulbright scholar under the
European Union Affairs Research Program in Brussels, Belgium, where her project was “Conver-
gence of National Accounting Standards with International Financial Reporting Standards.” She
was also a Fulbright scholar in Poland in 1997. Dr. Jermakowicz has consulted on international
projects under the auspices of the World Bank, the United Nations, and Nicom Consulting, Ltd.
Her primary areas of interest are international accounting and finance.

Dr. Jermakowicz has had numerous articles published in academic journals and conference
proceedings, including Abacus, Journal of International Accounting, Auditing & Taxation,
Journal of International Financial Management & Accounting, Multinational Finance Journal,
Journal of Accounting and Finance Research, Bank Accounting & Finance, Financial Executive,
Strategic Finance, CPA Journal, and Butterworths Journal of International Banking and
Financial Law. She is a member of the American Accounting Association, European Accounting
Association, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Tennessee Society of CPAs,
and the Institute of Management Accountants, and other professional organizations.






1 INTRODUCTION TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

Origins and Early History of the IASB 4 Segment reporting 23
The Current Structure 7 Leases 23
Process of IFRS Standard Setting 8 g‘}’l‘:r‘gceomnezge"g;“;:;?ergts ;g
. v i

Constraints N ® " Europe 2009 Update 25
Conceptual Framework for Financial .

Reporting 10 Impact of IFRS Adoption by EU

. Companies 26
Hierarchy of Standards 15 oo
The IASB and Financial Reporting in Appendlx‘ A: lerrent‘ .

the US 15 International Financial Reporting
The IASB and Europe 18  Standards (IAS/IFRS) and
The Future Agenda for IFRS 20 Interpretations (SIC/IFRIC) 28

Performance reporting %8 Appendix B: Revised IAS 1,

Revenue recognition . . .

Joint projects with FASB and CASB 20 Presentation Of Financial

Business combinations and group Statements 31
Igg‘gnfmlsﬁ%om“g ;} Appendix C: IFRS for SMEs 35
Insurar?cre contiacts 22 Appen(.li.x D Case Study

Disclosures about financial instruments 22 Transitioning from US GAAP to

Fair Yalue rpeasurements 22 IFRS 42
Contingencies 22 Appendix E: Use of Present Value
Government grants 23 . .

Interest during construction periods 23 in Accounting 51
Income taxes 23

The year 2005 marked the beginning of a new era in global conduct of business, and the
fulfillment of a thirty-year effort to create the financial reporting rules for a worldwide capi-
tal market. For during that year’s financial reporting cycle, as many as 7,000 listed compa-
nies in the 27 European Union member states, plus many others in countries such as Aus-
tralia, New Zealand, Russia, and South Africa were expected (in the EU, required) to
produce annual financial statements in compliance with a single set of international rules—
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Many other business entities, while not
publicly held and not currently required to comply with IFRS, also planned to do so, either
immediately or over time, in order to conform to what is clearly becoming the new world-
wide standard. Since there are about 15,000 SEC-registered companies in the USA that pre-
pare financial statements in accordance with US GAAP (plus countless nonpublicly held
companies also reporting under GAAP), the vast majority of the world’s large businesses are
now reporting under one or the other of these two comprehensive systems of accounting and
financial reporting rules.

There were once scores of unique sets of financial reporting standards among the more
developed nations (“national GAAP”’). However, most other national GAAP standards have
been reduced in importance or are being phased out as nations all over the world have em-
braced IFRS. For example, Canada announced that Canadian GAAP (which was modeled on



2 Wiley IFRS 2010

and very similar to US GAAP) is to be eliminated and replaced by IFRS in 2011. China
required that listed companies employ IFRS beginning with their 2007 financial reporting.
Many others planned to follow this same path.

2007 and 2008 proved to be watershed years for the growing acceptability of IFRS. In
2007, one of the most important developments was that the SEC dropped the reconciliation
(to US GAAP) requirement that had formerly applied to foreign private registrants; thereaf-
ter, those reporting in a manner fully compliant with IFRS (i.e., without any exceptions to the
complete set of standards imposed by IASB) do not have to reconcile net income and share-
holders’ equity to that which would have been presented under US GAAP. In effect, the US
SEC was acknowledging that IFRS was fully acceptable as a basis for accurate, transparent,
meaningful financial reporting.

This easing of US registration requirements for foreign companies seeking to enjoy the
benefits of listing their equity or debt securities in the US led, quite naturally, to a call by
domestic companies to permit them to also freely choose between financial reporting under
US GAAP and IFRS. By late 2008 the SEC had begun the process of acquiescence, first for
the largest companies in those industries having (worldwide) the preponderance of IFRS
adopters, and later for all publicly held companies. A new SEC chair took office in 2009,
expressing a concern that the move to IFRS, if it were to occur, should perhaps move more
slowly than had previously been indicated. In the authors’ view, however, any revisiting of
the earlier decision to move decisively toward mandatory use of IFRS for public company
financial reporting in the US will create only a minor delay, if any. Simply put, the world-
wide trend to uniform financial reporting standards (for which role the only candidate is
IFRS) is inexorable and will benefit all those seeking to raise capital and all those seeking to
invest.

It had been highly probable that nonpublicly held US entities would have remained
bound to only US GAAP for the foreseeable future, both from habit and because no other set
of standards would be viewed as being acceptable. However, the body that oversees the
private-sector auditing profession’s standards in the US amended its rules in 2008 to fully
recognize IASB as an accounting standard-setting body (giving it equal status with the
FASB), meaning that auditors and other service providers in the US may now opine (or
provide other levels of assurance, as specified under pertinent guidelines) on IFRS-based
financial statements. This change, coupled with the promulgation by IASB of a long-sought
standard providing simplified financial reporting rules for privately held entities (described
later in this chapter), has probably increased the likelihood that a broad-based move to IFRS
will occur in the US within the next several years.

The impetus for the convergence of historically disparate financial reporting standards
has been, in the main, to facilitate the free flow of capital so that, for example, investors in
the United States will become more willing to finance business in, say, China or the Czech
Republic. Having access to financial statements that are written in the same ‘“language”
would eliminate what has historically been a major impediment to engendering investor con-
fidence, which is sometimes referred to as “accounting risk,” which adds to the already ex-
isting risks of making such cross-border investments. Additionally, the permission to list a
company’s equity or debt securities on an exchange has generally been conditioned on mak-
ing filings with national regulatory authorities, which have historically insisted either on con-
formity with local GAAP or on a formal reconciliation to local GAAP. Since either of these
procedures was tedious and time-consuming, and the human resources and technical know-
ledge to do so were not always widely available, many otherwise anxious would-be regi-
strants forwent the opportunity to broaden their investor bases and potentially lower their
costs of capital.
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The authors believe that these difficulties are soon coming to an end, however. The his-
toric 2002 Norwalk Agreement—between the US standard setter, FASB, and the JASB—
called for “convergence” of the respective sets of standards, and indeed a number of revi-
sions of either US GAAP or IFRS have already taken place to implement this commitment,
with more changes expected in the immediate future. These changes are identified in the
following table:

Financial Reporting Topic

Share-based payments

Business combinations

Inventory costs

Exchanges of nonmonetary assets

Accounting changes and corrections
of errors

Fair value option for reporting
financial instruments

Reporting noncontrolling interests in
consolidated financial statements

Subsequent events reporting

Transfers of financial instruments

Special purpose/variable interest en-
tities

Noncurrent assets held for sale and
reporting of discontinued opera-
tions

Reporting segments of the business

Income taxes

Construction period interest

Leases

US GAAP Converged to IFRS

IFRS Converged to US GAAP

FAS 123 adopted aspects of
IFRS 2

FAS 141(R) adopted elements
of IFRS 3

FAS 151 adopted elements of
IAS 2

FAS 153 adopted approach
used by IAS 16

FAS 154 adopted requirements
under IAS 8

FAS 159 adopted option under
IAS 39

FAS 160 converges with IAS
27

FAS 165 brings guidance for-
merly in the auditing litera-
ture into US GAAP require-
ments

FAS 166 converges with IFRS
guidance

FAS 167 converges with IFRS
guidance

Joint project will result in con-
vergence

Revised IFRS 3 adopted aspects
of FAS 141(R)

TAS 27 conforms with FAS 160

IAS 1 requirements had always
included guidance on reporting
of subsequent events

IFRS 5 largely conforms with
FAS 146 under US GAAP

IFRS 8 conforms to FAS 131

Proposal currently outstanding
largely converges on FAS 109
and other US GAAP literature

Revised IAS 23 adopts manda-
tory capitalization per US
GAAP

Currently outstanding Exposure
Draft will result in convergence

Several other convergence projects are still under joint development by IASB and
FASB. The completion date for all these projects has now been set at no later than June
2011. It thus is anticipated that by that date all or virtually all distinctions between US
GAAP and IFRS will be eliminated, even if US GAAP remains an independent set of finan-
cial reporting rules, notwithstanding that there remain challenging issues to be resolved be-
fore full convergence can occur. For one very important example, while IFRS bans the use
of LIFO costing for inventories, it remains a popular financial reporting method under US
GAAP because of a “conformity rule” that permits entities to use the method for tax report-
ing only if it is also used for general-purpose external financial reporting. In times of in-
creasing costs, LIFO almost inevitably results in tax deferrals and is thus widely employed.
US-based companies will be reluctant to fully embrace IFRS if it means that this tax strategy
must be abandoned.
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Origins and Early History of the IASB

Financial reporting in the developed world evolved from two broad models, whose ob-
jectives were somewhat different. The earliest systematized form of accounting regulation
developed in continental Europe, starting in France in 1673. Here a requirement for an an-
nual fair value statement of financial position was introduced by the government as a means
of protecting the economy from bankruptcies. This form of accounting at the initiative of the
state to control economic actors was copied by other states and later incorporated in the 1807
Napoleonic Commercial Code. This method of regulating the economy expanded rapidly
throughout continental Europe, partly through Napoleon’s efforts and partly through a wil-
lingness on the part of European regulators to borrow ideas from each other. This “code
law” family of reporting practices was much developed by Germany after its 1870 unifica-
tion, with the emphasis moving away from market values to historical cost and systematic
depreciation. It was used later by governments as the basis of tax assessment when taxes on
business profits started to be introduced, mostly in the early twentieth century.

This model of accounting serves primarily as a means of moderating relationships be-
tween the individual company and the state. It serves for tax assessment, and to limit divi-
dend payments, and it is also a means of protecting the running of the economy by sanction-
ing individual businesses that are not financially sound or were run imprudently. While the
model has been adapted for stock market reporting and group (consolidated) structures, this
is not its main focus.

The other model did not appear until the nineteenth century and arose as a consequence
of the industrial revolution. Industrialization created the need for large concentrations of
capital to undertake industrial projects (initially, canals and railways) and to spread risks
between many investors. In this model the financial report provided a means of monitoring
the activities of large businesses in order to inform their (nonmanagement) shareholders.
Financial reporting for capital markets purposes developed initially in the UK, in a common-
law environment where the state legislated as little as possible and left a large degree of in-
terpretation to practice and for the sanction of the courts. This approach was rapidly adopted
by the US as it, too, became industrialized. As the US developed the idea of groups of com-
panies controlled from a single head office (towards the end of the nineteenth century), this
philosophy of financial reporting began to become focused on consolidated accounts and the
group, rather than the individual company. For different reasons, neither the UK nor the US
governments saw this reporting framework as appropriate for income tax purposes, and in
this tradition, while the financial reports inform the assessment process, taxation retains a
separate stream of law, which has had little influence on financial reporting.

The second model of financial reporting, generally regarded as the Anglo-Saxon finan-
cial reporting approach, can be characterized as focusing on the relationship between the
business and the investor, and on the flow of information to the capital markets. Government
still uses reporting as a means of regulating economic activity (e.g., the SEC’s mission is to
protect the investor and ensure that the securities markets run efficiently), but the financial
report is aimed at the investor, not the government.

Neither of the two above-described approaches to financial reporting is particularly use-
ful in an agricultural economy, or to one that consists entirely of microbusinesses, in the
opinion of many observers. Nonetheless, as countries have developed economically (or as
they were colonized by industrialized nations) they have adopted variants of one or the other
of these two models.

IFRS are an example of the second, capital market-oriented, systems of financial report-
ing rules. The original international standard setter, the International Accounting Standards
Committee (IASC), was formed in 1973, during a period of considerable change in account-
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ing regulation. In the US the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) had just been
created, in the UK the first national standard setter had recently been organized, the EU was
working on the main plank of its own accounting harmonization plan (the Fourth Directive),
and both the UN and the OECD were shortly to create their own accounting committees.
The IASC was launched in the wake of the 1972 World Accounting Congress (a five-yearly
get-together of the international profession) after an informal meeting between representa-
tives of the British profession (Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales—
ICAEW) and the American profession (American Institute of Certified Public Accountants—
AICPA).

A rapid set of negotiations resulted in the professional bodies of Canada, Australia,
Mexico, Japan, France, Germany, the Netherlands, and New Zealand being invited to join
with the US and UK to form the international body. Due to pressure (coupled with a finan-
cial subsidy) from the UK, the IASC was established in London, where its successor, the
IASB, remains today.

The actual reasons for the IASC’s creation are unclear. A need for a common language
of business was felt, to deal with a growing volume of international business, but other more
political motives abounded also. For example, some believe that the major motivation was
that the British wanted to create an international standard setter to trump the regional initia-
tives within the EU, which leaned heavily to the Code model of reporting, in contrast to what
was the norm in the UK and almost all English-speaking nations.

In the first phase of its existence, the IASC had mixed fortunes. Once the International
Federation of Accountants (IFAC) was formed in 1977 (at the next World Congress of Ac-
countants), the IASC had to fight off attempts to become a part of IFAC. It managed to re-
sist, coming to a compromise where IASC remained independent but all IFAC members
were automatically members of IASC, and IFAC was able to nominate the membership of
the standard-setting Board.

Both the UN and OECD were active in international rule making in the 1970s but the
IASC was successful in persuading them to leave establishment of recognition and measure-
ment rules to the IASC. However, having established itself as the unique international rule
maker, IASC encountered difficulty in persuading any jurisdiction or enforcement agency to
use its rules. Although member professional bodies were theoretically committed to pushing
for the use of IFRS at the national level, in practice few national bodies were influential in
standard setting in their respective countries (because standards were set by taxation or other
governmental bodies), and others (including the US and UK) preferred their national stan-
dards to whatever IASC might propose. In Europe, IFRS were used by some reporting enti-
ties in Italy and Switzerland, and national standard setters in some countries such as Malay-
sia began to use IFRS as an input to their national rules, while not necessarily adopting them
as written by the TASC or giving explicit recognition to the fact that IFRS were being
adopted in part as national GAAP.

IASC’s efforts entered a new phase in 1987, which led directly to its 2001 reorganiza-
tion, when the then-Secretary General, David Cairns, encouraged by the US SEC, negotiated
an agreement with the International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO).
IOSCO was interested in identifying a common international “passport” whereby companies
could be accepted for secondary listing in the jurisdiction of any IOSCO member. The con-
cept was that, whatever the listing rules in a company’s primary stock exchange, there would
be a common minimum package which all stock exchanges would accept from foreign com-
panies seeking a secondary listing. IOSCO was prepared to endorse IFRS as the financial
reporting basis for this passport, provided that the international standards could be brought
up to a quality and comprehensiveness level that IOSCO stipulated.
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Historically, a major criticism of IFRS had been that it essentially endorsed all the ac-
counting methods then in wide use, effectively becoming a “lowest common denominator”
set of standards. The trend in national GAAP had been to narrow the range of acceptable
alternatives, although uniformity in accounting had not been anticipated as a near-term result.
The IOSCO agreement energized IASC to improve the existing standards by removing the
many alternative treatments that were then permitted under the standards, thereby improving
comparability across reporting entities. The IASC launched its Comparability and Improve-
ments Project with the goal of developing a “core set of standards” that would satisfy
IOSCO. These were complete by 1993, not without difficulties and spirited disagreements
among the members, but then—to the great frustration of the IASC—these were not accepted
by IOSCO. Rather than endorsing the standard-setting process of IASC, as was hoped for,
IOSCO seemingly wanted to cherry-pick individual standards. Such a process could not re-
alistically result in near-term endorsement of IFRS for cross-border securities registrations.

Ultimately, the collaboration was relaunched in 1995, with IASC under new leadership,
and this began a further period of frenetic activities, where existing standards were again
reviewed and revised, and new standards were created to fill perceived gaps in IFRS. This
time the set of standards included, among others, IAS 39, on recognition and measurement of
financial instruments, which was endorsed, at the very last moment and with great difficulty,
as a compromise, purportedly interim standard.

At the same time, the IASC had undertaken an effort to consider its future structure. In
part, this was the result of pressure exerted by the US SEC and also by the US private sector
standard setter, the FASB, which were seemingly concerned that IFRS were not being devel-
oped by “due process.” While the various parties may have had their own agendas, in fact
the IFRS were in need of strengthening, particularly as to reducing the range of diverse but
accepted alternatives for similar transactions and events. The challenges presented to IASB
ultimately would serve to make IFRS stronger.

If IASC was to be the standard setter endorsed by the world’s stock exchange regulators,
it would need a structure that reflected that level of responsibility. The historical Anglo-
Saxon standard-setting model—where professional accountants set the rules for them-
selves—had largely been abandoned in the twenty-five years since the IASC was formed,
and standards were mostly being set by dedicated and independent national boards such as
the FASB, and not by profession-dominated bodies like the AICPA. The choice, as restruc-
turing became inevitable, was between a large, representative approach—much like the
existing IASC structure, but possibly where national standard setters appointed representa-
tives—or a small, professional body of experienced standard setters which worked indepen-
dently of national interests.

The end of this phase of the international standard setting, and the resolution of these is-
sues, came about within a short period in 2000. In May of that year, [OSCO members voted
to endorse IASC standards, albeit subject to a number of reservations (see discussion later in
this chapter). This was a considerable step forward for the IASC, which itself was quickly
exceeded by an announcement in June 2000 that the European Commission intended to adopt
IFRS as the requirement for primary listings in all member states. This planned full en-
dorsement by the EU eclipsed the lukewarm IOSCO approval, and since then the EU has
appeared to be the more influential body insofar as gaining acceptance for IFRS has been
concerned. Indeed, the once-important IOSCO endorsement has become of little importance
given subsequent developments, including the EU mandate and convergence efforts among
several standard-setting bodies.

In July 2000, IASC members voted to abandon the organization’s former structure,
which was based on professional bodies, and adopt a new structure: beginning in 2001,
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standards would be set by a professional board, financed by voluntary contributions raised by
a new oversight body.

The Current Structure

The formal structure put in place in 2000 has the IASC Foundation, a Delaware corpora-
tion, as its keystone. The Trustees of the IASC Foundation have both the responsibility to
raise the $19 million a year currently needed to finance standard setting, and the responsibil-
ity of appointing members to the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), the
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and the Standards
Adpvisory Council (SAC).

The Standards Advisory Council (SAC) meets with the IASB three times a year, gener-
ally for two days. The SAC consists of about 50 members, nominated in their personal (not
organizational) capacity, but are usually supported by organizations that have an interest in
international reporting. Members currently include analysts, corporate executives, auditors,
standard setters, and stock exchange regulators. The members are supposed to serve as a
channel for communication between the IASB and its wider group of constituents, to suggest
topics for the IASB’s agenda, and to discuss IASB proposals.

Trustees of the
TASC Foundation

v

International Accounting

Standard Board \

Standard Setters
Standards Advisory Liaison

—» .
Committee

International Financial Reporting
e Interpretations Committee
(Standards Interpretations Committee)

The International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) is a committee
comprised mostly of technical partners in audit firms but also includes preparers and users.
It succeeded the Standards Interpretations Committee (SIC), which had been created by the
IASC. IFRIC’s function is to answer technical queries from constituents about how to in-
terpret IFRS—in effect, filling in the cracks between different rules. In recent times it has
also proposed modifications to standards to the IASB, in response to perceived operational
difficulties or need to improve consistency. IFRIC liaises with the US Emerging Issues Task
Force and similar bodies liaison as standard setters, to try at preserve convergence at the
level of interpretation. It is also establishing relations with stock exchange regulators, who
may be involved in making decisions about the acceptability of accounting practices, which
will have the effect of interpreting IFRS.

The liaison standard setters are national bodies from Australia, Canada, France, Ger-
many, UK, USA, and Japan. Each of these bodies has a special relationship with a Board
member, who normally maintains an office with the national standard setter and is responsi-
ble for liaison between the international body and the national body. This, together with the
SAC, was the solution arrived at by the old IASC in an attempt to preserve some degree of
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geographical representation. However, this has been somewhat overtaken by events: as far
as the EU is concerned, its interaction with the IASB is through EFRAG (see below), which
has no formal liaison member of the Board. The IASB Deputy Chairman has performed this
function, but while France, Germany and the UK individually have liaison, EFRAG and the
European Commission are, so far, outside this structure.

Furthermore, there are many national standard setters, particularly from developing
countries, that have no seat on the SAC, and therefore have no direct link with the IASB,
despite the fact that many of them seek to reflect IASB standards in their national standards.
At the 2002 World Congress in Hong Kong, the IASB held an open meeting for national
standard setters, which was met with enthusiasm. As a result, IASB began to provide time
concurrent with formal liaison standard setters’ meetings for any other interested standard
setters to attend. While this practice was not enshrined in either the Constitution or the
IASB’s operating procedures, both remain under active review as of late 2009.

Process of IFRS Standard Setting

The IASB has a formal due process which is set out in the Preface to IFRS, revised in
2001. At a minimum, a proposed standard should be exposed for comment, and these com-
ments should be reviewed before issuance of a final standard, with debates open to the pub-
lic. However, this formal process is rounded out in practice, with wider consultation taking
place on an informal basis.

The IASB’s agenda is determined in various ways. Suggestions are made by the Trust-
ees, the SAC, liaison standard setters, the international audit firms and others. These are
debated by IASB and tentative conclusions are discussed with the various consultative bod-
ies. The IASB also has a joint agenda committee with the FASB. Long-range projects are
first put on the research agenda, which means that preliminary work is being done on col-
lecting information about the problem and potential solutions. Projects can also arrive on the
current agenda outside that route.

The agenda was largely driven in the years immediately after 2001 by the need to round
out the legacy standards, to ensure that there would be a full range of standards for European
companies moving to IFRS in 2005. Also, it was recognized that there was an urgent need to
effect modifications to many standards in the name of convergence (e.g., acquisition ac-
counting and goodwill) and to make needed improvements to other existing standards. These
needs were largely met by mid-2004.

Once a project reaches the current agenda, the formal process is that the staff (a group of
about 20 technical staff permanently employed by the IASB) drafts papers which are then
discussed by IASB in open meetings. Following that debate, the staff rewrites the paper, or
writes a new paper which is then debated at a subsequent meeting. In theory there is an in-
ternal process where the staff proposes solutions, and IASB either accepts or rejects them. In
practice the process is more involved: sometimes (especially for projects such as financial
instruments) individual Board members are delegated special responsibility for the project,
and they discuss the problems regularly with the relevant staff, helping to build the papers
that come to the Board. Equally, Board members may write or speak directly to the staff
outside of the formal meeting process to indicate concerns about one thing or another.

The process usually involves: (1) discussion of a paper outlining the principal issues; (2)
preparation of an Exposure Draft that incorporates the tentative decisions taken by the
Board—during which process many of these are redebated, sometimes several times; (3)
publication of the Exposure Draft; (4) analysis of comments received on the Exposure Draft;
(5) debate and issue of the final standard, accompanied by application guidance and a docu-
ment setting out the Basis for Conclusions (the reasons why IASB rejected some solutions
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and preferred others). Final ballots on the Exposure Draft and the final standard are carried
out in secret, but otherwise the process is quite open, with outsiders able to consult project
summaries on the IASB Web site and attend Board meetings if they wish. Of course, the
informal exchanges between staff and Board on a day-to-day basis are not visible to the pub-
lic, nor are the meetings where IASB takes strategic and administrative decisions.

The basic due process can be modified in different circumstances. If the project is con-
troversial or particularly difficult, IASB may issue a discussion paper before proceeding to
Exposure Draft stage. It reissued a discussion paper on stock options before proceeding to
IFRS 2, Share-Based Payment. It is also following this pattern with its financial statement
presentation project and its project on standards for small and medium-sized entities. Such a
discussion paper may just set out what the staff considers to be the issues, or it may do that
as well as indicate the Board’s preliminary views.

IASB may also hold some form of public consultation during the process. For example,
when revising IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, in 2003, IASB
held round table discussions. Respondents to the Exposure Draft were invited to participate
in small groups with Board members where they could put forward their views and engage in
debate.

Apart from these formal consultative processes, IASB also carries out field trials of
some standards (as it recently did on performance reporting and insurance), where volunteer
preparers apply proposed new standards. The international audit firms receive IASB papers
as a result of their membership on IFRIC and are also invited to comment informally at vari-
ous stages of standard development.

Constraints

The debate within IASB demonstrates the existence of certain pervasive constraints that
will influence the decisions taken by it. A prime concern has, heretofore, been achieving
convergence. In October 2002, the IASB signed an agreement with the FASB (the so-called
Norwalk Agreement) stating that the two boards would seek to remove differences and con-
verge on high-quality standards. This agreement set in motion short-term adjustments and
both standard setters subsequently issued a number of Exposure Drafts and final standards
changing their respective standards in order to converge with the other on certain issues. The
agreement also involved a commitment to the long-term development of joint projects (busi-
ness combinations, performance reporting, revenue recognition, etc.).

The desire for convergence was driven to a great extent by the perception that interna-
tional investment is made riskier by the use of multiple reporting frameworks, and that the
global capital market would benefit from the imposition of a single global reporting basis—
but also specifically by the knowledge that European companies that wished to be listed in
the US needed to provide reconciliations of their equity and earnings to US GAAP when
they did this. Foreign companies registered with the SEC are required to prepare an annual
filing on Form 20-F that, until late 2007—unless the reporting entity prepared its financial
statements under US GAAP—required a reconciliation between the entity’s IFRS or national
GAAP and US GAAP for earnings and equity. This reconciliation was said to be costly to
prepare, and resulted in companies reporting, in effect, two different operating results for the
year, which was not always understood or appreciated by the capital markets. As of year-end
2007, this requirement was eliminated, provided that the foreign private issuers (i.e., SEC
registrants) complied fully with IFRS. Note that IFRS as adopted by the European Union
contains departures from IFRS as promulgated by the IASB, and thus reconciliation has not
been (thus far, at least) waived.



10 Wiley IFRS 2010

A major concern for financial reporting is that of consistency, but this is a complex mat-
ter, since IASB has something of a hierarchy of consistency. As a paramount consideration,
IASB would want a new standard to be consistent with its Conceptual Framework (currently
under development, and discussed below). Thereafter, there may be conflicts both between
being consistent with US GAAP and being consistent with preexisting IFRS. However, there
is little or no desire to maintain consistency with standards marked for extinction or in clear
need of major revision. For example, IASB believes that a number of extant standards are
inconsistent with the Framework (e.g., IAS 20 on government grants), and need to be
changed, or are ineffective or obsolete (e.g., IAS 17 on leases), so there is little purpose in
seeking to make a new standard consistent with them. Equally, since it aims to converge
with US GAAP, it seems illogical to adopt a solution that is deliberately at variance with US
GAAP, which will then have to be reconsidered as part of the convergence program. (Note
that the convergence effort is expected, at least in the near term, to continue, notwithstanding
the elimination of the SEC’s reconciliation requirement and the prospective replacement of
US GAAP for public company financial reporting by IFRS. Both parties continue to work
on projects having completion dates no later than mid-2011.)

Those members of IASB who have worked in North America are concerned that stan-
dards avoid creating abuse opportunities. Experience has sadly shown that there may well be
attempts by preparers to evade the intended result of accounting standards, using so-called
“financial engineering,” in order to be able to achieve the earnings or presentations in the
statement of financial position that are desired, particularly in the short term (e.g., quarterly
earnings). This concern is sometimes manifested as a desire to impose uniform and inflexi-
ble standards, allowing few or no exceptions. There is a justifiable perception that many
standards become very complicated because they contain too many exceptions to a simple
and basic rule (for example: eliminate complex lease accounting requirements and simply
report the property rights and debt obligations implicit in all lease arrangements).

IASB also manifests some concerns about the practicality of the solutions it mandates.
While some preparers might think that it is not sympathetic enough in this regard, it actually
has limited the extent to which it requires restatements of previous years’ reported results
when the rules change, particularly in IFRS 1, First-Time Adoption. The Framework does
include a cost/benefit constraint—that the costs of the financial reporting should not be
greater than the benefits to be gained from the information—which is often invoked during
debates over proposed standards, although IASB considers that preparers are not the best
ones to measure the benefits of disclosure.

There is also a procedural constraint that IASB has to manage, which is the relationship
between the Exposure Draft and the final standard. IASB’s due process requires that there
should be nothing introduced in the final standard that was not exposed at the Exposure Draft
stage, as otherwise there must be reexposure of the material. This means that where there are
several solutions possible, or where a line can be drawn in several places, IASB may tend
towards the most extreme position in the Exposure Draft, so as not to narrow its choices
when further deliberating the proposal in the light of constituents’ comments.

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

The TASB inherited the IASC’s Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Fi-
nancial Statements (the Framework). Like the other current conceptual frameworks among
Anglo-Saxon standard setters, this derives from the US conceptual framework, or at least
those parts of it completed in the 1970s. The Framework states that “the objective of finan-
cial statements is to provide information about the financial position, performance and
changes in financial position of an entity that is useful to a wide range of users in making
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economic decisions.” The information needs of investors are deemed to be of paramount
concern, but if financial statements meet their needs, other users’ needs would generally also
be satisfied.

The Framework holds that users need to evaluate the ability of the entity to generate
cash and the timing and certainty of its generation. The financial position is affected by the
economic resources controlled by the entity, its financial structure, its liquidity and solvency,
and its capacity to adapt to changes in the environment in which it operates.

The qualitative characteristics of financial statements are understandability, relevance,
reliability and comparability. Reliability comprises representational faithfulness, substance
over form, completeness, neutrality and prudence. It suggests that these are subject to a
cost/benefit constraint and that in practice there will often be a trade-off between character-
istics. The Framework does not specifically include a “true and fair” requirement, but says
that application of the specified qualitative characteristics should result in statements that
present fairly or are true and fair. IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, as revised in
2007, states that financial statements are “a structured representation of the financial position
and financial performance of an entity...(whose) objective...is to provide information about
the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity that is useful to a
wide range of users in making economic decisions.” It further states that “fair presentation
requires faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other events and conditions in
accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria...set out in the Framework.... The
application of IFRS, with additional disclosure when necessary, is presumed to result in fi-
nancial statements that achieve a fair presentation.”

Of great importance are the definitions of assets and liabilities. According to IASB, “an
asset is a resource controlled by the entity as a result of past events and from which future
economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity.” A liability is a “present obligation of
the entity arising from past events, the settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow
from the entity of resources embodying future benefits.” Equity is simply a residual arrived
at by deducting the liabilities from assets. Neither an asset nor a liability is recognized in the
financial statements unless it has a cost or value that can be measured reliably—which, as the
Framework acknowledges, means that some assets and liabilities may, of necessity, go unre-
cognized.

The asset and liability definitions have, in the past, not been central to financial report-
ing standards, many of which were instead guided by a “performance” view of the financial
statements. For example, IAS 20 on government grants has been severely criticized and tar-
geted for either revision or elimination, in part because it allows government grants to be
treated as a deferred credit and amortized to earnings, while a deferred credit does not meet
the Framework definition of a liability. Similarly, IFRS 3 requires that where a bargain pur-
chase is identified in a business combination, a gain on a bargain purchase (commonly re-
ferred to as negative goodwill) should be released to profit or loss immediately, in contrast to
practice under IAS 22 which treated it as a deferred credit—an account that, however, did
not actually meet the defined criteria for recognition as a liability.

Accounting standards are now largely driven by statement of financial position consid-
erations. Both FASB and IASB now intend to analyze solutions to reporting issues in terms
of whether they cause any changes in assets or liabilities. The revenue recognition project
that both bodies are pursuing is perhaps the ultimate example of this new and rigorous per-
spective. This project has tentatively embraced the view that where an entity receives an or-
der and has a legally enforceable contract to supply goods or services, the entity has both an
asset (the right to receive future revenue) and a liability (the obligation to fulfill the order)
and it follows that, depending upon the measurement of the asset and the liability, some earn-
ings could be recognized at that point. This would be a sharp departure from existing GAAP,
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under which executory contracts (i.e., contracts upon which neither party has yet performed)
are almost never formally recognized, and never create earnings.

The IASB Framework is relatively silent on measurement issues. The three paragraphs
that address this matter merely mention that several different measurement bases are avail-
able and that historical cost is the most common. Revaluation of tangible fixed assets is, for
example, perfectly acceptable under IFRS for the moment. In practice IFRS have a mixed
attribute model, based mainly in historical cost, but using value in use (the present value of
expected future cash flows from the use of the asset within the entity) for impairment and fair
value (market value) for some financial instruments, biological assets, business combinations
and investment properties.

FASB and IASB have been, since 2005, revisiting their respective conceptual frame-
works, the objective of which is to build on them by refining and updating them and devel-
oping them into a common framework that both can use in developing accounting standards.
With concurrent IASB and FASB deliberations and a single integrated staff team, this is truly
an international project. IASB believes that it has made good progress on the first phase of
the project. Most of the debate for the first year or so focused on the objectives of financial
reporting and the qualitative characteristics of decision-useful financial reporting informa-
tion, and a joint Discussion Paper on these matters was issued in late 2006. This was fol-
lowed, in May 2008, by Exposure Drafts of the first two (of eight) chapters for the proposed
new conceptual framework. The first two chapters deal with, respectively, the objective of
financial reporting and the qualitative characteristics of decision-useful financial reporting
information.

Regarding the objective of financial reporting, the Exposure Draft proposes the follow-
ing definition:

The objective of general purpose financial reporting is to provide financial information
about the reporting entity that is useful to present and potential equity investors, lenders and
other creditors in making decisions in their capacity as capital providers. Capital providers
are the primary users of financial reporting. To accomplish the objective, financial reports
should communicate information about an entity’s economic resources, claims on those re-
sources, and the transactions and other events and circumstances that change them. The de-
gree to which that financial information is useful will depend on its qualitative characteris-
tics.

As with the existing FASB Conceptual Framework, this definition of the objective for
financial reporting has a wider scope than financial statements, per se. It actually sets forth
the objective of financial reporting in general, including a range of possible narrative and
other presentations that would accompany and amplify the financial statements.

Financial reporting is aimed primarily at capital providers. That does not mean that oth-
ers, such as management, will not find financial reports useful, but rather that, in deciding on
the principles for recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure, the information
needs of capital providers are to be given paramount consideration.

The draft holds that decision usefulness to capital providers is the overriding purpose of
financial reporting. Providing information about management stewardship of the assets en-
trusted to it is an important part of that objective, however. The language of the Exposure
Draft cites present and potential investors as its means of acknowledging that general pur-
pose financial reports are used both for future investment decisions as well as assessing the
stewardship of resources already committed to the entity.

The draft identifies equity investors, lenders and other creditors (including suppliers,
employees and customers) as capital providers, which are those whose information needs are
to be met through general purpose financial reports. Governments, their agencies, regulatory
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bodies, and members of the public are identified as groups that may find the information in
general purpose financial reports useful, but these are not defined as being primary users.

The Exposure Draft continues with the current philosophy that financial reporting should
provide information that enables capital providers to assess the entity’s ability to generate net
cash inflows, coupled with an ability to assess management’s ability to protect and enhance
the capital providers’ investments.

The stewardship responsibilities of management are addressed explicitly by the draft
document, which notes that management “is accountable to the entity’s capital providers for
the custody and safekeeping of the entity’s economic resources and for their efficient and
profitable use” and that the entity complies with applicable laws, regulations and contractual
requirements. The ability of management to discharge these responsibilities effectively has
an obvious impact on the entity’s ability to generate future net cash inflows, suggesting that
potential investors are also assessing management performance as they make their invest-
ment decisions.

IASB and FASB both note that users of financial reports should be aware of the limita-
tions of the information included in financial reports—specifically because the information is
heavily based on estimates, rather than exact measures, and thus involve the application of
judgment. Also, users are cautioned to recognize that financial reports are only one source,
of potentially many, of information needed by those making investment, credit and similar
resource allocation decisions. Thus, other sources of relevant information must also be con-
sulted, for insights about general economic conditions, political events and industry outlooks,
among possibly many other topics.

The draft holds that information about the effects of transactions and other events that
change assets and liabilities is also essential. Financial reporting must also include manage-
ment’s explanations (an example being the management discussion and analysis required
under SEC filings in the US), since management knows more about the entity than could any
external users. Such explanations, properly constructed and communicated, should provide
insight into significant estimates and assumptions used by management.

Chapter two of the proposed new conceptual framework document, which has also been
exposed for comment, addresses the qualitative characteristics and constraints of decision-
useful financial reporting information. IASB and FASB have refined the approach first seen
in the earlier (2006) Discussion Paper, such that there are now two fundamental qualitative
characteristics:

¢ Relevance, and
* Faithful representation.

In addition, there are certain characteristics that are said to enhance the decision-
usefulness of financial information. These are complementary to the fundamental qualitative
characteristics and are: comparability (including consistency), verifiability, timeliness and
understandability. These are defined as follows by the Exposure Draft:

Relevant information is that which has predictive value, confirmatory value or both; in other
words it is capable of influencing the decisions of capital providers. The users do not need to use
such information, but merely have to be given access to it.

Faithful representation implies that decision-useful financial information represents faith-
fully the economic phenomenon (those affecting financial position and results of operations) that it
purports to represent.

The enhancing qualitative characteristics are said to help users to distinguish more useful in-
formation from less useful information.

Timeliness means that the information is provided when it is still highly useful for decision-
making purposes.
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Comparability refers to the ability to identify similarities in—and differences between—two
sets of economic phenomena. It is not to be confused with uniformity, which still does not exist
under either US GAAP or IFRS (although the range of alternatives has narrowed over recent dec-
ades). Consistency (the use of the same accounting policies and procedures within an entity from
period to period, or in a single period across entities) aids comparability.

Verifiability helps to assure users that information represents faithfully the economic phe-
nomena that it purports to represent. It implies that knowledgeable and independent observers
could reach a general consensus (but not necessarily absolute agreement) that the information does
represent faithfully the economic phenomena it purports to represent without material error or
bias, or that an appropriate recognition or measurement method has been applied without material
error or bias. It means that independent observations would yield essentially the same measure or
conclusions.

Understandability enables users who have a reasonable knowledge of business and eco-
nomic and financial activities and financial reporting, and who apply reasonable diligence to com-
prehend the information, to gain insights into the reporting entity’s financial position and results of
operations, as intended. Understandability is enhanced when the information is classified, char-
acterized and presented clearly and concisely. The draft asserts that relevant information should
not be excluded solely because it may be too complex or difficult for some users to understand.

The Basis for Conclusions accompanying the Exposure Draft lists additional candidate
attributes that were considered by the Boards, but not included in the proposals. These in-
clude transparency (which was concluded was subsumed within faithful representation and
understandability); true and fair view (deemed to be equivalent to faithful representation);
credibility (which is implied by verifiability); and high quality (which generally is achieved
by adherence to the objective and qualitative characteristics of financial reporting). One
other candidate, internal consistency, was rejected because IASB and FASB concluded that
this, while desirable and a goal of both bodies, could impede the evolution of financial re-
porting standards.

Two pervasive constraints may also limit the information provided in useful financial
reports:

* Materiality, and
¢ Cost

Regarding materiality, which has long been invoked but often not defined in terms pre-
cise enough for users and preparers, information is to be deemed material if its omission or
misstatement could influence the decisions that users make on the basis of an entity’s finan-
cial information. Materiality is not a matter to be considered by standard-setters but by pre-
parers and their auditors. That is, financial reporting requirements will be promulgated with-
out regard to materiality criteria, but actual adherence to such rules may be omitted when the
effect of doing so would not be material to the users.

As concerns the cost-benefit criterion, it has been stated that the benefits of providing fi-
nancial reporting information should justify the costs of providing that information. Presum-
ably this will constrain the imposition of certain new requirements, although this is a relative
concept, and as information technology continues to evolve and the cost of preparing and
distributing financial and other information declines, this constraint conceivably will be re-
laxed as well.

Discussion has since moved on to the elements of financial statements, in particular the
definitions of an asset, a liability, and equity, and on what constitutes the reporting entity. A
discussion paper on this segment of the conceptual framework is now being promised for the
latter part of 2010, and the timing of a subsequent issuance of an Exposure Draft is uncertain.

Other components of the conceptual framework project, which will address measure-
ment, the reporting entity, presentation, and disclosure, purpose and status, and application to
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not-for-profit entities, will follow, but the timing for most of these is still uncertain, although
an Exposure Draft for the reporting entity is hoped for by mid-2010. Elements and presenta-
tion and disclosure are the most active projects and may result in Discussion Papers, at a
minimum before year-end 2009.

Hierarchy of Standards

The Framework is used by IASB members and staff in their debate, and they expect that
those commenting on Exposure Drafts will articulate their arguments in terms of the Frame-
work. However, the Framework is not normally intended to be used directly by preparers
and auditors in determining their accounting methods. In its 2003 revision of IAS 8, IASB
introduced a hierarchy of accounting rules that should be followed by preparers in seeking
solutions to accounting problems. This hierarchy says that the most authoritative guidance is
IFRS, and the preparer should seek guidance as follows:

1. TAS/IFRS and SIC/IFRIC Interpretations, when these specifically apply to a
transaction or condition.

2. In the absence of such a directly applicable standard, judgment is to be used to de-
velop and apply an accounting policy that conforms to the definitions, recognition
criteria, and measurement concepts for assets, liabilities, income, and expense set
forth in the Framework.

3. If this is not possible, the preparer should then look to recent pronouncements of
other standard setters which use a similar conceptual framework to develop its stan-
dards, as well as other accounting literature and industry practices that do not con-
flict with guidance in the IFRS dealing with the same and similar circumstances or
with the definitions set forth in the Framework.

In effect, therefore, if existing IFRS do not address an accounting issue, the preparer
should consider guidance in analogous national GAAP. In the authors’ view, the most ob-
vious choice is US GAAP, partly because that is the most complete set of standards, and
partly because in the global capital market, US GAAP is the alternative best understood and
most widely applied (after IFRS itself). In any event, given the professed intention of IFRS
and US GAAP to converge, it would make little sense to seek guidance in any other set of
standards, unless US GAAP was also silent on the matter needing clarification. Users should
be cautious in relying on any standards not part of IFRS, however.

The IASB and Financial Reporting in the US

Although TASC and FASB were created almost contemporaneously, FASB largely ig-
nored TASB until the 1990s. It was only then that FASB became interested in IASC, when
IASC was beginning to work with IOSCO, a body in which the SEC has always had a
powerful voice. In effect, both the SEC and FASB were starting to consider the international
financial reporting area, and IASC was also starting to take initiatives to encourage standard
setters to meet together occasionally to debate technical issues of common interest.

IOSCQO’s efforts to create a single passport for secondary listings, and IASC’s role as its
standard setter, while intended to operate worldwide, would have the greatest practical signi-
ficance for foreign issuers in terms of the US market. It was understood that if the SEC were
to accept IFRS in place of US GAAP, there would be no need for a Form 20-F reconciliation,
and access to the US capital markets by foreign registrants would be greatly facilitated. The
SEC has therefore been a key factor in the later evolution of IASC. It encouraged IASC to
build a relationship with IOSCO in 1987, and also observed that too many options for di-
verse accounting were available under IAS. SEC suggested that it would be more favorably
inclined to consider acceptance of IAS (now IFRS) if some or all of these alternatives were
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reduced. Shortly after IASC restarted its IOSCO work in 1995, the SEC issued a statement
(April 1996) to the effect that, to be acceptable, IFRS would need to satisfy the following
three criteria:

1. It would need to establish a core set of standards that constituted a comprehensive
basis of accounting;

2. The standards would need to be of high quality, and would enable investors to ana-
lyze performance meaningfully both across time periods and among different com-
panies; and

3. The standards would have to be rigorously interpreted and applied, as otherwise
comparability and transparency could not be achieved.

IASC’s plan was predicated on its completion of a core set of standards, which would
then be handed over to IOSCO, which in turn would ask its members for an evaluation, after
which IOSCO would issue its verdict as to acceptability. It was against this backdrop that
the SEC issued a “concept release” in 2000, that solicited comments regarding the accept-
ability of the core set of standards, and whether there appeared to be a sufficiently robust
compliance and enforcement mechanism to ensure that standards were consistently and rig-
orously applied by preparers, whether auditors would ensure this, and whether stock ex-
change regulators would verify such compliance.

This last-named element remains beyond the control of IASB, and is within the domain
of national compliance bodies or professional organizations in each jurisdiction. The IASC’s
Standards Interpretations Committee (SIC, which was later succeeded by IFRIC) was formed
to help ensure uniform interpretation, and IFRIC has taken a number of initiatives to estab-
lish liaison channels with stock exchange regulators and national interpretations bodies—but
the predominant responsibilities remain in the hands of the auditors, the audit oversight bod-
ies, and the stock exchange oversight bodies.

The SEC’s stance at the time was that it genuinely wanted to see IFRS used by foreign
registrants, but that it preferred convergence (so that no reconciliation would be necessary)
over the acceptance of IFRS as they were in 2000 without reconciliation. In the years since,
the SEC has in many public pronouncements supported convergence and, as promised,
waived reconciliations in 2008 for registrants fully complying with IFRS. Thus, for exam-
ple, the SEC welcomed various proposed changes to US GAAP to converge with IFRS.

Relations between FASB and IASB have grown warmer since IASB was restructured,
perhaps influenced by the growing awareness that IASB would assume a commanding posi-
tion in the financial reporting standard-setting domain. The FASB had joined the IASB for
informal meetings as long ago as the early 1990s, culminating in the creation of the G4+1
group of Anglophone standard setters (US, UK, Canada, Australia and New Zealand, with
the TASC as an observer), in which FASB was an active participant. Perhaps the most
significant event was when IASB and FASB signed the Norwalk Agreement in October
2002, which set out a program for the convergence of their respective sets of financial re-
porting standards. The organizations’ staffs have worked together on a number of vital
projects, including business combinations and revenue recognition, since the Agreement was
signed and, later, supplemented by the 2006 Memorandum of Understanding between these
bodies. The two boards have a joint agenda committee whose aim is to harmonize the timing
with which the boards discuss the same subjects. The boards are also committed to meeting
twice a year in joint session.

However, certain problems remain, largely of the structural variety. FASB operates
within a specific national legal framework, while IASB does not. Equally, both have what
they term “inherited” GAAP (i.e., differences in approach that have a long history and are
not easily resolved). FASB also has a tradition of issuing very detailed, prescriptive (“rules-
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based*) standards that give bright line accounting (and, consequently, audit) guidance, which
are intended to make compliance control easier and remove uncertainties. Notwithstanding
that detailed rules had been ardently sought by preparers and auditors alike for many dec-
ades, in the post-Enron world, after it became clear that some of these highly prescriptive
rules had been abused, interest turned toward developing standards that would rely more on
the expression of broad financial reporting objectives, with far less detailed instruction on
how to achieve them (“principles-based” standards). This was seen as being superior to the
US GAAP approach, which mandated an inevitably doomed effort to prescribe responses to
every conceivable fact pattern to be confronted by preparers and auditors.

This exaggerated rules-based vs. principles-based dichotomy was invoked particularly
following the frauds at US-based companies WorldCom and Enron, but before some of the
more prominent European frauds, such as Parmalat (Italy) and Royal Ahold (the Nether-
lands) came to light, which would suggest that neither the use of US GAAP nor IFRS could
protect against the perpetration of financial reporting frauds if auditors were derelict in the
performance of their duties or even, on rare occasions, complicit in managements frauds. As
an SEC study (which had been mandated by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) into
principles-based standards later observed, use of principles alone, without detailed guidance,
reduces comparability. The litigious environment in the US also makes companies and
auditors reluctant to step into areas where judgments have to be taken in uncertain condi-
tions. The SEC’s solution: “objectives-based” standards that are both soundly based on prin-
ciples and inclusive of practical guidance.

Events in the mid- to late-2000s have served to accelerate the pressure for full conver-
gence between US GAAP and IFRS. In fact, the US SEC’s decision in late 2007 to waive
reconciliation requirements for foreign registrants complying with “full IFRS” was a clear
indicator that the outright adoption of IFRS in the US is on the horizon, and that the conver-
gence process may be made essentially redundant if not actually irrelevant. The SEC has
since granted qualifying US registrants (major players in industry segments, the majority of
whose world-wide participants already report under IFRS) the limited right to begin report-
ing under IFRS in 2009, after which (in 2011) it has indicated it will determine the future
path toward the supercession of US GAAP by IFRS.

In late 2008, the SEC proposed its so-called “roadmap” for a phased-in IFRS adoption,
setting forth four milestones that, if met, could lead to wide-scale adoption beginning in
2014. Under the new leadership, which assumed office in 2009, the SEC may act with less
urgency on this issue, and achievement of the “milestones”—which include a number of
subjective measures such as improvement in standards and level of IFRS training and aware-
ness among US accountants and auditors—Ileaves room for later balking at making the final
commitment to IFRS. Notwithstanding these possible impediments to progress, the authors
believe that there is an inexorable move toward universal adoption of IFRS, and that the
leading academic and public accounting (auditing) organizations must, and will, take the
necessary steps to ensure that this can move forward. For example, in the US the principal
organization of academicians is actively working on standards for IFRS-based accounting
curricula, and the main organization representing independent accountants is producing
Web-based materials and live conferences to educate practitioners about IFRS matters.

While the anticipated further actions by the US SEC will only directly promote or re-
quire IFRS adoption by multinational and other larger, publicly held business entities, and
later by even small, publicly held companies, in the longer run, even medium- and smaller-
sized entities will probably opt for IFRS-based financial reporting. There are several reasons
to predict this “trickle down” effect. First, because some involvement in international trade
is increasingly a characteristic of all business operations, the need to communicate with cus-
tomers, creditors, and potential partners or investors will serve to motivate “one language”
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financial reporting. Second, the notion of reporting under “second-class GAAP” rather than
under the standards employed by larger competitors will eventually prove to be unappealing.
And thirdly, IASB’s issuance of a one-document comprehensive standard on financial re-
porting by entities having no public reporting responsibilities (IFRS for SMEs, discussed
later in this chapter), coupled with formal recognition under US auditing standards that fi-
nancial reporting rules established by IASB are a basis for an expression of an auditor’s pro-
fessional opinion may actually find enthusiastic support among smaller US reporting entities
and their professional services providers, even absent immediate adoptions among publicly
held companies.

The IASB and Europe

Although France, Germany, the Netherlands and the UK were founding members of
predecessor organization IASC and have remained heavily involved with IASB, the Euro-
pean Commission as such has generally had a fitful relationship with the international stan-
dard setter. The EC did not participate in any way until 1990, when it finally became an ob-
server at Board meetings. It had had its own regional program of harmonization since the
1960s and in effect only officially abandoned this in 1995, when, in a policy paper, it rec-
ommended to member states that they seek to align their rules for consolidated financial
statements on IFRS. Notwithstanding this, the Commission gave IASB a great boost when
it announced in June 2000 that it wanted to require all listed companies throughout the EU to
use IFRS beginning in 2005 as part of its initiative to build a single European financial mar-
ket. This intention was made concrete with the approval of the IFRS Regulation in June
2002 by the European Council of Ministers (the supreme EU decision-making authority).

The EU decision was all the more welcome given that, to be effective in legal terms,
IFRS have to be enshrined in EU statute law, creating a situation where the EU is in effect
ratifying as laws the set of rules created by a small, self-appointed, private-sector body. This
proved to be a delicate situation, which was revealed within a very short time to contain the
seeds of unending disagreements, as politicians were being asked in effect to endorse
something over which they had no control. They were soon being lobbied by corporate in-
terests that had failed to effectively influence IASB directly, in order to achieve their objec-
tives, which in some cases involved continued lack of transparency regarding certain types of
transactions or economic effects, such as fair value changes affecting holding of financial
instruments. The process of obtaining EU endorsement of IFRS was at the cost of exposing
IASB to political pressures in much the same way that the US FASB has at times been the
target of congressional manipulations (e.g., over stock-based compensation accounting rules
in the mid-1990s, the derailing of which arguably contributed to the practices that led to
various backdating abuse allegations made in more recent years).

The EU created an elaborate machinery to mediate its relations with IASB. It preferred
to work with another private-sector body, created for the purpose, the European Financial
Reporting Advisory Group (EFRAG), as the formal conduit for EU inputs to IASB. EFRAG
was formed in 2001 by a collection of European representative organizations (for details see
www.efrag.org), including the European Accounting Federation (FEE) and a European em-
ployer organization (UNICE). EFRAG in turn formed the small Technical Expert Group
(TEG) that does the detailed work on IASB proposals. EFRAG consults widely within the
EU, and particularly with national standard setters and the European Commission to canvass
views on IASB proposals, and provides input to IASB. It responds formally to all discussion
papers and Exposure Drafts.

At a second stage, when a final standard is issued, EFRAG is asked by the Commission
to provide a report on the standard. This report is to state whether the standard has the requi-
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site quality and is in conformity with European company law directives. The European
Commission then asks another entity, the Accounting Regulation Committee (ARC),
whether it wishes to endorse the standard. ARC consists of permanent representatives of the
EU member state governments. It should normally only fail to endorse IFRS if it believes
they are not in conformity with the overall framework of EU law, and should not take a stra-
tegic or policy view. However, the European Parliament also has the right to independently
comment, if it so wishes. If ARC fails to endorse a standard, the European Commission may
still ask the Council of Ministers to override that decision.

Experience has shown that the system suffers from a number of problems. First, al-
though EFRAG is intended to enhance EU inputs to IASB, it may in fact isolate people from
IASB, or at least increase the costs of making representations. For example, when IASB
revealed its intention to issue a standard on stock options, it received nearly a hundred com-
ment letters from US companies (who report under US GAAP, not IFRS), but only one from
EFRAG, which in the early 2000s effectively represented about 90% of IASB’s constituents.
It is possible, however, that EFRAG is seen at IASB as being only a single respondent, and if
so, that people who have made the effort to work through EFRAG feel underrepresented. In
addition, EFRAG inevitably will present a distillation of views, so it is already filtering re-
spondents’ views before they even reach IASB. The only recourse is for respondents to
make representations not only to EFRAG but also directly to IASB.

However, resistance to the financial instruments standards, IAS 32 and IAS 39, put the
system under specific strain. These standards were already in existence when the European
Commission announced its decision to adopt IFRS for European listed companies, and they
had each been exhaustively debated before enactment. European adoption again exposed
these particular standards to strenuous debate.

The first task of EFRAG and ARC was to endorse the existing standards of IASB. They
did this—but excluded IAS 32 and 39 on the grounds that they were being extensively re-
vised as part of IASB’s then-ongoing Improvements Project.

During the exposure period of the improvements proposals—which exceptionally in-
cluded round table meetings with constituents—the European Banking Federation, under
particular pressure from French banks, lobbied IASB to modify the standard to permit special
accounting for macrohedging. The IASB agreed to do this, even though that meant the is-
suance of another Exposure Draft and a further amendment to IAS 39 (which was finally is-
sued in March 2004). The bankers did not like the terms of the amendment, and even as it
was still under discussion, they appealed to the French president and persuaded him to inter-
vene. He wrote to the European Commission in July 2003, saying that the financial instru-
ments standards were likely to cause banks’ reported earnings to be more volatile and would
destabilize the European economy, and thus that the proposed standard should not be ap-
proved. He also argued that the Commission did not have sufficient input to the standard-
setting process.

This drive to alter the requirements of IAS 39 was intensified when the European Cen-
tral Bank complained in February 2004 that the “fair value option,” introduced to IAS 39 as
an improvement in final form in December 2003, could be used by banks to manipulate their
prudential ratios (the capital to assets ratios used to evaluate bank safety), and asked IASB to
limit the circumstances in which the option could be used. IASB agreed to do this, although
this meant issuing another Exposure Draft and a further amendment to IAS 39 which was not
finalized until mid-2005. When IASB debated the issue, it took a pragmatic line that no
compromise of principle was involved, and that it was reasonable that the principal bank
regulator of the Board’s largest constituent by far should be accommodated. The fact that the
European Central Bank had not raised these issues at the original Exposure Draft stage was
not discussed, nor was the legitimacy of a constituent deciding unilaterally it wanted to
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change a rule that had just been approved. The Accounting Standards Board of Japan lodged
a formal protest, and many other constituents were not pleased at this development.

Ultimately, ARC approved IAS 32 and IAS 39, but a “carve out” from IAS 39 was pre-
scribed. Clearly the EU’s involvement with IFRS is proving to be a mixed blessing for
IASB, both exposing it to political pressures that are properly an issue for the Commission,
not IASB, and putting its due process under stress. Some commentators speculated that the
EU might even abandon IFRS, but this is not a realistic possibility, given the worldwide
movement toward IFRS and the fact that the EU had already tried and rejected the regional
standard-setting route.

A better observation is that this is merely part of a period of adjustment, with regulators
and lobbyists both being uncertain as to how exactly the system does and should work, and
both testing its limits, but with some modus vivendi evolving over time. However, it is se-
vere distraction for IASB that financial instruments, arguably the area of greatest accounting
controversy in the 1990s, is one that is still causing concern to the present date, in part ex-
acerbated by the worldwide financial crisis of 2007-2009. Some believe that financial in-
struments accounting issues should have been fully resolved years ago, so that IASB could
give its undivided attention to such crucial topics as revenue recognition, performance
reporting and insurance contracts.

The EC decision to impose “carve-outs” has most recently had the result that the US
SEC’s historic decision to eliminate reconciliation to US GAAP for foreign private issuers
has been restricted to those registrants that file financial statements that comply with “full
IFRS” (which implies that those using “Euro-IFRS” and other national modifications of
IFRS promulgated by the IASB will not be eligible for this benefit). Registrants using any
deviation from pure IFRS, and those using any other national GAAP, will continue to be re-
quired to present a reconciliation to US GAAP. Over time, it can be assumed that this will
add to the pressure to report under “full IFRS,” and that even the EU may line up behind full
and complete adherence to officially promulgated IFRS.

The Future Agenda for IFRS

Performance reporting. The matter of performance reporting (now renamed financial
statement presentation) has been a priority project for IASB. The project was bifurcated, and
the first part, intended to define which financial statements are to be presented, led to a mid-
2006 Exposure Draft and the late 2007 promulgation of revised IAS 1 (discussed in greater
detail later in this chapter). The second phase, which addresses the manner of presentation of
information on the faces of the financial statements, culminated with the issuance of a joint
IASB-FASB Discussion Paper in October 2008. The announced intent is to promulgate revi-
sions to IAS 1 based on this exposure document by 2011, following the issuance of a formal
Exposure Draft in 2010.

Revenue recognition. IASB is also pursuing a revenue recognition project. The pur-
pose of this undertaking is to revisit revenue recognition through an analysis of assets and
liabilities, instead of the existing approach which focuses on completed transactions and real-
ized revenue. Such an approach has major implications for the timing of earnings recogni-
tion—it would potentially lead to revenue recognition in stages throughout the transaction
cycle. It is unlikely that this project will lead to short-term changes, given the fundamental
nature of the issues involved. TASB produced a discussion document in late 2008, comments
on which were received until mid-2009. An Exposure Draft has been promised by mid-2010,
with a final standard expected in 2011.

Joint projects with FASB and CASB. Linked to these projects, which are revisions
and extensions of the conceptual framework, is a joint project with the Canadian Accounting
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Standards Board on initial measurement and impairment, and a catch-up project with FASB
on accounting for, and distinguishing between, liabilities and equity, which has eluded de-
finitive resolution for well over a decade.

Business combinations and group financial reporting. The very important topic of
accounting for business combinations has been pursued in coordination with FASB over sev-
eral years. In 2008, both Boards completed Phase II of their respective projects, resulting in
the issuance of revised IFRS 3 and IAS 27, and the release of the very similar FAS 141(R)
and FAS 160 for application under US GAAP. Among the important changes made to prior
practice were the imposition of acquisition accounting, the requirement that minority inter-
ests be included as part of group (i.e., consolidated) equity, and the inclusion (optional under
IFRS, mandatory under US GAAP) of goodwill calculated with reference to 100% of the
shareholders’ interests, rather than for just the holdings of the controlling group of owners.
Additionally, contingent assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination are now to
be recognized at fair value determined at the date of the transaction. Full details of IFRS 3 as
revised are set forth in Chapter 13.

IFRS for SMEs. Also in 2009, IASB completed its work on an important, stand-alone
comprehensive standard for what had been known, during its development, first as SME ac-
counting (tailored standards for small and medium-sized entities), then as IFRS for private
entities (PE), and finally, again as IFRS for SMEs (although it is to be employed by entities
of any size, provided they have no public accountability).

Broadly, the intention of this project (which was the subject of an IASB Discussion Pa-
per in 2004) was to produce a single accounting standard for subject entities, to consist of
simplified versions of the existing IFRS, in a manner modeled on what had been achieved in
the UK over a decade ago (where it was known as financial reporting standards for smaller
enterprises, or FRSSE, which has been since revised several times). IASB was initially re-
luctant to involve itself in this area, but was persuaded by a number of institutions, including
the UN and the European Commission, to conclude that this would satisfy an urgent need. In
essence, it had been widely perceived that the full set of IFRS (as with UK GAAP, before it)
was burdensome and difficult to comprehend by less sophisticated preparers, auditors, and
users, and that a “single volume” standard capturing the key elements of the other standards,
with reduced availability of alternative practices and streamlined disclosure requirements,
would improve compliance and raise the quality of financial reporting as practiced by such
enterprises.

There have been more than a few efforts in the past to distinguish financial reporting
principles applicable to major, publicly held or sophisticated entities from those that would
prove suitable for smaller, nonpublic, or less complex enterprises and their owners, creditors,
customers and vendors. This “big GAAP vs. small GAAP” debate has raged, intermittently,
for many decades, and as financial reporting standards (under national GAAP as well as
under IFRS) became more complicated—due mainly to the increasing complexity of busi-
ness transactions and financial structures—this debate would be revived. Past efforts have
usually foundered on the failure to identify specific transactions or events that would warrant
differential recognition or measurement standards, since those are best based on the nature of
the event rather than on the characteristics of the users of the financial statements.

The crucial issue of what is a SME (i.e., would it be based on revenues, profits, assets, or
some gauge of size) was never actually resolved. Instead, IASB resolved that entities having
no public accountability (i.e., no publicly traded shares or debt obligations) would qualify for
use of the SME standard, regardless of size.
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IASB posted a draft standard in early 2006, and issued the final standard in mid-2009.
IFRS for SMEs is fully discussed in an appendix to this chapter, and explored in greater
detail in Wiley IFRS for SMEs (forthcoming in early 2010).

Insurance contracts. While IFRS 4, issued in March 2004, provides a first standard on
accounting for insurance contracts, this is only an interim standard issued to meet the needs
of 2005 adopters, and it permits the retention of many existing national practices. TASB is
committed to a full standard, an exposure document for which is now projected to be re-
leased in 2010. The project should now enter full development. Analysis thus far, based on
an asset and liability approach, would potentially allow recognition of some gain on the
signing of a long-term contract. This will undoubtedly cause insurance regulators some con-
cerns. IASB is also using fair value as a working measurement assumption, which has
aroused opposition from insurers, many of whom have long used an approach which
smoothed earnings over long periods and ignored the current market values of insurance as-
sets and liabilities. They claim that fair value will introduce volatility, which is likely true:
IASB members have observed that the volatility is in the marketplace, and that the insurers’
accounts just do not reflect economic reality.

Disclosures about financial instruments. A project addressing IAS 30 disclosure re-
quirements came to fruition in mid-2005 with the issuance of IFRS 7. This standard elimi-
nated IAS 30, which had set forth disclosures for banks, and merges them with requirements
formerly presented in IAS 39. Because of issues arising during the “credit crises” of 2008,
IASB quickly considered certain amendments to IFRS 7, and by late 2008 had issued an Ex-
posure Draft, IFRS 7: Disclosures. Certain changes were finalized in early 2009, dealing
with liquidity risk and fair value, but other disclosure revisions and enhancements proposed
in late 2008 were abandoned.

Fair value measurements. Many IFRS requirements involve assessments or deter-
minations of fair value, but a number of the discrete approaches to fair value are to be found
in the international financial reporting standards, and some of these are inconsistent or non-
uniform in application. A similar issue arose under US GAAP and was resolved when FASB
issued FAS 157 (later codified as ASC 820), establishing a three-level hierarchy of method-
ologies but imposing no new fair value application requirements. IASB has determined that
the guidance under ASC 820 is suitable and has accordingly prepared a draft standard (ex-
posed in May 2009) that “wraps around” FAS 157. This is discussed extensively in Chapter
6. Finalization of a new statement is promised by mid-2010.

Contingencies. In mid-2005 IASB issued an Exposure Draft of an amendment to IAS
37. This evolved as part of the ongoing efforts to converge IFRS with US GAAP. In
particular, it is responsive to the differences between IAS 37 (on provisions) and FAS 146,
addressing certain disposal and exit activities and the costs properly accrued in connection
with them. FAS 146 was promulgated by FASB, in part, to curtail certain abuses commonly
called providing “cookie jar reserves® during periods of corporate downsizing, when too-
generous estimates were often made of future related costs, which in some instances served
to absorb costs that would properly have been chargeable to future periods. In other cases,
excess reserves (provisions) were used for later release into income, thereby overstating op-
erating results of one or more later periods. FAS 146 applies strict criteria so that reserves
that do not meet the definition of liabilities at the end of the reporting period cannot be re-
corded, since they do not represent present obligations of the reporting entity. The proposal
to revise IAS 37 also hews more closely to US GAAP’s approach to guarantees, which dis-
tinguish between the unconditional element—the promise to provide a service for some de-
fined duration of time—and the conditional element, which is contingent on the future
events, such as terminations, occurring.
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If adopted, the amended IAS 37 (discussed in great detail in Chapter 14) would elimi-
nate the terms contingent liability and contingent asset, and would restrict the meaning of
constructive obligations so that these would be recognized as liabilities only if the reporting
entity’s actions result in other parties having a valid expectation on which they can reason-
ably rely that the entity will perform. Furthermore, the probability criterion would be de-
leted, so that only if a liability is not subject to reasonable measurement would it be justifi-
able to not record it. Certain changes are also made to IAS 19 by this draft. As of late 2009,
these proposed revisions to IAS 37 remain under discussion by the TASB.

Government grants. IASB also has expressed its intent to replace IAS 20, and an
Exposure Draft had been promised for late 2005 but did not appear. It is likely that this
project will not be addressed for perhaps several more years, since IASB’s originally con-
ceptualized approach, using the model set forth in IAS 41, was ultimately judged to be in-
adequate. (See discussion in Chapter 28.) One change made to IAS 20, as part of the 2007
Annual Improvements project, required explicit recognition (as grant income) of the benefit
conferred by below-market interest on loans made to an entity. IASB is considering other
issues pertinent to the accounting for government grants as part of the aforementioned reve-
nue recognition project.

Interest during construction periods. Yet another short-term convergence project has
resulted in the elimination from IAS 23 of the former option of expensing borrowing costs
associated with long-term asset construction efforts. IAS 23, as revised in 2007, thus con-
verged to the parallel US GAAP standard (FAS 34), which requires capitalization of interest
under defined circumstances. The new requirements are explained in Chapter 10.

Income taxes. Accounting for income taxes has received much attention by both IASB
and FASB over the decades, due to the divergence between the timing of actual tax payments
and the reporting of the effects of taxes in the income statement. The desire was to converge
to the US GAAP positions, which were seen as being more fully developed, including explic-
it guidance concerning uncertain tax positions, which was absent under IFRS. Both IFRS
and US GAAP have long embraced comprehensive interperiod allocation using the liability
method, but certain exceptions are permitted, and these are expected to be narrowed or
eliminated by revisions still under consideration. An Exposure Draft of a replacement for
IAS 12, the current international standard, was released in early 2009, with a final standard
promised for 2010. This is fully discussed in Chapter 17.

Regarding segment disclosures, IFRS now replicates US GAAP, thanks to the promul-
gation of IFRS 8. This is expected to ease the current challenge of developing segment data
under IFRS.

Segment reporting. The adoption of IFRS 8 in 2006 largely converged IFRS to US
GAAP practice, and further minor changes were made effective in early 2009, as discussed
in Chapter 22.

Leases. As detailed in Chapter 16, the long-simmering effort to rationalize accounting
for leases, at least from the lessee side, appears likely to be soon resolved, as IASB has de-
veloped, as a preliminary views document, a comprehensive new approach that would super-
sede the lessee accounting requirements of IAS 17. Lessor accounting and a few other spe-
cialized concerns arising from contractual rights to use property may require separate
attention. An Exposure Draft is expected on lessee accounting in 2010, and a final standard
is anticipated for 2011.

Management commentary. Financial reports often contain materials beyond the finan-
cial statements and associated informative disclosures (footnotes). It is customary, and in
some settings required (the US SEC’s requirement for management discussion and analysis,
referred to as MD&A, is often cited), that management offer narrative discussion materials
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regarding interpretations of the events and conditions affecting the business, which comple-
ments what is reported in the financial statements themselves, as well as supplementary in-
formation that is often crucial to an understanding of results of operations and financial con-
dition, but which has no formal place in the actual financial statements—such as order
backlogs, planned capital expenditures, and insights regarding new product pipelines.

IASB released an Exposure Draft, Management Commentary, in June 2009. This Expo-
sure Draft was prepared based on the understanding that management commentary lies with-
in the broad boundaries of financial reporting and, therefore, is within the scope of the con-
ceptual framework for financial reporting, currently under development. The intention is that
this draft be read together with An Improved Conceptual Framework for Financial Re-
porting: Chapter 1: The Objective of Financial Reporting, and Chapter 2: Qualitative Char-
acteristics and Constraints of Decision-Useful Financial Reporting Information, which were
released by IASB in May 2008. IASB has stated that this Exposure Draft will not result in
an IFRS, and thus reporting entities would not be required to follow the guidance if they are
purporting to present their financial statements in accordance with IFRS. This guidance is
meant to be directed towards public companies; however, it is not mandated that public com-
panies publish management commentaries, either.

Management commentary is intended to express management’s unique perspective on
the entity. It supplements the financial statements by including additional explanations of
amounts presented in the financial statements and by explaining the conditions and events
that shaped that information. It also complements the financial statements by including fi-
nancial and nonfinancial information about the entity and its performance that is not, and
should not be, presented in the financial statements.

Management commentary should focus on not only the present but also the past and fu-
ture. Concerning the past, management should discuss the entity’s resources and claims to
those resources. It should present trends and discuss transactions and events that have af-
fected those resources. Commentary should also contain forward-looking information for the
readers of the financial statements when appropriate, including management’s objectives and
strategies, to improve the financial statements’ decision-usefulness. When management is
aware of trends, uncertainties or other factors that could affect the entity’s liquidity, capital
resources, revenues and results of the operations, this type of information should be included
in the management commentary. This commentary should also address how any forward-
looking information in previous years’ financial statements has changed.

Building upon the Conceptual Framework, this Exposure Draft explains that in order to
be useful, information must possess the fundamental qualitative characteristics of relevance
and faithful representation. Characteristics of comparability, verifiability, timeliness and un-
derstandability enhance the usefulness of the information. This draft identifies the key
content elements of a decision-useful management commentary as

The nature of the business;

Management’s objectives and strategies for meeting those objectives;

The entity’s most significant resources, risks and relationships;

The results of operations and prospects; and

The critical performance measures and indicators that management uses to evaluate
the entity’s performance against stated objectives.

Nk

IASB is asking for comments on two main questions related to this Exposure Draft. The
first question is about the decision to develop a guidance document for management com-
mentary. The second question is about the usefulness of the content elements previously
described, and their necessity for the preparation of decision-useful management commen-
tary. This Exposure Draft is open for comments until March 2010.
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Other convergence projects. Other convergence projects still under development on
discussion include those addressing derecognition criteria (exposure document issued in
early 2009), accounting for discontinued operations and noncurrent assets held for sale (Ex-
posure Draft issued late 2008, final standard promised before year-end 2009), revisions to
earnings per share computations (an Exposure Draft was issued mid-2008, final standard an-
ticipated in 2010), refinement to IFRS 1 regarding transition to IFRS setting forth two addi-
tional exemptions (finalized mid-2009, as detailed in Chapter 29), and amendments to the
requirements for related-party disclosures (exposed in revised form in late 2008, with a final
standard due in late 2009).

Accounting requirements for joint ventures will likely be changed to delete the currently
available option of applying the proportionate consolidation method, thus permitting only the
equity method, as is the case under US GAAP. (Note that there are a few instances where US
GAAP does permit proportionate consolidation, and IFRS may preserve limited options as
well.) An Exposure Draft was published in late 2007, and a final standard is anticipated for
late 2009.

Europe 2009 Update

The IASB’s long effort to gain acceptance for IFRS began to bear fruit about a decade
ago, when the EU briefly considered and then, significantly, abandoned a quest to develop
Euro-GAAP, and when IOSCO endorsed, with some qualifications, the “core set of [IAS]
standards” following major revisions to most of the then-extant IFRS. A significant
impediment was removed with the late 2007 decision by the US Securities and Exchange
Commission to eliminate the longstanding requirement for reconciliation of major items to
US GAAP. However, since “Euro-IFRS” contains several “carve-outs” from the standards
promulgated by IASB, this waiver will not apply to European publicly held entities. This
may serve as an impetus for changes in the EU rules previously adopted.

Beginning January 1, 2005, all European Union (EU)-based companies having securi-
ties listed on an EU exchange have been required to prepare consolidated (group) accounts in
conformity with IFRS. It is estimated that this requirement has affected approximately 7,000
companies, of which some 3,000 are in the United Kingdom. Companies traded both in the
EU and on a regulated market outside the EU that were already in 2005 applying another set
of internationally accepted standards (for example US Generally Accepted Accounting Prin-
ciples [GAAP]), and companies that have issued debt instruments but not equity instruments
could be temporarily exempted by the member states and not required to comply with IFRS
until January 1, 2007. Consequently, companies that took advantage of this exemption (for
example Deutsche Bank) were required to implement IFRS in 2007.

On November 15, 2007, the US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) eliminated
the requirement for foreign registrants to reconcile their financial statements to US GAAP, if
the financial statements fully adhere to IFRS as published by the IASB. This regulation
helped EU companies, such as Deutsche Bank, in their financial reporting requirements for
listing in the US. SEC thus acknowledged that IFRS has the potential to become the global
set of high-quality reporting standards, and that investors, issuers, and markets would benefit
from the improved comparability of financial reporting across national borders.

It is thought to be quite possible that, within some reasonable interval of time, all the EU
states will at least permit IFRS in the consolidated accounts of nonlisted companies, although
this permission, in some states, might not extend to certain types of companies such as small
entities or charities. Additionally, it is possible that most of the EU states will permit IFRS
in the annual (i.e., not consolidated, so-called statutory) accounts of all companies, again
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possibly subject to some exceptions. Furthermore, some EU states, such as the UK, have
already begun to converge their national accounting rules with IFRS.

Privately held EU companies may, if permitted to do so, choose to utilize IFRS for many
sound reasons (e.g., for comparability purposes), in anticipation of eventual convergence of
national standards with IFRS, and at the specific request of stakeholders such as the entities’
credit and investment constituencies.

The remaining impediment to full IFRS conformity among the affected EU companies
pertains to the financial instruments standard, IAS 39 which has proved to be extraordinarily
controversial, at least among some reporting entities, particularly financial institutions in
some, but not all, European countries. Originally, as noted above, all IAS/IFRS standards
were endorsed, except IAS 32 and IAS 39, as to which endorsement was postponed, nomi-
nally because of expected further amendments coming from IASB, but actually due to the
philosophical or political dispute over use of fair value accounting for financial instruments
and hedging provisions. The single most important of the concerns pertained to accounting
for “core deposits” of banks, which drew objections from five of the six dissenting votes on
the EFRAG (European Financial Reporting Advisory Group) Technical Expert Group
(TEG). In fact, the dissents were a majority of the eleven-member TEG, but since it takes a
two-thirds vote to refuse endorsement, the tepid support would be sufficient.

Notwithstanding that IASB had promised a “stable platform” of rules (i.e., no changes or
new standards to be issued during the massive transition to IFRS in Europe, so that preparers
could be spared the frustration of a moving target as they attempted to prepare, usually, Jan-
uary 1, 2004 restated statements of financial position and 2004 and 2005 financial statements
under IFRS), the controversy over IAS 39 resulted in a number of amendments being made
in 2005, mostly in order to mollify EU member states. Thus, IAS 39 was (separately)
amended to deal with macrohedging, cash flow hedges of forecast intragroup transactions,
the “fair value option,” and financial guarantee contracts. (These changes are all addressed
in this publication.)

Notwithstanding these efforts to satisfy EU member state concerns about specific as-
pects of IAS 39, the final EU approval was still qualified, with an additional “carve out”
identified. Thus, there is the specter of partial compliance with IFRS, and independent audi-
tors were forced to grapple with this when financial statements prepared in accordance with
Euro-IFRS were first prepared for issuance in early 2006. At this point in time, the repre-
sentation that financial statements are “in accordance with IFRS” can be invoked only when
the reporting entity fully complies with IFRS, as the standards have been promulgated (and
amended, when relevant), but without any deviations permitted in the EU legislation. Audi-
tor references to IFRS have therefore been tempered by citing IFRS as endorsed by the EU as
the basis of accounting.

Impact of IFRS Adoption by EU Companies

The effect of the change to IFRS has varied from country to country and from company
to company. National GAAP of many European countries were developed to serve or facil-
itate tax and other regulatory purposes, so principles differed from state to state. The case
study of a Belgian company, included in an appendix to this chapter, reveals the nature of
many of the differences between IFRS and national GAAP reporting.

Complexity usually means additional cost. One survey of 1,000 European companies
indicated that the average compliance cost across UK companies was expected to be about
£360,000. This figure was expected to rise to £446,000 for a top-500 company; to £625,000
for companies with a market capitalization value between £1bn-£2bn; and to an amount in
excess of £1m for companies valued at more than £2bn.
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Implementation, however, is not the only difficulty, and possibly not even the most sig-
nificant one. Changes in principles can mean significant changes in statements of
comprehensive income or statements of financial position. In a 2002 survey of EU compa-
nies, two-thirds of respondents indicated that the adoption of IFRS would have a medium to
high impact on their businesses (of course, it is typical that more harmful results often are
anticipated than are ultimately realized).

One of the most important effects of the change to IFRS-basis financial reporting will
reverberate throughout companies’ legal relationships. Obviously, companies must make
appropriate disclosure to their stakeholders in order to properly explain the changes and their
impact. Additionally, accountants and lawyers will also have to review the significantly ex-
panded footnote disclosures required by IFRS in financial statements.

In addition to appropriate stakeholder disclosure, companies must reexamine legal rela-
tionships which are keyed to accounting reports. Changed accounting principles can under-
mine carefully crafted financial covenants in shareholder agreements, financing contracts and
other transactional documents.

Drafters must examine the use of “material adverse change” triggers in the context of
businesses whose earnings may be subject to accounting volatility. Debt, equity and lease
financing arrangements may require restructuring due to unanticipated changes in reported
results arising from the use of IFRS.

For example, IFRS may require a reclassification of certain financial instruments pre-
viously shown as equity on a company’s statement of financial position into their equity and
debt components. Additionally, IFRS permits companies to adjust the carrying values of
investment property (real estate) to fair market values with any gains being reflected in profit
or loss for the period.

Executives may be concerned about compensation systems tied to earnings increases
between measurement dates when earnings can be so volatile, or they may simply be con-
cerned that compensation arrangements are keyed to results that are no longer realistic.

Few companies want to entertain dated or “frozen” GAAP for document purposes be-
cause of the costs involved in maintaining two separate systems of accounting or an exten-
sive set of “off-line” adjustments. As a result, companies, their lawyers and accountants will
have to reexamine agreements in light of the anticipated effect of IFRS on companies’ finan-
cial statements.
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APPENDIX A

CURRENT INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(IAS/IFRS) AND INTERPRETATIONS (SIC/IFRIC)

(Recent revisions noted parenthetically)

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised 2007, effective 2009, with addi-
tional amendments and improvements effective 2008, 2009, and 2010)

IAS 2 Inventories (revised 2003, effective 2005)
IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows (amended effective 2009 and 2010)

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors (revised 2003,
effective 2005)

IAS 10  Events After the Reporting Period (revised 2003, effective 2005)
IAS 11 Construction Contracts
IAS 12 Income Taxes

IAS 16  Property, Plant, and Equipment (revised 2003, effective 2005, and amendments
effective 2009)

IAS 17 Accounting for Leases (revised 2003, effective 2005, and amended effective
2010)

IAS 18  Revenue (minor amendment 2009)
IAS 19  Employee Benefits (revised 2004 and 2008)

IAS20  Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance
(amended effective 2009)

IAS 21  The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (revised 2003, effective 2005;
minor further amendment 2005, further amended effective 2009)

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (revised 2007, effective 2009)

IAS 24  Related-Party Disclosures (revised 2003, effective 2005)

IAS26  Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans

IAS 27  Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised 2008, effective 2009)

IAS 28 Accounting for Investments in Associates (revised 2003, effective 2005; further
revised effective 2009)

IAS 29  Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (revised effective 2009)

IAS 31 Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures (revised 2003, effective 2005;
further amended effective 2009)

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (revised 2003, effective 2005; disclosure re-
quirements removed to IFRS 7 effective 2007; further amended effective 2009)

TIAS 33 Earnings Per Share (revised 2003, effective 2005; minor amendments effective
2009)

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting (minor amendments effective 2009)
IAS 36 Impairments of Assets (revised 2004; amended effective 2009 and 2010)

TIAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent Assets



IAS 38
IAS 39

IAS 40

IAS 41
IFRS 1

IFRS 2
IFRS 3
IFRS 4
IFRS 5

IFRS 6
IFRS 7
IFRS 8
SIC7
SIC 10
SIC 12
SIC 13
SIC 15
SIC 21
SIC 25
SIC 27
SIC 29
SIC 31
SIC 32
IFRIC 1
IFRIC 2
IFRIC 4
IFRIC 5

IFRIC 6

IFRIC 7

IFRIC 8
IFRIC 9
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Intangible Assets (revised 2004; amended effective 2009)

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (amended 2005; further
amended effective 2008, 2009, and 2010)

Investment Property (revised 2003, effective 2005; further amended effective
2009)

Agriculture (amended effective 2009)

First-Time Adoption of IFRS (minor amendment 2005; restructured 2008; further
amended effective 2009)

Share-Based Payment (amended effective 2008, 2009, and 2010)
Business Combinations (revised 2008, effective 2009)
Insurance Contracts (amended effective 2005)

Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations (amended effective
2005, 2009, and 2010)

Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources (amended 2005)
Financial Instruments: Disclosures (amended effective 2008 and 2009)
Operating Segments (revised effective 2010)

Introduction of the Euro

Government Assistance—No Specific Relation to Operating Activities
Consolidation—Special-Purpose Entities

Jointly Controlled Entities—Nonmonetary Contributions by Venturers
Operating Leases—Incentives

Income Taxes—Recovery of Revalued Nondepreciable Assets

Income Taxes—Changes in the Tax Status of an Enterprise or Its Shareholders
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease
Disclosure—Service Concession Arrangements

Revenue—Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services

Intangible Assets—Web Site Costs

Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar Liabilities
Members’ Shares in Cooperative Entities and Similar Instruments
Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease

Rights to Interests Arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmen-
tal Rehabilitation Funds

Liabilities Arising from Participating in a Specific Market—Waste Electrical and
Electronic Equipment

Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29, Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies

Scope of IFRS 2

Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
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IFRIC 11
IFRIC 12
IFRIC 13
IFRIC 14

IFRIC 15
IFRIC 16

Wiley IFRS 2010

IFRS 2: Group and Treasury Share Transactions
Service Concession Arrangements
Customer Loyalty Programs

IAS 19—The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Require-
ments, and Their Interaction

Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
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APPENDIX B
REVISED IAS 1, PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As noted in the body of the chapter, IASB has been pursuing a multiphase project deal-
ing with financial statement presentation. The issuance of revised IAS 1, Presentation of
Financial Statements, represented the culmination of the first stage of this undertaking.
Later phases will address more fundamental issues for presenting information on the face of
the financial statements, including: consistent principles for aggregating information in each
financial statement; the totals and subtotals that should be reported in each financial state-
ment; whether components of other recognized income and expense should be reclassified to
profit and loss; and whether the direct or the indirect method of presenting operating cash
flows provides more useful information. The IASB and FASB have decided that financial
statements should present information in a manner that reflects a cohesive financial picture
of an entity and which separates an entity’s financing activities from its business and other
activities as well as from its transactions with owners. Additionally, financing activities
should be separated into transactions with owners and all other financing activities. Yet
another phase of the project will deal with interim financial reporting.

The revised IAS 1 is largely into line with the corresponding US GAAP standard—FAS
130, Reporting Comprehensive Income. The FASB decided that it would not publish a sepa-
rate Exposure Draft on this phase of the project but will expose issues pertinent to this and
the next phase together in the future.

Revised IAS 1 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009, with
early application permitted.

Objective of revised IAS 1. IAS 1 prescribes the basis for presentation of general-
purpose financial statements to ensure comparability both with the entity’s financial
statements of previous periods and with the financial statements of other entities. It sets out
overall requirements for the presentation of financial statements, guidelines for their struc-
ture, and minimum requirements for their content. In revising IAS 1, IASB’s main objective
was to aggregate information in the financial statements on the basis of shared characteris-
tics. Other sources of guidance on the financial statement presentation can be found in IAS
7,8, 10, 12, 18, 24, 27, 34, and IFRS 5.

Scope of IAS 1. IAS 1 applies to all entities, including profit-oriented and not-for-profit
entities. Non-for-profit entities in both the private and public sectors can apply this standard,
however they may need to change the descriptions used for particular line items within their
financial statements and for the financial statements themselves. This standard applies to
those entities that present consolidated financial statements and those that present financial
statements as defined in IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. It does
not apply to the structure and content of condensed interim financial statements prepared in
accordance with IAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting.

Purpose of financial statements. IAS 1, which previously had been substantially re-
vised in 2003, and which received further amendments in 2005 and 2008, and additionally
for annual improvements in 2008 and 2009, refers to financial statements as “a structured
representation of the financial position and financial performance of an entity” and elaborates
that the objective of financial statements is to provide information about an entity’s financial
position, its financial performance, and its cash flows, which is then utilized by a wide spec-
trum of end users in making economic decisions. In addition, financial statements also show
the results of the management’s stewardship of the resources entrusted to it. All this infor-
mation is communicated through a complete set of financial statements.



32 Wiley IFRS 2010

Presentation of financial statements. IAS 1 defines a complete set of financial state-
ments to be comprised of the following:

1. A statement of financial position as at the end of the period:

a. The previous version of IAS 1 used the title “balance sheet.” The revised stan-
dard uses the title “statement of financial position.”

2. A statement of comprehensive income for the period:

a. Components of profit or loss may be presented either as part of a single state-
ment of comprehensive income or in a separate income statement.

b. When an income statement is presented, it becomes part of a complete set of fi-
nancial statements.

c. The income statement should be displayed immediately before the statement of
comprehensive income.

3. A statement of changes in equity for the period;
4. A statement of cash flows for the period;

a. The previous version of IAS 1 used the title “cash flow statement.” The revised
standard uses the title “statement of cash flows.”

5. Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explana-
tory information; and

6. A statement of financial position as at the beginning of the earliest comparative pe-
riod when an entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retro-
spective restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies items
in its financial statements.

a. This requirement is part of the revised IAS 1.

Financial statements, except for cash flow information, are to be prepared using accrual
basis of accounting.

Fairness exception under IAS 1. There is a subtle difference between US GAAP and
what was required by many European countries regarding the use of an override to assure a
fair presentation of the company’s financial position and results of operations. US auditing
standards require a fair presentation in accordance with GAAP, while the European Fourth
Directive requires that statements offer a true and fair view of the company’s financial situa-
tion. If following the literal financial reporting requirements does not provide this result,
then the entity should first consider the salutary effects of providing supplementary disclo-
sures. However, if that is not seen as being sufficient to achieve a true and fair view, the
entity may conclude that it must override (that is, ignore or contravene) the applicable ac-
counting standard. US standards contain a rarely invoked exception that permits departure
from GAAP if compliance would not result in financial reporting that was deemed appropri-
ate to communicate financial position and results of operations.

IAS 1 has a similar approach. It states the expectation that the use of IFRS will result, in
virtually all circumstances, in financial statements that achieve a fair presentation. However,
in extremely rare circumstances where management concludes that compliance with a re-
quirement in an IFRS would be so misleading that it would conflict with the objective of
financial statements set out in the Framework, the entity can depart from that requirement if
the relevant regulatory framework requires, or otherwise does not prohibit, such a departure,
and the entity discloses all of the following:
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1. Management has concluded that the financial statements present fairly the entity’s
financial position, financial performance, and cash flows;

2. The entity has complied with all applicable IFRS, except that it has departed from a
particular requirement to achieve a fair presentation;

3. The title of the IFRS from which the entity has departed, the nature of the departure,
including the treatment that the IFRS would require, the reason why that treatment
would be so misleading in the circumstances that it would conflict with the objec-
tive of financial statements set out in the Framework, and the treatment adopted;
and

4. For each period presented, the financial effect of the departure on each item in the
financial statements that would have been reported in complying with the require-
ment.

When an entity has departed from a requirement of an IFRS in a prior period, and that
departure affects the amounts recognized in the current period, it shall make the disclosures
as in 3. and 4. above.

The standard notes that deliberately departing from IFRS might not be permissible in
some jurisdictions, in which case the entity should comply with the standard in question and
disclose in the notes that it believes this to be misleading, and show the adjustments that
would be necessary to avoid this distorted result. In extremely rare circumstances where
management concludes that compliance with a requirement in an IFRS would be so mis-
leading that it would conflict with the objective of financial statements set out in the Frame-
work, but the relevant regulatory framework prohibits departure from the requirement, to the
maximum extent possible, the entity is required to reduce the perceived misleading aspects of
compliance by disclosing all of the following:

1. The title of the IFRS in question, the nature of the requirement, and the reason why
management has concluded that complying with that requirement is so misleading
in the circumstances that it conflicts with the objective of financial statements set
out in the Framework, and

2. For each period presented, the adjustments to each item in the financial statements
that management has concluded would be necessary to achieve a fair presentation.

When assessing whether complying with a specific requirement in an IFRS would be so
misleading that it would conflict with the objective of financial statements set out in the
Framework, management should consider the following:

1. Why the objective of financial statements is not achieved in the particular circum-
stances; and

2. How the entity’s circumstances differ from those of other entities that comply with
the requirement.

a. If other entities in similar circumstances comply with the requirement, there is a
rebuttable presumption that the entity’s compliance with the requirement would
not be so misleading that it would conflict with the objective of financial state-
ments set out in the Framework.

Going concern. When preparing financial statements, management makes an assess-
ment regarding the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If the result of the assess-
ment casts significant doubt upon the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, man-
agement is required to disclose that fact, together with the basis on which it prepared the
financial statements and the reason why the entity is not regarded as a going concern.
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Accrual basis of accounting. Financial statements, except for cash flow information,
are to be prepared using accrual basis of accounting.

Materiality and aggregation. An entity should present separately each material class
of similar items as well as present separately material items of dissimilar nature or function.
If a line item is not individually material, it is aggregated with other items either in those
statements or in the notes. It is not necessary for an entity to provide a specific disclosure
required by an IFRS if the information is not material.

Offsetting. Assets and liabilities, or income and expenses, may not be offset against
each other, unless required or permitted by an IFRS. However, the reduction of accounts
receivable by the allowance for doubtful accounts, or of property, plant, and equipment by
the accumulated depreciation, are acts that reduce these assets by the appropriate valuation
accounts and are not considered to be offsetting assets and liabilities.

Frequency of reporting. An entity should present a complete set of financial state-
ments (including comparative information) at least annually. If the reporting period changes
such that the financial statements are for a period longer or shorter than one year, the entity
should disclose the reason for the longer or shorter period and the fact that the amounts pre-
sented are not entirely comparable.

Comparative information. An entity is required to include a statement of financial po-
sition as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period whenever and entity retrospec-
tively applies an accounting policy, or makes a retrospective restatement of items in its fi-
nancial statements, or when it reclassifies items in its financial statements. In those limited
circumstances, an entity is required to present, as a minimum, three statements of financial
position and related notes, as at

1. The end of the current period;
The end of the previous period (which is the same as the beginning of the current
period); and

3. The beginning of the earliest comparative period.

When the entity changes the presentation or classification of items in its financial state-
ments, the entity should reclassify the comparative amounts, unless reclassification is im-
practical. In reclassifying comparative amounts, the required disclosure includes (1) the na-
ture of the reclassification; (2) the amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified;
and (3) the reason for the reclassification. In situations where it is impracticable to reclassify
comparative amounts, an entity should disclose (1) the reason for not reclassifying the
amounts and (2) the nature of the adjustments that would have been made if the amounts had
been reclassified.

Consistency of presentation. The presentation and classification of items in the finan-
cial statements should be consistent from one period to the next. A change in presentation
and classification of items in the financial statements may be required when there is a sig-
nificant change in the nature of the entity’s operations, another presentation or classification
is more appropriate (having considered the criteria of IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes
in Accounting Estimates and Errors), or when an IFRS requires a change in presentation.
When making such changes in presentation, an entity should reclassify its comparative in-
formation and present adequate disclosures (see comparable information above).

The revised IAS 1 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009,
with early application permitted.
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APPENDIX C
IFRS FOR SMEs

A longstanding debate among professional accountants, users and preparers—between
those advocating for some form of simplified financial reporting standards for (variously
defined) smaller or nonpublicly responsible entities, and those arguing that all reporting enti-
ties purporting to adhere to officially mandated accounting standards do so with absolute
faithfulness—has now been resolved. On July 9, 2009, IASB published International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for Small and Medium-Sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs).
Notwithstanding the name, it is actually intended as an optional, somewhat simplified and
choice-limited comprehensive financial reporting standard for enterprises not having public
accountability.

A parallel debate raged in the UK, the US, and in other national GAAP domains for dec-
ades. In the US a number of inchoate proposals have been offered over at least the past thirty
years, but no serious proposal was forthcoming, largely because the idea of differential
recognition or measurement standards for smaller entities was seen as conceptually unap-
pealing, leaving the relatively trivial issue of differential disclosures as the focus of discus-
sion. Apart from a limited number of disclosure topics, such as segment results and earnings
per share, and some pension obligation details, this proved to not be a very productive line of
inquiry, and no sweeping changes were ever adopted or even proposed.

In the UK, the story was different. A single, comprehensive standard, Financial Report-
ing Standards for Smaller Entities (FRSSE), was successfully implemented over a decade
ago, and then revised several times, employing a periodic updating strategy that IASB now
appears likely to emulate. Rather than impose different recognition or measurement con-
cepts on smaller entities, the approach taken, in the main, was to slim down the standards,
eliminate much of the background and illustrative materials, and in some cases narrow or
eliminate the alternative methods that users of full UK GAAP could elect to apply, with
some concomitant simplifications to informative disclosures. Since this was deemed to have
been successful in the UK, IASB determined to emulate it, beginning with a discussion paper
in 2004, and continuing through an early-2007 Exposure Draft and a final standard in mid-
20009.

The enthusiasm and support that was shown for the IFRS for SMEs project from national
accounting standard setters throughout the world stemmed mostly from the widely acknowl-
edged complexity of the full body of IFRS, and from the different statutory requirements for
financial reporting in many countries, which in many instances demands that audited finan-
cial statements, without any qualifications, be submitted to tax or other authorities. For ex-
ample, in the European Union about 7,000 listed companies were implementing IFRS in
2005, but more than 5 million SMEs are required to prepare their financial statements in ac-
cordance with various national GAAP, resulting in lack of comparability across this sector of
financial reporting entities. Reportedly, more than 50 different sets of standards govern
private reporting in the 27 EU nations.

It had long been asserted, although often without solid evidence, that the complexity of
the full body of IFRS (and, even more so, of full US GAAP) imposes a high and unwelcome
cost on implementing and applying these standards, and that many or most external users of
the resulting financial statements did not see value commensurate with the cost and effort
associated with their preparation. Whether or not this is true, many now believe that /FRS
for SMEs will provide companies with an easier transition to the full IFRS, thus serving to
accomplish, in the longer term, a more thorough and broadly based move toward universal
reporting under a single set of financial reporting standards.
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Opponents of a separate set of standards for SMEs believe that all entities should follow
the same basic set of accounting principles for the preparation of general-purpose financial
statements, whether that set of standards be IFRS or US GAAP. Some have noted that com-
plexity in accounting is merely a symptom—the inevitable result of the ever-increasing com-
plexity of transactional structures, such as the widespread use of “engineered” financial
products. Based on observations of the difficulties faced by companies implementing and
applying the full IFRS, others have concluded that the problem is not that SMEs need simp-
ler accounting, but that all reporting entities would benefit from reporting requirements that
are less complex and more principles-based. Since this latter goal seemed to be perpetually
unattainable, momentum ultimately shifted in favor of having a simplified stand-alone stan-
dard for either smaller or nonpublic companies. IFRS for SMEs, available for use by non-
publicly accountable entities of any size, is the solution that has been rendered by IASB to
this chronic problem.

Because the IASB lacks the power to require any company to use its standards, the adop-
tion of IFRS for SMEs is a matter for each country to decide. The issue must be resolved by
a country’s government legislators and regulators, or by an independent standards setter, or
by a professional accountancy body. Each country will need to establish criteria to deter-
mine eligibility of reporting entities seeking to qualify under this new standard as a “small or
medium-sized” entity.

Definition of SMEs

IFRS for SMEs is intended for entities that do not have public accountability. An entity
has public accountability—and therefore would not be permitted to use the full IFRS—if it
meets either of the following conditions: (1) it has issued debt or equity securities in a public
market; or (2) it holds assets in a fiduciary capacity, as its primary purpose of business, for a
broad group of outsiders. The latter category of entity would include banks, insurance com-
panies, securities broker/dealers, pension funds, mutual funds, and investment banks. The
standard does not impose a size test in defining SMEs, notwithstanding the nomenclature
used.

The standard also states that the standard is intended for entities that publish financial
statements for external users; as with IFRS and US GAAP, in other words, the standard is
not intended to govern internal or managerial reporting (although there is nothing to prevent
such reporting from fully conforming to such standards).

A subsidiary of an entity that employs full IFRS, or an entity that is part of a consolidated
entity that reports in compliance with IFRS may report, on a stand-alone basis, in accordance
with IFRS for SMEs, if the financial statements are so identified, and if the subsidiary does
not have public accountability itself. If this is done, that standard must be fully complied
with, which could mean that the subsidiary’s stand-alone financial statements would differ
from how they are presented within the parent’s consolidated financial statements; for exam-
ple, in the subsidiary’s financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS for SMEs, bor-
rowing costs incurred in connection with construction of long-lived assets would be ex-
pensed as incurred, but those same borrowing costs would be capitalized in the consolidated
financial statements, since IAS 23 as most recently revised no longer provides the option of
immediate expensing. In the authors’ view, this would not be optimal financial reporting,
and the goals of consistency and comparability would be better served if the stand-alone fi-
nancial statements of the subsidiary also were based on full IFRS.
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IFRS for SMEs Is a Complete, Self-Contained Set of Requirements

IFRS for SMEs is a complete and comprehensive standard, and accordingly contains
much or most of the vital guidance provided by the full IFRS. For example, it defines the
qualities that are needed for IFRS-compliant financial reporting (reliability, understandabil-
ity, et al.), the elements of financial statements (assets, liabilities, et al.), the required mini-
mum captions in the required full set of financial statements, the mandate for comparative
reporting, and so forth. There is no need for an entity reporting under this standard to refer
elsewhere (other than for guidance in IAS 39, discussed below), and indeed it would be im-
proper to do so.

An entity having no public accountability that elects to report in conformity with IFRS
for SMEs must make an “explicit and unreserved” declaration to that effect in the notes to the
financial statements. As with a representation that the financial statements comply with
(full) IFRS, if this representation is made, the entity must comply fully with all relevant re-
quirements in the standard(s).

Many options under full IFRS remain under /FRS for SMEs. For example, a single
statement of comprehensive income can be presented, with profit or loss being an interme-
diate step in the derivation of the period’s comprehensive income or loss, or alternatively a
separate statement of income can be displayed, with profit or loss (the “bottom line” in that
statement) then being the opening item in the separate statement of comprehensive income.
Likewise, most of the mandates under full IFRS, such as the need to consolidate special-
purpose entities that are controlled by the reporting entity, also exist under /FRS for SMEs.

Modifications of Full IFRS Made for IFRS for SMEs

Compared to the full IFRS, the aggregate length of the standards, in terms of number of
words, has been reduced by more than 90%. This was achieved by eliminating topics
deemed to not be generally relevant to SMEs, by eliminating certain choices of accounting
treatments, and by simplifying methods for recognition and measurement. These three sets
of modifications to the content of the full IFRS, which are discussed below, respond to both
the perceived needs of users of SMEs’ financial statements and to cost-benefit concerns.
According to the IASB, the set of standards in the IFRS for SMEs will be suitable for a typi-
cal enterprise having 50 employees, and will also be valid for so-called microentities having
only a single or a few employees. However, no size limits are stipulated in the standard, and
thus even very large entities could conceivably elect to apply IFRS for SMEs, assuming they
have no public accountability as defined in the standard, and that no objections are raised by
their various other stakeholders, such as lenders, customers, vendors, or joint venture part-
ners.

Omitted topics. Certain topics covered in the full IFRS were viewed as not being rele-
vant to typical SMEs (e.g., rules pertaining to transactions that were thought to be unlikely to
occur in an SME context), and have accordingly been omitted from the standard. This leaves
open the question of whether SMEs could optionally seek expanded guidance in the full
IFRS. Originally, when the Exposure Draft of IFRS for SMEs was released, cross-references
to the full IFRS were retained, so that SMEs would not be precluded from applying any of
the financial reporting standards and methods found in IFRS, essentially making the IFRS for
SME:s standard entirely optional on a component-by-component basis. However, in the final
IFRS for SMEs standard all of these cross-references have been removed, with the exception
of a reference to IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, thus making
IFRS for SMEs a fully stand-alone document, not to be used in conjunction with the full
IFRS. An entity that would qualify for use of IFRS for SMEs must therefore make a decision
to use full IFRS or IFRS for SMEs exclusively.
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Topics addressed in the full IFRS that are entirely omitted from the IFRS for SME stan-
dard are as follows:

Earnings per share;

Interim reporting;

Segment reporting;

Special accounting for assets held for sale.

Insurance (since, because of public accountability, such entities would be precluded
from using IFRS for SMEs in any event).

Thus, for example, if a reporting entity concluded that its stakeholders wanted presenta-
tion of segment reporting information, and the entity’s management wished to provide that to
them, it would elect to prepare financial statements in conformity with the full set of IFRS,
eschewing use of IFRS for SMEs.

Only the simpler option included. Where full IFRS provide an accounting policy
choice, generally only the simpler option is included in IFRS for SMEs. SMEs will not be
permitted to employ the other option(s) provided by the full IFRS, as had been envisioned by
the Exposure Draft that preceded this standard, as all cross-references to the full IFRS have
been eliminated.

The simpler options selected for inclusion in IFRS for SMEs are as follow, with the ex-
cluded alternatives noted:

 For investment property, measurement is driven by circumstances rather than a choice
between the cost and fair value models, both of which are permitted under IAS 40, In-
vestment Property. Under provisions of IFRS for SMEs, if the fair value of investment
property can be measured reliably without undue cost or effort, the fair value model
must be used. Otherwise, the cost method is required.

* Use of the cost-amortization-impairment model for property, plant, and equipment and
intangibles is required; the revaluation model set forth by IAS 16, Property, Plant,
and Equipment, and IAS 38, Intangible Assets, is not allowed.

¢ Immediate expensing of borrowing costs is required; the capitalization model stipu-
lated under revised IAS 23 is not deemed appropriate for SMEs.

* Jointly controlled entities cannot be accounted for under the proportionate consolida-
tion method under IFRS for SMEs, but can be under full IFRS as they presently exist.
IFRS for SMEs does permit the use of the fair-value-through-earnings method as well
as the equity method, and even the cost method can be used when it is not possible to
obtain price or value data.

* Entities electing to employ IFRS for SMEs are required to expense development costs
as they are incurred, together with all research costs. Full IFRS necessitates making a
distinction between research and development costs, with the former expensed and the
latter capitalized and then amortized over an appropriate period receiving economic
benefits.

It should be noted that the Exposure Draft that preceded IFRS for SMEs would have re-
quired that the direct method for the presentation of operating cash flows be used, to the ex-
clusion of the less desirable, but vastly more popular, indirect method. The final standard
has retreated from this position and permits both methods, so it includes necessary guidance
on application of the indirect method, which was absent from the draft.

All references to full IFRS found in the draft of this standard have been eliminated, ex-
cept for the reference to IAS 39, which may be used, optionally, by entities reporting under
IFRS for SMEs. The general expectation is that few reporting entities will opt to do this,
since the enormous complexity of that standard was a primary impetus to the development of
the streamlined IFRS for SMEs.
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It is inevitable that some financial accounting or reporting situations will arise for which
IFRS for SME;s itself will not provide complete guidance. The standard provides a hierarchy,
of sorts, of additional literature upon which reliance could be placed, in the absence of defin-
itive rules contained in /FRS for SMEs. First, the requirements and guidance that is set forth
for highly similar or closely related circumstances would be consulted within /FRS for SMEs.
Second, the Concepts and Pervasive Principles section (Section 2) of the standard would be
consulted, in the hopes that definitions, recognition criteria, and measurement concepts (e.g.,
for assets, revenues) would provide the preparer with sufficient guidance to reason out a val-
id solution. Third and last, full IFRS is identified explicitly as a source of instruction. Al-
though reference to US (or other) GAAP is not suggested as a tactic, since full IFRS permits
preparers to consider the requirements of national GAAP, if based on a framework similar to
full IFRS, this omission may not be fully dispositive.

Recognition and measurement simplifications. For purposes of /FRS for SMEs, IASB
has made significant simplifications to the recognition and measurement principles included
in full IFRS. Examples of the simplifications to the recognition and measurement principles
found in IFRS are as follows:

1. Financial instruments:

a. Classification of financial instruments. Only two categories for financial assets
(cost or amortized cost, and fair value through profit or loss) are provided, ra-
ther than the four found in full IFRS. Because the available-for-sale and held-
to-maturity classifications under IAS 39 are not available, there will be no need
to deal with all of the “intent-driven” held-to-maturity rules, or related “taint-
ing” concerns, with no need for an option to recognize changes in value of
available-for-sale securities in current profit or loss instead of as an item of
other comprehensive income.

(1) IFRS for SMEs requires an amortized cost model for most debt instru-
ments, using the effective interest rate as of initial recognition. The effec-
tive rate should consider all contractual terms, such as prepayment options.
Investments in nonconvertible and non-puttable preference shares and non-
puttable ordinary shares that are publicly traded or whose fair value can
otherwise be measured reliably are to be measured at fair value with
changes in value reported in current earnings. Most other basic financial
instruments are to be reported at cost less any impairment recognized. Im-
pairment or uncollectibility must always be assessed, and, if identified,
recognized immediately in profit or loss; recoveries to the extent of losses
previously taken are also recognized in profit or loss.

(2) For more complex financial instruments (such as derivatives), fair value
through profit or loss is generally the applicable measurement method,
with cost less impairment being prescribed for those instruments (such as
equity instruments lacking an objectively determinable fair value) for
which fair value cannot be ascertained.

(3) Assets that would generally not meet the criteria as being basic financial
instruments include (a) asset-backed securities, such as collateralized mort-
gage obligations, repurchase agreements and securitized packages of re-
ceivables; (b) options, rights, warrants, futures contracts, forward contracts
and interest rate swaps that can be settled in cash or by exchanging another
financial instrument; (c) financial instruments that qualify and are desig-
nated as hedging instruments in accordance with the requirements in the
standard; (d) commitments to make a loan to another entity; and (e) com-
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mitments to receive a loan if the commitment can be net settled in cash.
Such instruments would include (a) an investment in another entity’s eq-
uity instruments other than nonconvertible preference shares and nonputt-
able ordinary and preference shares; (b) an interest rate swap that returns a
cash flow that is positive or negative, or a forward commitment to pur-
chase a commodity or financial instrument that is capable of being cash-
settled and that, on settlement, could have positive or negative cash flow:
(c) options and forward contracts, because returns to the holder are not
fixed; (d) investments in convertible debt, because the return to the holder
can vary with the price of the issuer’s equity shares rather than just with
market interest rates; and (e) a loan receivable from a third party that gives
the third party the right or obligation to prepay if the applicable taxation or
accounting requirements change.

Derecognition. In general, the principle to be applied is that, if the transferor re-
tains any significant risks or rewards of ownership, derecognition is not per-
mitted, although if full control over the asset is transferred, derecognition is
valid even if some very limited risks or rewards are retained. The complex
“passthrough testing” and “control retention testing” of IAS 39 thus can be
omitted, unless full IAS 39 is optionally elected by the reporting entity. For fi-
nancial liabilities, derecognition is permitted only when the obligation is dis-
charged, cancelled, or expires.

Simplified hedge accounting. Much more simplified hedge accounting and less
strict requirements for periodic recognition and measurement of hedge effec-
tiveness are specified than those set forth by IAS 39.

Embedded Derivatives. No separate accounting for embedded derivatives is re-
quired.

(1) Goodwill impairment: An indicator approach has been adopted to super-
sede the mandatory annual impairment calculations in IFRS 3, Business
Combinations. Additionally, goodwill and other indefinite-lived assets are
considered to have finite lives, thus reducing the difficulty of assessing im-
pairment.

(2) All research and development costs are expensed as incurred (IAS 38 re-
quires capitalization after commercial viability has been assessed).

(3) The cost method or fair value through profit or loss of accounting for asso-
ciates and joint ventures may be used (rather than the equity method or
proportionate consolidation).

(4) Simplified accounting for deferred taxes: The “temporary difference ap-
proach” for recognition of deferred taxes under IAS 12, Income Taxes, is
allowed with a minor modification. Current and deferred taxes are re-
quired to be measured initially at the rate applicable to undistributed prof-
its, with adjustment in subsequent periods if the profits are distributed.

(5) Less use of fair value for agriculture (being required only if fair value is
readily determinable without undue cost or effort).

(6) Defined benefit plans. Two of the four options available under IAS 19, Em-
ployee Benefits, are allowed, that is, to recognize actuarial gains and losses
in full in profit and loss when they occur, or to recognize these in full
directly in other comprehensive income when they occur. The complex
“corridor approach” has been deleted under /FRS for SMEs.
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(7) Share-based payment: Equity-settled share-based payments should always
be recognized as an expense and the expense should be measured on the
basis of observable market prices, if available. When there is a choice of
settlement, the entity should account for the transaction as a cash-settled
transaction, except under certain circumstances.

(8) Finance leases: A simplified measurement of lessee’s rights and obliga-
tions is prescribed.

(9) First-time adoption. Less prior period data would have to be restated than
under IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards. An impracticability exemption has also been included.

Because the default measurement of financial instruments would be fair value through
profit and loss under IFRS for SMEs, some SMEs may actually be required to apply more
fair value measurements than do entities reporting under full IFRS.

Disclosure Requirements under IFRS for SMEs

There are indeed certain reductions in disclosure requirements under IFRS for SMEs vis-
a-vis full IFRS, but these are relatively minor and alone would not drive a decision to adopt
this standard. Furthermore, key stakeholders, such as banks, often prescribe supplemental
disclosures (e.g., major contracts, compensation agreements) that transcend what is required
under IFRS, and this would likely continue to be true under /FRS for SMEs.

Maintenance of the IFRS for SMEs

SME:s have expressed concerns not only over the complexity of IFRS, but also about the
frequency of changes to standards. To respond to these issues, IASB intends to update /FRS
for SMEs approximately once every three years via an “omnibus” standard, with the expecta-
tion that any new requirements would not have mandatory application dates sooner than one
year from issuance. Users are thus being assured of having a moderately stable platform of
requirements.

Implications of the IFRS for SMEs

IFRS for SMEs is a significant development that may have real impact on the future
accounting and auditing standards issued by organizations participating in the standard-
setting process.

On March 6, 2007, the FASB and the AICPA announced that the newly established
Private Company Financial Reporting Committee (PCFRC) will address the financial re-
porting needs of private companies and of the users of their financial statements. The pri-
mary objective of PCFRC will be to help the FASB determine whether and where there
should be specific differences in prospective and existing accounting standards for private
companies.

In many Continental European countries a close link exists between the statutory finan-
cial statements and the results reported for income tax purposes. The successful implementa-
tion of SME Standards will require breaking the traditional bond between the financial
statements and the income tax return, and may well trigger a need to amend company laws.

Since it is imperative that international convergence of accounting standards be accom-
panied by convergence of audit standards, differential accounting for SMEs will affect regu-
lators such as the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) and the SEC.
IFRS for SMEs may be a welcome relief for auditors as it will decrease the inherent risk that
results from the numerous choices and judgment required by management when utilizing the
full version of IFRS. The success of IFRS for SMEs will depend on the extent to which
users, preparers and their auditors believe the standards meet their needs.
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APPENDIX D
CASE STUDY TRANSITIONING FROM US GAAP TO IFRS
Background

Stolt-Nielsen S.A. (SNSA or the “Company”) is one of the world’s leading providers of
transportation services for bulk liquid chemicals, edible oils, acids, and other specialty lig-
uids. The Company, through the parcel tanker, tank container, terminal, rail and barge ser-
vices of its wholly owned subsidiary Stolt Tankers & Terminals and Stolt Tank Containers,
provides integrated transportation solutions for its customers. Stolt Sea Farm, wholly owned
by the Company, produces and markets high-quality turbot, sole, sturgeon, and caviar.
SNSA is currently listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange under the ticker SNI, and was also
listed in the US on the NASDAQ.

On April 19, 2007, the Company announced its intention to voluntarily delist from the
NASDAQ Global Select Market with effect from May 21, 2007. Further, it was no longer
subject to the registration and reporting obligations under the Securities Exchange Act. The
Company continued its listing in Norway on the Oslo Bgrs. Accordingly, the Company was
required to present its financial statements under International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) for the financial year ending November 30, 2008, and thereafter.

Legal Structure and Impact on IFRS Transition

SNSA is a Luxembourg registered company, with a “primary” listing on the Oslo Bgrs
following its delisting from NASDAQ and deregistration from the US SEC. Since its flota-
tion on the NASDAQ in 1987, SNSA prepared its financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“US GAAP”).

European Union Directive 1606/2002 required all listed companies in the European
Union' to apply IFRS for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2005, along
with comparatives for 2004, for annual consolidated financial statements. Article 9 of the
Directive provides an exemption to defer preparation of IFRS financial statements for peri-
ods beginning on or after January 1, 2007, for companies that prepare financial statements
under US GAAP. Luxembourg incorporated this exemption in its commercial legislation.
Accordingly, SNSA was required to publish its first audited IFRS financial statements for the
year ending November 30, 2008, with prior year comparatives under IFRS for the year end-
ing November 30, 2007. In addition, quarterly financial statements under IFRS are required
for each quarter of the years ending November 30, 2007 and 2008. Accordingly, the imple-
mentation timeline can be summarized as follows.

Compliance
Date

IFRS Compliance Timeline

A A A A A

Dec 1,2006 Dec 1,2007 HI2008 May 31,2008
IFRS Commence Continue monthly TFRS numbers and Fir);L Interim N;\r 30“:10;)8
Transition first full year prepare for communication with the market IFRS Financ‘irabltStalemems
Date of IFRS Financial
Reporting Statements

" At the time of the issue of this Directive, the European Union comprised 15 nations, which had
grown to 27 nations as of January 1, 2007, which is the current status as of late 2009.



Chapter 1/ Introduction to International Financial Reporting Standards 43

Key Dates

IFRS 1 defines specific milestones in the preparation of the first financial statements of a
company. The important areas to note while considering the transition date are discussed in
the following paragraphs.

Most stock exchanges around the world, including the Oslo Bgrs, require that the interim
or quarterly financial information released to the market should conform to the same ac-
counting standards applied in the presentation of the annual financial statements. For SNSA,
this meant that though the first audited IFRS financial statements were only due for the year
ending November 30, 2008, the first interim unaudited financial information to be released
under IFRS was for the quarter ended February 29, 2008! In effect, this is nine months less
than what would appear required under IFRS 1. Furthermore, this also means that the com-
parative quarterly financial statements for February 28, 2007, must also be prepared in accor-
dance with IFRS.

Another important aspect to bear in mind is that IFRS should be applied in full to the fi-
nancial statements for all the periods presented.

The key dates for financial reporting in accordance with IFRS for SNSA thus were as
follows:

Opening IFRS balance sheet (date of transition)
* Select policies
Dec 1, 2006 * Recognize and measure all items using IFRS
* Not published

First unaudited Interim Financial Statements
* Only balance sheet and income statement

May 31,2007 » Required for comparative information for 2008

IFRS comparatives
Nov 30, 2007 » For 2008 full year audited IFRS financial

First IFRS Reporting Date

¢ Use Standards in force at this date

Nov 30, 2008 e First full audited IFRS financial statements published
along with 2007 comparatives

Project Structure and Implementation Approach

One of the key determinants of the success of the implementation was tight project man-
agement and a project structure that ensured clear reporting lines and accountability for each
step. The project team structure is summarized below.
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CFO

Chairman — Steering Committee

SNSA Audit Committee

Pension Acc External
Pension Advisor

SNSA Financial Controller* SNSA External Auditors*

External IFRS Advisors* IFRS Transition Project Manager

l
S T——— !

Technical | | Reporting &
Research Presentation

Treasury Tax Business Controllers

T A A

Tanker Ship Terminals Tank Stolt Sea
Trading | | Owning Containers Farm

Overall, the implementation approach involved a mixed team of external advisors, ex-
ternal auditors and a strong in-house team at the Corporate Office to provide project man-
agement support and technical accounting support. In addition, the implementation approach
involved each of the business controllers along with an external firm to provide hands-on
support and technical expertise, both locally and at Corporate, to support the transition pro-
cess. This ensured that the ultimate ownership of an IFRS issue would rest with the business
unit, but with strong support from the Corporate Team. The business controllers were re-
quired to provide resource, input and accept responsibility for the IFRS financial statements
but were given extensive support both from the Corporate Team and involvement from the
external firm. SNSA did not have sufficient resources in the business to implement a project
of this scale, complexity, and risk. Further, a number of steps in the transition were “one-
off” in nature, and support from an external firm enabled the company to meet its objectives.

To project manage this effectively, a detailed project plan was developed, with week-by-
week targets for achievement and responsibilities assigned for deliverables. While there
were slippages, no issue was allowed to remain open for over two weeks. The project plan
and the implementation were monitored through weekly conference calls of the core team
members, including auditors and advisors.

External Auditor Involvement

SNSA’s external auditors were integrally involved with the transition project to confirm
technical accounting issues and agree treatment upfront. There are a number of areas where
the external audit firm was able to assist management as an advisor in the IFRS Transition
project. However, in order to maintain the requisite independence as auditors, the auditors
would not assist management with preparation of financial statements and detailed account-
ing advice. This independence requirement, while understandable, did make it more difficult
for both external auditors and management to achieve the key tasks within the IFRS transi-
tion project. In order to mitigate this, the company decided to appoint another Big 4 firm as
its advisor on the IFRS Transition Project.

Training

Management conducted five IFRS Transition Training Workshops, including one for the
Audit Committee, where the CEO was present. This was critical to establish buy-in and
commitment from the top at the early stage of the project. Each of the workshops was tar-
geted a different audience so there was a significant amount of customization to the training
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program. The importance of this phase cannot be overemphasized: it is vitally important to
plan this in advance. In addition to the training there were a significant element of change
management issues surrounding knowledge transfer and the ability of accounting staff to
come to a new understanding of the building blocks (or DNA) of SNSA’s financial state-
ments.

So Where Did SNSA’s IFRS Project Team Start?

After SNSA launched the IFRS Transition Project as noted above, its first step was to
understand how different the then-current US GAAP accounting treatments were when com-
pared to IFRS. This was again a critical success factor in our transition. A detailed compari-
son of IFRS and US GAAP was prepared, with assistance from both external advisors and
external auditors. This list of similarities and differences was then applied to each of
SNSA'’s four different businesses.

When IFRS implementation commences, a frequent lament may be heard—*“IFRS is
similar but not the same.” The devil of the differences was in the detailed comparison of
IFRS and US GAAP. The insight gained was this: the better and more detailed the compari-
son diagnostic, the better and smoother will be the IFRS transition. In most cases, SNSA’s
transition team continued with the US GAAP accounting treatment, albeit with some en-
hanced disclosures being added. Where IFRS offered an accounting treatment similar to US
GAAP, SNSA adopted that method. This minimized the final list of differences when tran-
sitioning to IFRS to the following:

1. Areas of significant impact under IFRS 1:

Business combinations;

Actuarial gains and losses;

Reset of cumulative translation adjustment.

Significant differences from US GAAP which may impact SNSA’s financial
statements:

* Property, Plant, and Equipment—component accounting, residual values;

* Lease accounting;

¢ Consolidation of entities;

* Equity Accounting and FIN 46[R] compared to SIC 12;

* Fair valuation of inventories of biological assets at Stolt Sea Farm;

2. Other possible areas which could result in a difference from US GAAP on
implementation:

* Impairment—two-step impairment evaluation process under US GAAP and only
a single-step discounted cash flow process under IFRS.

* Provisions—midpoint of an estimate under IFRS not the “best estimate” under
US GAAP.

* Probabilistic evaluation of provisions—higher threshold of “probable” under US
GAAP than under IFRS.

* Business Combinations.

* Employee Benefits—Defined benefit pension schemes.

* Financial instruments, including onerous disclosure requirements under IFRS 7.

* Deferred Tax assets—classification and measurement.

 Stock options—under IFRS, graded vesting of options must be accounted for us-
ing the accelerated attribution method not straight-line method.
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When each and every accounting policy, treatment or disclosure is carefully considered
as the transition to IFRS progresses, there will still be some risk that there may have been
errors in the implementation of US GAAP.

SNSA also ran the comparative diagnostic on its equity method investees and joint ven-
tures. One significant change from US GAAP noted during transition was that the equity
method investees and joint ventures not only had to comply with IFRS, but had to have IFRS
accounting policies which were consistent with those of the rest of the company. In addition,
the accounting period had to be coterminous to the year-end of the parent. This also raised a
number of IFRS 1 issues in relation to when a subsidiary adopts IFRS and how the change to
IFRS could affect the dividend distribution ability of that subsidiary. This matter is particu-
larly important if there is a local legal requirement to have sufficient distributable reserves,
which under IFRS could be lower than under current local accounting standards.

After completing the comparison diagnostic, we identified four additional areas to con-
sider when transitioning to IFRS.

* Corporate finance—if key numbers on which certain debt covenants are based change
due to the transition to IFRS then early discussion and negotiation with the banks is
critical.

* Tax—involvement of the tax team at the early stages so that they are aware of the
transition differences and the impact on tax.

* Human resources—impact of transition to IFRS on key metrics and incentive plans.

¢ Technology—changes required in the consolidation systems and in the general ledger
accounting systems.

* Internal controls—IFRS requires a higher level of judgement and estimation than US
GAAP. This means the controls and process surrounding accounting judgements and
estimate must be robust since it will be challenged by the internal controls testing
process.

* Investor relations—it is never to early to start thinking about how the message of
transitioning to IFRS will be communicated to the market. There are a number of ex-
cellent examples of European Companies that made detailed presentations to investors
in 2005 and 2006 to show how they moved from their local GAAP to IFRS.

Materiality

When the GAAP comparison diagnostic is completed, it is extremely important to con-
sider those areas where the measurement differences between US GAAP and IFRS might be
“not material.” The difficulty with ignoring some differences on the grounds of “materiality”
is that the external audit firms will continue to collect these differences on their schedule of
passed audit adjustments. Such “not material” differences could become material under the
guidance of SAB 99 and SAB 108.

Treatment of Significant Accounting Differences on Transition Opening Balance Sheet
under IFRS

An IFRS Transition generally has two kinds of difference—the first one is the difference
only on transition and then does not occur each year. The second difference is the one that is
a recurring difference. Both these differences need to be recorded in the accounting ledgers
in the respective entities.

SNSA’s reconciliation of shareholders’ equity from US GAAP to IFRS at each of its key
transition dates is summarized below.
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Dec. 1, May 31, Nov. 30,

In millions 2006 2007 2007
Consolidated US GAAP equity $1,172.6  $1,295.2 $1,354.5
IAS 37 — Record provision in accordance with IFRS (a) (1.9) - -
IFRS 1/IAS 19 — Pension and Other Postretirement Employee

Benefits (“OPEB”) adjustment (b) (19.3) (14.4) 0.7)
IAS 41 — Fair value of biological assets (c) 229 10.8 12.4
TAS 16 — Componentization of Tankers’ ships (d) (8.1) (8.2) (8.4)
IAS 16 — Adjustment to residual value of tank containers (e) 5.6 6.0 6.7
Reclassification of minority interest to equity 0.3 2.3 10.9
Other items (0.8) 0.2) (5.6)
Net changes (1.3) 3.7) 15.3
Consolidated equity under IFRS $1,171.3  $1,291.5 $1,369.8

(a) Measurement of Provisions in accordance with IFRS

Under US GAAP, if a range of estimates is present and no amount in the range is
more likely than any other amount in the range, the provision should be measured at
the minimum of the range. However, in these circumstances, IAS 37, Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, requires the midpoint in the range to be
used if all outcomes are equally likely. At December 1, 2006, SNSA had entered into
negotiations with certain customers with regard to their claims in which the lower
range of possible settlements was recognized under US GAAP. The use of the mid-
point in the range had resulted in a $1.9 million reduction in retained earnings under
IFRS at December 1, 2006 and an increase in revenue of the same amount for the
year ended November 30, 2007, as this amount was recognized in the quarters ended
February 28, 2007 and May 31, 2007 under US GAAP.

(b) Recognition of Previously Unrecognized Actuarial Losses on Pension and Other
Postretirement Employee Benefits

Under US GAAP, the SNSA applied the “corridor” method in relation to the
recognition of actuarial gains and losses through the profit and loss. Under this ap-
proach, only actuarial gains and losses that fall outside 10% of the projected benefit
obligation or, if greater, pension assets are recognized through the profit and loss
over the expected average remaining working lives of employees participating in the
plan. In accordance with IFRS 1, SNSA recognized all cumulative actuarial gains
and losses at December 1, 2006, resulting in a reduction of $23.3 million to retained
earnings.

In addition, US GAAP allows the amortization of prior service costs over the
expected service life of the employees involved, while IFRS requires prior service
costs to be recognized immediately, if they are already vested. IFRS also requires
that all plans have the same measurement date as the SNSA’s year-end, which re-
sulted in a change in the present value of the funded obligations for one plan. Both of
these items have resulted in a $4.0 million credit to retained earnings at December 1,
2006. SNSA had adopted FAS 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pen-
sion and Other Postretirement Plans for the year ended November 30, 2007.
FAS 158 requires an employer to recognize the funded status of a defined benefit
plan, measured as the difference between plan assets and the projected benefit obli-
gation, in its consolidated balance sheet.

For this reason, the net change between the numbers previously reported under
US GAAP and those reported under IFRS was only about $0.7 million at Novem-
ber 30, 2007, and $0.8 million for the six months ended May 31, 2007.
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(c) Fair Value of Biological Assets

Under US GAAP, SNSA reported its biological assets at cost and classified them
as part of inventories. Under IAS 41, Agriculture, biological assets are required to be
recorded at fair value and separately disclosed on the balance sheet. This resulted in
an increase in current assets of $17.2 million and $13.0 million (with a deferred tax
effect of $5.0 million and $4.5 million) at November 30, 2007, and December 1,
2006, respectively. For the six months ended May 31, 2007, this resulted in a $13.7
million decrease in net profit. Similarly, there was a $14.4 million increase to In-
vestment in and Loans to Marine Harvest at December 1, 2006. This represents
SNSA’s 25% share of the fair value of biological assets in respect of Marine Harvest.
This adjustment also reduced the gain recorded under IFRS on sale of investment in
discontinued operations for the year ended November 30, 2007, from $21.8 million
to $7.4 million.

(d) Componentization of Ships

Under IAS 16, Property, Plant, and Equipment, each component of an asset that
has an expected useful life that is significantly different in relation to the total cost of
the asset must be depreciated separately, while US GAAP does not explicitly require
this treatment (although widely practiced). Following this policy for Tankers’ ship
components (including ships held by unconsolidated joint ventures) resulted in a de-
crease in retained earnings of $8.1 million at December 1, 2006. The effect of this
adjustment for the six months ended May 31, 2007, was an increase in depreciation
expense of approximately $0.1 million.

(e) Residual Value of Tank Containers

Under US GAAP, estimates of residual value of assets are reviewed only when
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the current estimates are no longer
appropriate, while IFRS requires that estimates of residual values are reviewed at
least at each annual reporting date. Applying this policy and assessing the current
expected residual value of the SNSA’s tank containers at December 1, 2006, resulted
in an increase in retained earnings of $5.6 million at transition date, $6.0 million at
May 31, 2007, and $6.7 million at November 30, 2007. The effect for the six months
ended May 31, 2007, of this adjustment is approximately $0.5 million decrease in
depreciation expense.

Reconciliations of the consolidated balance sheets as of December 1, 2006, and
November 30, 2007, and consolidated income statements for the four quarters and
year ended November 30, 2007, from US GAAP to IFRS are included at the
Company’s Web site (www.stolt-nielsen.com/Investor-Relations/Accounting-
Policies.aspx)

(f) Application of IFRS 1 Exemption to Adjust Currency Translation Reserve to Zero

Under US GAAP, on consolidation, assets and liabilities of subsidiaries are
translated into US dollars from their functional currencies at the exchange rates in ef-
fect at the balance sheet date while revenues and expenses are translated at the aver-
age rate prevailing during the year. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded
in a separate component of “Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss),
net.” While this is not different from IFRS, the Company has utilized an exemption
in IFRS 1, which allows the cumulative translation reserve to be set to zero at the
date of transition for all its foreign operations. Consequently, subsequent to the date
of transition, amounts previously recognized in net income under US GAAP as a re-
sult of the sale of foreign operations of $3.1 million, have been reversed under IFRS.
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Other significant accounting differences on transition.

Additional share option expense in relation to stock options with graded vesting fea-
tures.

The Company grants several share options to its employees that contain graded vesting
conditions. Graded vesting conditions exist whereby options granted vest in equal annual
tranches over a specified period, equal tranches of 25% of the options granted each year over
a four-year period.

Under US GAAP, the compensation cost of stock options with graded vesting features is
amortized on a straight-line basis over the longest vesting period for the entire share option
grant.

Under IFRS 2, each of the tranches must be treated as a separate option grant and the
compensation cost is recognized as the options vest for each tranche. Therefore, the IFRS
approach accelerates the compensation cost amortization to earlier periods in the overall
vesting period. As a result, an adjustment has been recorded to retained earnings as of De-
cember 1, 2006, for $3.6 million of additional stock option compensation costs for options
granted since 2000, and a further $1.0 million expense recorded for the year-end Novem-
ber 30, 2007.

Impairment of goodwill. Under US GAAP, goodwill is tested for impairment at the re-
porting unit level, which is an operating segment or one step below while under IAS 36, Im-
pairment of Assets, goodwill is tested at the cash generating unit level that represents the
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored by management. The use of the cash generating
unit level has resulted in the full impairment of goodwill for one cash-generating unit at the
date of transition.

Adjustment to equity investment for gain on ship sale. Under US GAAP, when a com-
pany sells an asset and immediately leases it back under an operating lease, a proportion of
the gain is deferred on the balance sheet when certain conditions are met. The deferred
amount is amortized in proportion to the method through which the related gross rental is
charged to expense over the lease life.

Under IFRS, if the asset was sold at fair value, any gain or loss is recognized immedi-
ately. In the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company’s 50% owned joint venture, NYK Stolt
Tankers S.A. (“NST”), sold the Stolt Alliance at fair value and immediately leased it back.
This resulted in a $5.8 million gain of which $3.8 million was deferred on the balance sheet
under US GAAP.

Under IFRS, this amount, $3.8 million, of which the Company’s share is $1.9 million,
has been recognized in Other Income.

Severance accrual. Under US GAAP, if employees are required to render services be-
yond a minimum period until they are terminated in order to receive a termination payment, a
liability for terminated benefits is measured initially at the date of communication to the
relevant employees, based on the fair value of the liability as of the termination date. The
liability is then recognized ratably over the future service period. Under IFRS, the liability is
recorded immediately. Adoption of this policy resulted in a decrease in retained earnings at
November 30, 2007, of $0.8 million and a decrease in net profit for 2007 of $0.7 million.

Balance sheet and income statement reclassifications. The following represents ad-
ditional balance sheet and income statement reclassifications required by IFRS.

Deconsolidation of Lingang Terminal. The Company has a 65% ownership in Tianjin
Stolthaven Lingang Terminal Co. (“Lingang Terminal”) which is a development stage entity
and in the process of building a terminal facility. Under US GAAP, the Company is required
to consolidate this entity as it was considered to be a variable interest entity under FIN 46(R),
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, and the Company was the primary beneficiary.
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However, under IFRS the Lingang Terminal meets the definition of a joint venture as there is
joint control over the entity, and so the entity has been accounted for under equity account-
ing.

Reclassification of minority interest to equity. Under US GAAP, minority interest is
displayed as a long-term liability. IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, and 1AS 27,
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, require minority interests to be presented
within equity.

Reclassification of software to intangible assets. Under US GAAP, computer software
is included in property, plant and equipment. In accordance with IAS 38, Intangible Assets,
when the software is not an integral part of the related hardware, computer software should
be classified as an intangible asset. Accordingly, $3.3 million and $3.1 million of computer
software that is not integral to any associated hardware were reclassified from property, plant
and equipment to intangible assets on transition to IFRS at November 30, 2007 and Decem-
ber 1, 2006, respectively.

Reclassification of drydocking asset to property, plant, and equipment. Capitalized
costs related to the drydocking of ships are treated as a separate component of tankers under
IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment. Accordingly they are classified as property, plant
and equipment under IFRS while they are recorded as an Other Long-Term Asset under US
GAAP.

Reclassification of short-term deferred tax assets and liabilities. Under US GAAP, de-
ferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as either current or noncurrent based upon the
classification of the related asset or liability.

A deferred tax liability or asset that is not related to an asset or liability recognised in the
balance sheet such as losses carryforwards, is classified according to the expected reversal
date of the temporary difference. Under IAS 12, Income Taxes, all deferred tax assets and
liabilities are classified as noncurrent regardless of the classification of the related asset or
liability and regardless of the expected timing of reversal of the temporary difference.

Reclassification of debt issuance costs against current portion of long-term debt and
long-term debt. Under IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, trans-
action costs directly attributable to a debt are recorded against the debt on initial recognition.
Under US GAAP, debt issuance costs are recognized as Other Assets. This has required a
reclassification of $5.1 million and $6.1 million from Other Assets to both the Current Por-
tion of Long-Term Debt and to Long-Term Debt at November 30, 2007, and December 1,
2006, respectively.

Transfer of minimum pension liability adjustments to retained earnings. Under US
GAAP, if the accumulated benefit obligation is greater than the value of the plan assets, a
minimum liability must be recognized in the balance sheet for the unfunded accumulated
pension liability. In cases where an additional minimum liability is required, a portion is rec-
ognized as a component of other comprehensive income.

There is no concept of an additional minimum pension liability under IAS 19, Employee
Benefits. Therefore, amounts recognized in other comprehensive income under US GAAP
have been reclassified to retained earnings on adoption of IFRS.

More detailed information on SNSA’s IFRS Transition, including accounting policies,
reconciliations of the consolidated balance sheets as of December 1, 2006, and November 30,
2007, and consolidated income statements for the four quarters and year ended Novem-
ber 30, 2007, from US GAAP to IFRS are included in the Company’s Web site:
http://www.stolt-nielsen.com/Investor-Relations/Accounting-Policies.aspx.
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APPENDIX E
USE OF PRESENT VALUE IN ACCOUNTING

Present value is a pervasive concept that has many applications in accounting. Most
significantly, present value of future cash flows is widely recognized and accepted as one
approach to the assessment of fair value, which is commonly invoked in various accounting
standards. Currently, IFRS does not provide specific guidance to this subject matter, but in
recognition of its importance, guidance drawn from US GAAP’s Concepts Statement 7
(CON 7) is summarized on the following pages.

CON 7 provides a framework for using estimates of future cash flows as the basis for
accounting measurements either at initial recognition or when assets are subsequently remea-
sured at fair value (fresh-start measurements). It also provides a framework for using the
interest method of amortization. It provides the principles that govern measurement using
present value, especially when the amount of future cash flows, their timing, or both are un-
certain. However, it does not address recognition questions, such as which transactions and
events should be valued using present value measures or when fresh-start measurements are
appropriate.

Fair value is the objective for most measurements at initial recognition and for fresh-
start measurements in subsequent periods. At initial recognition, the cash paid or received
(historical cost or proceeds) is usually assumed to be fair value, absent evidence to the con-
trary. For fresh-start measurements, a price that is observed in the marketplace for an essen-
tially similar asset or liability is fair value. If purchase prices and market prices are avail-
able, there is no need to use alternative measurement techniques to approximate fair value.
However, if alternative measurement techniques must be used for initial recognition and for
fresh-start measurements, those techniques should attempt to capture the elements that when
taken together would comprise a market price if one existed. The objective is to estimate the
price likely to exist in the marketplace if there were a marketplace—fair value.

CON 7 states that the only objective of using present value in accounting measurements
is fair value. It is necessary to capture, to the extent possible, the economic differences in the
marketplace between sets of estimated future cash flows. A present value measurement that
fully captures those differences must include the following elements:

1. An estimate of the future cash flow, or in more complex cases, series of future cash
flows at different times
2. Expectations about possible variations in the amount or timing of those cash flows
3. The time value of money, represented by the risk-free rate of interest
4. The risk premium—the price for bearing the uncertainty inherent in the asset or
liability
5. Other factors, including illiquidity and market imperfections
How CON 7 measures differ from previously utilized present value techniques.
Previously employed present value techniques typically used a single set of estimated cash
flows and a single discount (interest) rate. In applying those techniques, adjustments for
factors 2. through 5. described in the previous paragraph are incorporated in the selection of
the discount rate. In the CON 7 approach, only the third factor listed (the time value of
money) is included in the discount rate; the other factors cause adjustments in arriving at
risk-adjusted expected cash flows. CON 7 introduces the probability-weighted, expected
cash flow approach, which focuses on the range of possible estimated cash flows and esti-
mates of their respective probabilities of occurrence.
Previous techniques used to compute present value used estimates of the cash flows
most likely to occur. CON 7 refines and enhances the precision of this model by weighting
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different cash flow scenarios (regarding the amounts and timing of cash flows) by their esti-
mated probabilities of occurrence and factoring these scenarios into the ultimate determina-
tion of fair value. The difference is that values are assigned to the cash flows other than the
most likely one. To illustrate, a cash flow might be €100, €200, or €300 with probabilities of
10%, 50% and 40%, respectively. The most likely cash flow is the one with 50% probabil-
ity, or €200. The expected cash flow is €230 (= €100 x .1) + (€200 x .5) + (€300 x .4).

The CON 7 method, unlike previous present value techniques, can also accommodate
uncertainty in the timing of cash flows. For example, a cash flow of €10,000 may be re-
ceived in one year, two years, or three years with probabilities of 15%, 60%, and 25%, re-
spectively. Traditional present value techniques would compute the present value using the
most likely timing of the payment—two years. The example below shows the computation
of present value using the CON 7 method. Again, the expected present value of €9,030 dif-
fers from the traditional notion of a best estimate of €9,070 (the 60% probability) in this ex-
ample.

Present value of €10,000 in one year discounted at 5% €9,523

Multiplied by 15% probability €1,428
Present value of €10,000 in two years discounted at 5% 9,070

Multiplied by 60% probability 5,442
Present value of €10,000 in three years discounted at 5% 8,638

Multiplied by 25% probability 2,160
Probability weighted expected present value €9,030

Measuring liabilities. The measurement of liabilities involves different problems from
the measurement of assets; however, the underlying objective is the same. When using pres-
ent value techniques to estimate the fair value of a liability, the objective is to estimate the
value of the assets required currently to (1) settle the liability with the holder or (2) transfer
the liability to an entity of comparable credit standing. To estimate the fair value of an en-
tity’s notes or bonds payable, accountants look to the price at which other entities are willing
to hold the entity’s liabilities as assets. For example, the proceeds of a loan are the price that
a lender paid to hold the borrower’s promise of future cash flows as an asset.

The most relevant measurement of an entity’s liabilities should always reflect the credit
standing of the entity. An entity with a good credit standing will receive more cash for its
promise to pay than an entity with a poor credit standing. For example, if two entities both
promise to pay €750 in three years with no stated interest payable in the interim, Entity A,
with a good credit standing, might receive about €630 (a 6% interest rate). Entity B, with a
poor credit standing, might receive about €533 (a 12% interest rate). Each entity initially
records its respective liability at fair value, which is the amount of proceeds received—an
amount that incorporates that entity’s credit standing.

Present value techniques can also be used to value a guarantee of a liability. Assume
that Entity B in the above example owes Entity C. If Entity A were to assume the debt, it
would want to be compensated €630—the amount that it could get in the marketplace for its
promise to pay €750 in three years. The difference between what Entity A would want to
take the place of Entity B (€630) and the amount that Entity B receives (€533) is the value of
the guarantee (€97).

Interest method of allocation. CON 7 describes the factors that suggest that an interest
method of allocation should be used. It states that the interest method of allocation is more
relevant than other methods of cost allocation when it is applied to assets and liabilities that
exhibit one or more of the following characteristics:

1. The transaction is, in substance, a borrowing and lending transaction.
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2. Period-to-period allocation of similar assets or liabilities employs an interest meth-

od.

3. A particular set of estimated future cash flows is closely associated with the asset or

liability.

4. The measurement at initial recognition was based on present value.

Accounting for changes in expected cash flows. If the timing or amount of estimated
cash flows changes and the asset or liability is not remeasured at a fresh-start measure, the
interest method of allocation should be altered by a catch-up approach. That approach ad-
justs the carrying amount to the present value of the revised estimated future cash flows, dis-
counted at the original effective interest rate.

Application of present value tables and formulas.

Present value of a single future amount. To take the present value of a single amount
that will be paid in the future, apply the following formula; where PV is the present value of
€1 paid in the future, r is the interest rate per period, and » is the number of periods between
the current date and the future date when the amount will be realized.

1
PV = (I+1)"

In many cases the results of this formula are summarized in a present value factor table.
(n)

Periods 2% 3% 4% 5% 6% 7% 8% 9% 10%
1 0.9804 0.9709 0.9615 0.9524 0.9434 0.9346 0.9259 0.9174 0.9091
2 0.9612 0.9426 0.9246 0.9070 0.8900 0.8734 0.8573 0.8417 0.8265
3 0.9423 0.9151 0.8890 0.8638 0.8396 0.8163 0.7938 0.7722 0.7513
4 0.9239 0.8885 0.8548 0.8227 0.7921 0.7629 0.7350 0.7084 0.6830
5 0.9057 0.8626 0.8219 0.7835 0.7473 0.7130 0.6806 0.6499 0.6209

Example

Suppose one wishes to determine how much would need to be invested today to have
€10,000 in five years if the sum invested would earn 8%. Looking across the row with n = 5 and
finding the present value factor for the r = 8% column, the factor of 0.6806 would be identified.
Multiplying €10,000 by 0.6806 results in €6,806, the amount that would need to be invested today
to have €10,000 at the end of five years. Alternatively, using a calculator and applying the present
value of a single sum formula, one could multiply €10,000 by 1/(1 + .08)’, which would also give
the same answer—€6,806.

Present value of a series of equal payments (an annuity). Many times in business situ-
ations a series of equal payments paid at equal time intervals is required. Examples of these
include payments of semiannual bond interest and principal or lease payments. The present
value of each of these payments could be added up to find the present value of this annuity,
or alternatively a much simpler approach is available. The formula for calculating the pres-
ent value of an annuity of €1 payments over n periodic payments, at a periodic interest rate of

ris
i 1
PV Annuity=| 1-
(1+1)"




54 Wiley IFRS 2010

The results of this formula are summarized in an annuity present value factor table.
(n)

Periods 2% 3% 4% 5% 6% 7% 8% 9% 10%
1 0.9804 0.9709 0.9615 0.9524 0.9434 0.9346 0.9259 0.9174 0.9091
2 1.9416 1.9135 1.8861 1.8594 1.8334 1.8080 1.7833 1.7591 1.7355
3 2.8839 2.8286 2.7751 2.7233 2.6730 2.6243 2.5771 2.5313 2.4869
4 3.8077 3.7171 3.6299 3.5460 3.4651 3.3872 3.3121 3.2397 3.1699
5 4.7135 4.5797 44518 4.3295 4.2124 4.1002 3.9927 3.8897 3.7908

Example

Suppose four annual payments of €1,000 will be needed to satisfy an agreement with a sup-
plier. What would be the amount of the liability today if the interest rate the supplier is charging
is 6% per year? Using the table to get the present value factor, then n = 4 periods row, and the 6%
column, gives you a factor of 3.4651. Multiply this by €1,000 and you get a liability of €3,465.10
that should be recorded. Using the formula would also give you the same answer with r = 6% and
n=4.

Caution must be exercised when payments are not to be made on an annual basis. If

payments are on a semiannual basis n = 8, but 7 is now 3%. This is because r is the periodic
interest rate, and the semiannual rate would not be 6%, but half of the 6% annual rate. Note

that
ally

this is somewhat simplified, since due to the effect of compound interest 3% semiannu-
is slightly more than a 6% annual rate.

Example of the relevance of present values

A measurement based on the present value of estimated future cash flows provides more rel-
evant information than a measurement based on the undiscounted sum of those cash flows. For
example, consider the following four future cash flows, all of which have an undiscounted value
of €100,000:

1. Asset A has a fixed contractual cash flow of €100,000 due tomorrow. The cash flow is
certain of receipt.

2. Asset B has a fixed contractual cash flow of €100,000 due in twenty years. The cash
flow is certain of receipt.

3. Asset C has a fixed contractual cash flow of €100,000 due in twenty years. The amount
that ultimately will be received is uncertain. There is an 80% probability that the entire
€100,000 will be received. There is a 20% probability that €80,000 will be received.

4. Asset D has an expected cash flow of €100,000 due in twenty years. The amount that
ultimately will be received is uncertain. There is a 25% probability that €120,000 will
be received. There is a 50% probability that €100,000 will be received. There is a 25%
probability that €80,000 will be received.

Assuming a 5% risk-free rate of return, the present values of the assets are

1. Asset A has a present value of €99,986. The time value of money assigned to the one-
day period is €14(€100,000 x .05/365 days).

2. Asset B has a present value of €37,689 [€100,000/(1 + .05)™].

3. Asset C has a present value of €36,181 [(€100,000 x .8 + 80,000 x .2)/(1 +.05)].

4. Asset D has a present value of €37,689 [€120,000 x .25 + 100,000 x .5 + 80,000 x
25)/(1 +.05)™].

Although each of these assets has the same undiscounted cash flows, few would argue that
they are economically the same or that a rational investor would pay the same price for each. In-
vestors require compensation for the time value of money. They also require a risk premium.
That is, given a choice between Asset B with expected cash flows that are certain and Asset D
with cash flows of the same expected amount that are uncertain, investors will place a higher value
on Asset B, even though they have the same expected present value. CON 7 says that the risk
premium should be subtracted from the expected cash flows before applying the discount rate.
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Thus, if the risk premium for Asset D was €500, the risk-adjusted present values would be
€37,500 {[(€120,000 x .25 + 100,000 x .5 + 80,000 x .25) — 500]/(1 + .05)*}.

Practical matters. Like any accounting measurement, the application of an expected
cash flow approach is subject to a cost-benefit constraint. The cost of obtaining additional
information must be weighed against the additional reliability that information will bring to
the measurement. As a practical matter, an entity that uses present value measurements often
has little or no information about some or all of the assumptions that investors would use in
assessing the fair value of an asset or a liability. Instead, the entity must use the information
that is available to it without undue cost and effort when it develops cash flow estimates.
The entity’s own assumptions about future cash flows can be used to estimate fair value us-
ing present value techniques, as long as there are no contrary data indicating that investors
would use different assumptions. However, if contrary data exist, the entity must adjust its
assumptions to incorporate that market information.
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PERSPECTIVE AND ISSUES

As set forth by the IASB’s Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Finan-
cial Statements (“Framework”), the objective of financial reporting is to provide information
about the financial position, performance, and changes in financial position of an entity that
is useful to a wide range of users in making economic decisions. Although financial state-
ments prepared for this purpose meet the common needs of most users, they do not provide
all the information that users may need to make economic decisions since they largely por-
tray the financial effects of past events and do not necessarily provide nonfinancial informa-
tion.

In the past, many considered the lack of guidance on the presentation of the financial
statements under IFRS to be a significant impediment to the achievement of comparability
among the financial statements. Users previously expressed concerns that information in
financial statements was highly aggregated and inconsistently presented, making it difficult
to fully understand the relationship among the financial statements and financial results of
the reporting entity.

Since mid-2004, the IASB and the FASB have been jointly pursuing a project on Finan-
cial Statement Presentation (originally entitled Performance Reporting, and conducted inde-
pendently by IASB and FASB prior to April 2004) that should culminate in a common, high-
quality standard for presentation of information in the basic financial statements, including
the classification and display of line items and the aggregation of line items into subtotals
and totals. The objective of this joint project is to develop standards guiding the presentation
of financial statements that would provide information to investors, creditors, and other fi-
nancial statement users that is useful in assessing an entity’s
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» Present and past financial position

* Business (operating, investing), financing and other activities that caused changes in
an entity’s financial position (and their components)

e Amounts, timing, and uncertainty of future cash flows.

The project on financial statement presentation is being conducted in three phases:

* Phase A addressed what constitutes a complete set of financial statement and require-
ments to present comparative information (absent from US GAAP). The IASB and
FASB have completed deliberations on this Phase, and the current IAS 1 revised in
2007, in effect from 2009, is the result of the undertaking.

* Phase B addresses more fundamental issues for presenting information on the face of
the financial statements, including: consistent principles for aggregating information
in each financial statement; the totals and subtotals that should be reported in each fi-
nancial statement; and whether the direct or the indirect method of presenting operat-
ing cash flows provides more useful information. In late 2008 a Discussion Paper was
issued on this phase of the project, following two years’ development. Portions of this
Discussion Paper are considered later in this chapter.

* Phase C will address interim financial reporting. As of late 2009, the IASB has not
yet begun deliberations on this topic.

The revised IAS 1 presented in this chapter, resulted from the IASB’s deliberations on
Phase A of the Financial Statement Presentation project, and brings IAS 1 largely into line
with the corresponding US standard—Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 130
(FAS 130), Reporting Comprehensive Income. The FASB decided that it would not publish
a separate standard on this phase of the project but will expose issues pertinent to this and the
next phase together in the future.

In October 2008, the IASB and FASB published for public comment a discussion paper,
Preliminary Views on Financial Statement Presentation, which is discussed later in this
chapter.

Based on the working principles of this project, financial statements should present
information in a manner that:

» Reflects a cohesive financial picture of an entity’s activities;

* Presents separately an entity’s financing activities from its business and other activi-
ties and further separates financing activities with owners from all other financing ac-
tivities;

* Disaggregates information so that it is useful in predicting an entity’s future cash
flows;

* Helps users in assessing an entity’s liquidity and financial flexibility; and

* Helps users in understanding the bases used for measuring assets and liabilities, the
uncertainty in measurements and the difference between cash-based accounting and
accrual accounting.

Sources of IFRS
IAS 1,7,8, 10, 12, 18, 24, 27, 33, 34
IFRS 5,8

Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements

DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

Comprehensive income. The change in equity (net assets) of an entity during a period
from transactions and other events and circumstances from nonowner sources. It includes all
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changes in net assets during a period, except those resulting from investments by owners and
distributions to owners. It thus comprises all components of “profit or loss” and “other com-
prehensive income” presented in the statement of comprehensive income.

Direct method. A method that derives the net cash provided by or used in operating ac-
tivities from major components of operating cash receipts and payments.

Discontinued operations. IFRS 5 defines a “discontinued operation” as a component of
an entity that has been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and

1. Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations;
2. s part of a single coordinated disposal plan;
3. Is asubsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Expenses. Decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of
outflows or depletions of assets or incurring liabilities that result in decreases in equity, other
than those relating to distributions to equity participants. The term expenses is broad enough
to include losses as well as normal categories of expenses; thus, IFRS differs from the corre-
sponding US GAAP standard, which deems losses to be a separate and distinct element to be
accounted for, denoting decreases in equity from peripheral or incidental transactions.

Financing activities. The transactions and other events that cause changes in the size
and composition of an entity’s capital and borrowings.

General-purpose financial statements. The financial statements intended to meet the
needs of users who are not in a position to require an entity to prepare reports tailored to their
particular information needs, comprising the statement of financial position, statement of
comprehensive income, separate income statement (if presented), statement of changes in
equity, and statement of cash flows.

Impracticable. Applying a requirement is impracticable when the entity cannot apply it
after making every reasonable effort to do so.

Income. Increases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of in-
flows or enhancements of assets that result in increases in equity, other than those relating to
contributions from equity participants. The IASB’s Framework clarifies that this definition
of income encompasses both revenue and gains. As with expenses and losses, the corres-
ponding US GAAP standard holds that revenues and gains constitute two separate elements
of financial reporting, with gains denoting increases in equity from peripheral or incidental
transactions.

Indirect (reconciliation) method. A method that derives the net cash provided by or
used in operating activities by adjusting profit (loss) for the effects of transactions of a
noncash nature, any deferrals or accruals of past or future operating cash receipts or pay-
ments, and items of income or expense associated with investing or financing activities.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Standards and Interpretations
adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) which comprise

1. International Financial Reporting Standards

2. International Accounting Standards, and

3. Interpretations developed by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC) or the former Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC).

Investing activities. The acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other invest-
ments not included in cash equivalents.

Material omissions or misstatements. Those omissions and misstatements that could,
individually or collectively, influence the economic decisions that users make on the basis of
the financial statements. Materiality depends on the size and nature of the omission or mis-
statement judged in the surrounding circumstances. The size or nature of the item, or a com-
bination of both, could be the determining factor.
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Net assets. Total assets minus total liabilities (which is thus equivalent to owners’ eq-
uity).

Notes. Information provided in addition to that presented in the financial statements,
which comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory infor-
mation, including narrative descriptions or disaggregation of items presented in those state-
ments as well as information about items that do not qualify for recognition in those state-
ments.

Operating activities. The transactions and other events not classified as financing or
investing activities. In general, operating activities are principal revenue-producing activities
of an entity that enter into the determination of profit or loss, including the sale of goods and
the rendering of services.

Other comprehensive income. The total of income less expenses (including reclassifi-
cation adjustments) from nonowner sources that are not recognized in profit or loss as re-
quired or permitted by other IFRS or Interpretations. The components of other comprehen-
sive income include (1) changes in revaluation surplus (IAS 16 and IAS 38); (2) actuarial
gains and losses on defined benefit plans (IAS 19); (3) translation gains and losses (IAS 21);
(4) gains and losses on remeasuring available-for-sale financial assets (IAS 39) and (5) the
effective portion of gains and losses on hedging instruments in a cash flow hedge (IAS 39).

Profit or loss. The total of income less expenses, excluding the components of other
comprehensive income.

Realization. The process of converting noncash resources and rights into money or,
more precisely, the sale of an asset for cash or claims to cash.

Reclassification adjustments. Amounts reclassified to profit or loss in the current peri-
od that were recognized in other comprehensive income in the current or previous periods.

Recognition. The process of formally recording or incorporating in the financial state-
ments of an entity items that meet the definition of an element and satisfy the criteria for rec-
ognition.

Statement of changes in equity. As prescribed by IAS 1, an entity should present, as a
separate financial statement, a statement of changes in equity showing

1. Total comprehensive income for the period (reporting separately amounts attribut-
able to owners of the parent and to any noncontrolling interest);

2. For each component of equity, the effect of retrospective application or retrospec-
tive restatement recognized in accordance with IAS §;

3. The amounts of transactions with owners in their capacity as owners, showing sepa-
rately contributions by and distributions to owners; and

4. A reconciliation for each component of equity (each class of share capital and each
reserve) between the carrying amounts at the beginning and the end of the period,
separately disclosing each movement.

Statement of comprehensive income. A statement of comprehensive income presents
all components of “profit or loss” and “other comprehensive income” in a single statement,
with net income being an intermediate caption. Alternatively, IAS 1 permits the use of a
two-statement format, with a separate income statement and a statement of comprehensive
income. An entity which adopts a policy of recognizing actuarial gains and losses in accor-
dance with IAS 19 is required to present these gains and losses in the statement of compre-
hensive income. This statement highlights items of income and expense that are not recog-
nized in the income statement, and it reports all changes in equity, including net income,
other than those resulting from investments by and distributions to owners.
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Under IFRS, a clear distinction must be maintained between transactions with nonown-
ers and those with owners (exclusive of transactions with owners in nonowner capacities,
e.g., as customers or vendors). Thus, in contrast to the parallel standard under US GAAP
(upon which revised IAS 1 was heavily based), items of other comprehensive income cannot
be reported in the statement of changes in equity. The “one statement” and “two statement”
alternatives to reporting comprehensive income are the only permitted choices under IFRS.

CONCEPTS, RULES, AND EXAMPLES
General Concepts

Financial statements are a central feature of financial reporting—a principal means
through which an entity communicates its financial information to those outside it. The IASB
Framework describes the basic concepts by which financial statements are prepared. It does
so by defining the objective of financial statements; identifying the qualitative characteristics
that make information in financial statements useful; and defining the basic elements of fi-
nancial statements and the concepts for recognizing and measuring them in financial state-
ments.

The elements of financial statements are the broad classifications and groupings which
convey the substantive financial effects of transactions and events on the reporting entity. To
be included in the financial statements, an event or transaction must meet definitional, recog-
nition, and measurement requirements, all of which are set forth in the Framework.

How an entity presents information in its financial statements, for example, how assets,
liabilities, equity, revenues, expenses, gains, losses and cash flows should be grouped into
line items and categories and which subtotals and totals should be presented, is of great im-
portance in communicating financial information to those who use that information to make
decisions (e.g., capital providers).

The revised IAS 1, issued in 2007, affected the presentation of changes in equity and the
presentation of comprehensive income and is intended to improve the usefulness of financial
statements. In the past, many considered the lack of guidance on the presentation of the fi-
nancial statements in accordance with IFRS as a significant impediment to the achievement
of comparability of the financial statements. Many users had expressed concerns that infor-
mation in financial statements is highly aggregated and inconsistently presented, making it
difficult to fully understand the relationship among the financial statements and financial
results of an entity.

IAS 1, PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The revised IAS 1 should be applied by an entity preparing and presenting general-
purpose financial statements in accordance with IFRS. It is effective for annual periods be-
ginning on or after January 1, 2009, with early application permitted.

Objective

IAS 1 prescribes the basis for presentation of general-purpose financial statements to en-
sure comparability both with the entity’s financial statements of previous periods and with
the financial statements of other entities. It sets out overall requirements for the presentation
of financial statements, guidelines for their structure, and minimum requirements for their
content. In revising IAS 1, IASB’s main objective was to aggregate information in the fi-
nancial statements on the basis of shared characteristics. Other sources of guidance on the
financial statement presentation can be found in IAS 7, 8, 10, 12, 18, 24, 27, 34, and IFRS 5.
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Scope

IAS 1 applies to all entities, including both profit-oriented and not-for-profit entities.
Not-for-profit entities in both the private and public sectors can apply this standard, but they
may need to change the descriptions used for particular line items within their financial
statements and for the financial statements themselves. Similarly, entities that do not have
equity (e.g., some mutual funds) and entities whose share capital is not equity (e.g., some co-
operative entities) may need to adapt the financial statement presentation of members’ or unit
holders’ interests.

This standard applies equally to all entities, including those entities that present consoli-
dated financial statements and those that present separate or stand-alone financial statements
as defined in IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. It does not apply to
the structure and content of condensed interim financial statements prepared in accordance
with TAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting.

Purpose of Financial Statements

IAS 1 refers to financial statements as “a structured representation of the financial posi-
tion and financial performance of an entity” and elaborates that the objective of financial
statements is to provide information about an entity’s financial position, its financial perfor-
mance, and its cash flows, which is then utilized by a wide spectrum of end users in making
economic decisions. In addition, financial statements also show the results of management’s
stewardship of the resources entrusted to it. All this information is communicated through a
complete set of financial statements that provide information about an entity’s

Assets;

Liabilities;

Equity;

Income and expenses, including gains and losses;

Contributions by and distributions to owners in their capacity as owners; and
Cash flows.

All this information, and other information presented in the notes, helps users of finan-
cial statements to predict the entity’s future cash flows and their timing and certainty.

SNk W=

Fair Presentation and Compliance with IFRS

In accordance with IFRS, financial statements should present fairly the financial posi-
tion, financial performance and cash flows of an entity. Fair presentation means faithful rep-
resentation of the effects of transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with the
definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out in the
Framework. As stated in IAS 1, the application of IFRS, with additional disclosure when
necessary, should result in financial statements achieving fair presentation. But IAS 1 also
recognizes that compliance with IFRS may be insufficient or inappropriate “in extremely rare
circumstances.”

There is a subtle difference between US GAAP and what was required by many Euro-
pean countries regarding the use of an override to assure a fair presentation of the company’s
financial position and results of operations. While the US requires a fair presentation in ac-
cordance with GAAP, the European Fourth Directive requires that statements offer a true and
fair view of the company’s financial situation. If following the literal financial reporting re-
quirements does not provide this result, then the entity should first consider the salutary
effects of providing supplementary disclosures. However, if that is not seen as being suffi-
cient to achieve a true and fair view, the entity may conclude that it must override (that is,
ignore or contravene) the applicable accounting standard.
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IAS 1 has a similar approach. It states the expectation that the use of IFRS will result, in
virtually all circumstances, in financial statements that achieve a fair presentation. However,
in extremely rare circumstances where management concludes that compliance with a re-
quirement in an IFRS would be so misleading that it would conflict with the objective of
financial statements as set out in the Framework, the entity can depart from that requirement
if the relevant regulatory framework requires, or otherwise does not prohibit, such a depar-
ture, and the entity discloses all of the following:

1. Management has concluded that the financial statements present fairly the entity’s
financial position, financial performance, and cash flows;

2. The entity has complied with all applicable IFRS, except that it has departed from a
particular requirement to achieve a fair presentation;

3. The title of the IFRS from which the entity has departed, the nature of the departure,
including the treatment that the IFRS would require, the reason why that treatment
would be so misleading in the circumstances that it would conflict with the objec-
tive of financial statements set out in the Framework, and the treatment adopted;
and

4. For each period presented, the financial effect of the departure on each item in the
financial statements that would have been reported in complying with the require-
ment.

When an entity has departed from a requirement of an IFRS in a prior period, and that
departure affects the amounts recognized in the current period, it shall make the disclosures
as in 3. and 4. above.

The standard notes that deliberately departing from IFRS might not be permissible in
some jurisdictions, in which case the entity should comply with the standard in question and
disclose in the notes that it believes this to be misleading, and show the adjustments that
would be necessary to avoid this distorted result. In extremely rare circumstances where
management concludes that compliance with a requirement in an IFRS would be so mis-
leading that it would conflict with the objective of financial statements as set out in the
Framework, but the relevant regulatory framework prohibits departure from the requirement,
to the maximum extent possible, the entity is required to reduce the perceived misleading
aspects of compliance by disclosing all of the following:

1. The title of the IFRS in question, the nature of the requirement, and the reason why
management has concluded that complying with that requirement is so misleading
in the circumstances that it conflicts with the objective of financial statements as set
out in the Framework, and

2. For each period presented, the adjustments to each item in the financial statements
that management has concluded would be necessary to achieve a fair presentation.

When assessing whether complying with a specific requirement in an IFRS would be so
misleading that it would conflict with the objective of financial statements as set out in the
Framework, management should consider the following:

1.  Why the objective of financial statements is not achieved in the particular circum-
stances; and

2. How the entity’s circumstances differ from those of other entities that comply with
the requirement.

a. If other entities in similar circumstances comply with the requirement, there is a
rebuttable presumption that the entity’s compliance with the requirement would
not be so misleading that it would conflict with the objective of financial state-
ments as set out in the Framework.
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It might be noted under US auditing standards that there is a provision that an unquali-
fied opinion may be rendered even when there has been a GAAP departure, if the auditor
concludes that it provides a fairer presentation than would have resulted had GAAP been
strictly adhered to (the so-called “Rule 203 exception”). US GAAP was recently revised to
relocate the GAAP hierarchy, which was formerly incorporated in US auditing standards, to
the accounting literature. The new standard does not address the auditors’ duties in render-
ing their audit opinions, but does hold that departure from the hierarchy, if material in effect,
precludes management from asserting that the financial statements comply with GAAP. Un-
der IFRS, logic somewhat similar to the “Rule 203 exception” is built into the accounting
standards themselves, and thus is not dependent upon the level of service, if any, being ren-
dered by an independent accountant, but rather makes it a management responsibility, in-
cluding the need to disclose the logic and the financial statement impact. Accordingly, it
appears that IFRS now recognizes, in the accounting standards, a “fairness exception” that is
now explicitly rejected by US GAAP literature.

An entity presenting financial statements in accordance with IFRS must include an ex-
plicit and unreserved statement of compliance with all the requirements of IFRS in the notes.

Going concern. When preparing financial statements, management makes an assess-
ment regarding the entity’s ability to continue in operation for the foreseeable future (as a
going concern). Financial statements should be prepared on a going concern basis unless
management either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or has no realistic alter-
native but to do so. If the result of the assessment casts significant doubt upon the entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern, management is required to disclose that fact, together
with the basis on which it prepared the financial statements and the reason why the entity is
not regarded as a going concern. When the financial statements are prepared on the going
concern basis it is not necessary to disclose this basis.

Most accounting methods are based on this assumption. For example, the cost principle
would be of limited usefulness if we assume potential liquidation of the entity. Using a liqui-
dation approach, fixed assets would be valued at net realizable value (sale price less cost to
sell) rather than at amortized cost. The concept of depreciation, amortization and depletion is
justifiable and appropriate only if we assume that the entity will have a long life.

Accrual basis of accounting. Financial statements, except for the statement of cash
flow, are to be prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of
accounting, an entity recognizes the elements of the financial statements (items such as as-
sets, liabilities, income and expenses) when they meet the definition and recognition criteria
for those elements in the Framework. Consequently, transactions and events are recognized
when they occur and they are recorded in the accounting records and presented in the finan-
cial statements in the periods when they occur (and not when cash is received or paid). For
example, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred,
without regard to the time of receipt or payment of cash.

Materiality and aggregation. An entity should present separately each material class
of similar items as well as present separately material items of dissimilar nature or function.
If a line item is not individually material, it is aggregated with other items either in those
statements or in the notes. An item that is considered immaterial to justify separate presen-
tation in the financial statements may warrant separate presentation in the notes. It is not
necessary for an entity to provide a specific disclosure required by an IFRS if the information
is not material.

In general, an item presented in the financial statements is material—and therefore is
also relevant—if its omission or misstatement would influence or change the economic deci-
sions of users made on the basis of the financial statements. Materiality depends on the rela-
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tive size and nature of the item or error judged in the particular circumstances. For example,
preparers and auditors sometimes adopt the rule of thumb that anything under 5 percent of
total assets or net income is considered immaterial. Although the US SEC indicated that a
company may use this percentage for an initial assessment of materiality, other factors,
quantitative as well as qualitative, must also be considered. For example, the fact of break-
ing the environmental law (or any laws) could be significant in principle, even if the amount
is small.

Financial statements are the result of processing, aggregating and classifying a large
number of transactions or other events based on their nature or function, and presenting con-
densed and classified data, which represent individual line items. If a line item is not indivi-
dually material, it can be aggregated either in the statements or in the notes (for example,
disaggregating total revenues into wholesale revenues and retail revenues), but only to the
extent that this will enhance the usefulness of the information in predicting the entity’s future
cash flows. An entity should disaggregate similar items that are measured on different bases
and present them on separate lines; for example, an entity should not aggregate investments
in debt securities measured at amortized cost and investments in debt securities measured at
fair value.

Offsetting. Assets and liabilities, or income and expenses, may not be offset against
each other, unless required or permitted by an IFRS. Offsetting in the statement of compre-
hensive income (or income statement, if presented separately) or statement of financial posi-
tion is allowed in rare circumstances when it reflects better the substance of the transaction
or other event. For example, IAS 37 allows netting warranty expenditure against the related
reimbursement (under a supplier’s warranty agreement). There are other examples when
IFRS “require or permit” offsetting; for example, IAS 18 defines revenue and requires mea-
surement at fair value of the consideration received or receivable, less any trade discounts or
volume rebates (see Chapter 9); or in IAS 11 contract costs plus/less profits/losses are offset
against progress billings to determine the amount due from customers (see Chapter 9). In
addition, an entity can present on a net basis certain gains and losses arising from a group of
similar transactions, for example, foreign exchange gains and losses or gains or losses on
financial instruments held for trading (unless material).

In general, the IASB’s position is that offsetting detracts from the ability of users both to
understand the transactions and other events and conditions that have occurred, and to assess
the entity’s future cash flows. However, the reduction of accounts receivable by the allow-
ance for doubtful accounts, or of property, plant, and equipment by the accumulated depreci-
ation, are acts that reduce these assets by the appropriate valuation accounts and are not con-
sidered to be offsetting assets and liabilities.

Frequency of reporting. An entity should present a complete set of financial state-
ments (including comparative information) at least annually. If the reporting period changes
such that the financial statements are for a period longer or shorter than one year, the entity
should disclose the reason for the longer or shorter period and the fact that the amounts pre-
sented are not entirely comparable.

There is a presumption that financial statements will be presented annually, at a mini-
mum. The most common time period for the preparation of financial statements is one year.
However, if for practical reasons some entities prefer to report, for example, for a 52-week
period, IAS 1 does not preclude this practice.

Comparative information. Unless IFRS permit or require otherwise, comparative in-
formation of the previous period should be disclosed for all amounts presented in the current
period’s financial statements. Comparative narrative and descriptive information should be
included when it is relevant to an understanding of the current period’s financial statements.
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As a minimum, two statements of financial position as well as two statements of comprehen-
sive income, changes in equity, cash flows and related notes should be presented.

Comparability is the quality of information that enables users to compare the financial
statements of an entity through time (among periods), to identify trends in its financial posi-
tion and performance, as well as across entities. Comparability should not be confused with
uniformity; for information to be comparable, like things must look alike and unlike things
must look different, and users should be able to identify similarities in and differences be-
tween two sets of economic phenomena.

In addition, users must be aware of the accounting policies applied in the preparation of
the financial statements as well as of any changes in those policies and the effects of such
changes. Consequently, an entity is required to include a statement of financial position as at
the beginning of the earliest comparative period whenever an entity retrospectively applies
an accounting policy, or makes a retrospective restatement of items in its financial state-
ments, or when it reclassifies items in its financial statements. In those limited circum-
stances, an entity is required to present, as a minimum, three statements of financial position
and related notes, as at

1. The end of the current period;

2. The end of the previous period (which is the same as the beginning of the current
period); and

3. The beginning of the earliest comparative period.

When the entity changes the presentation or classification of items in its financial state-
ments, the entity should reclassify the comparative amounts, unless reclassification is im-
practical. In reclassifying comparative amounts, the required disclosure includes: (1) the na-
ture of the reclassification; (2) the amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified;
and (3) the reason for the reclassification. In situations where it is impracticable to reclassify
comparative amounts, an entity should disclose: (1) the reason for not reclassifying the
amounts and (2) the nature of the adjustments that would have been made if the amounts had
been reclassified. It should be noted that IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors sets out the adjustments to comparative information needed if changes
constitute a change in accounting policy or correction of error (see Chapter 23).

Note, however, that in circumstances where no accounting policy change is being
adopted retrospectively, and no restatement (to correct an error) is being applied retrospec-
tively, the statement of financial position as of the beginning of the earliest comparative pe-
riod included is not required to be presented. There is no prohibition against doing so, on the
other hand.

The related footnote disclosures must also be presented on a comparative basis, except
for items of disclosure that would be not meaningful, or might even be confusing, if set forth
in such a manner. Although there is no official guidance on this issue, certain details, such as
schedules of debt maturities as of the end of the previous reporting period, would seemingly
be of little interest to users of the current statements and would be largely redundant with
information provided for the more recent year-end. Accordingly, such details are often
omitted from comparative financial statements. Most other disclosures, however, continue to
be meaningful and should be presented for all years for which basic financial statements are
displayed.

To increase the usefulness of financial statements, many companies include in their an-
nual reports five- or ten-year summaries of condensed financial information. This is not re-
quired by IFRS. These comparative statements allow investment analysts and other inter-
ested readers to perform comparative analysis of pertinent information. The presentation of
comparative financial statements in annual reports enhances the usefulness of such reports
and brings out more clearly the nature and trends of current changes affecting the entity.
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Such presentation emphasizes the fact that the statements for a series of periods are far
more significant than those for a single period and that the accounts for one period are but an
installment of what is essentially a continuous history.

Consistency of presentation. The presentation and classification of items in the finan-
cial statements should be consistent from one period to the next. A change in presentation
and classification of items in the financial statements may be required when there is a sig-
nificant change in the nature of the entity’s operations, another presentation or classification
is more appropriate (having considered the criteria of IAS 8), or when an IFRS requires a
change in presentation. When making such changes in presentation, an entity should reclas-
sify its comparative information and present adequate disclosures (see comparable informa-
tion above). As stated in the ED An Improved Conceptual Framework for Financial Report-
ing, consistency refers to the use of the same accounting policies and procedures, either from
period-to period within an entity or in a single period across entities. Comparability is the
goal and consistency is a means to achieve that goal.

Complete Set of Financial Statements

IAS 1 defines a complete set of financial statements to be comprised of the following:
1. A statement of financial position as at the reporting date (end of the reporting pe-
riod);
a. The previous version of IAS 1 used the title “balance sheet.” The current stan-
dard uses the title “statement of financial position.”

2. A statement of comprehensive income for the period;

a. Components of profit or loss may be presented either as part of a single state-
ment of comprehensive income or in a separate income statement.

b. A single statement of comprehensive income for the reporting period presents
all items of income and expense reported in profit or loss (a subtotal in the
statement of comprehensive income) as well as items of other comprehensive
income recognized during the reporting period.

c. A separate income statement and a separate statement of comprehensive in-
come (two separate statements—dual presentation). Under this method of pre-
sentation, the statement of comprehensive income should begin with profit or
loss and then report items of other comprehensive income.

3. A statement of changes in equity for the reporting period;
4. A statement of cash flows for the reporting period;

a. The previous version of IAS 1 used the title “cash flow statement.” The revised
standard uses the title “statement of cash flows.”

5. Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explana-
tory information; and

6. A statement of financial position as at the beginning of the earliest comparative pe-
riod when the reporting entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes
a retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it reclassi-
fies items in its financial statements.

a. This requirement is part of the revised IAS 1.

Financial statements, except for cash flow information, are to be prepared using the ac-
crual basis of accounting. The next paragraph provides illustrative examples of the format of
the statements of financial position, comprehensive income and changes in equity based on
the guidance provided in the appendix to IAS 1.
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The standard provides the structure and content of financial statements and minimum
requirements for disclosure on the face of the relevant financial statement or in the notes.
These topics are dealt with in the next three chapters (Chapters 3, 4, and 5).

Illustrative Financial Statements

TIAS 1 sets out the format and content of the individual financial statements, minimum
requirements for disclosure in the statements of financial position, comprehensive income
and changes in equity, as well as other information that may be presented either in the finan-
cial statements or in the notes. The illustrative financial statements, prepared based on the
guidance provided in the appendix to IAS 1 are presented below. According to the IASB,
each entity can change the content, sequencing and format of presentation and the descrip-
tions used for line items to achieve a fair presentation in that entity’s particular circum-
stances. For example, the illustrative statement of financial position presents noncurrent as-
sets followed by current assets, and presents equity followed by noncurrent liabilities and
then by current liabilities (most liquid items are presented last), but many entities use to re-
verse this sequencing (e.g., most liquid items to be presented first).

The illustrative financial statements illustrate the presentation of comprehensive income
in two separate statements—the income statement presented separately, followed by the
statement of comprehensive income beginning with profit or loss and then reporting items of
other comprehensive income. All expenses in the income statement are classified by nature.
Alternatively, the single statement of comprehensive income could be presented, displaying
all items of profit and loss as well as other comprehensive items in one statement. Also, ex-
penses could be classified by function, instead of by nature.

These examples do not illustrate a complete set of financial statements, which would
also include a statement of cash flows, a summary of significant accounting policies, and
other explanatory information.

ABC Group
Statement of Financial Position

December 31, 2010
(in thousands of currency units)

2010 2009
Assets
Noncurrent assets:
Property, plant & equipment 384,000 384,349
Goodwill 22,210 23,430
Other intangibles 203,720 203,720
Investments in associates 91,040 102,430
Available-for-sale financial assets 125.620 153.400
Total noncurrent assets 826.590 867,329
Current assets:
Inventories 143,500 141,101
Trade receivables 74,390 97,260
Other current assets 21,040 10,450
Cash and cash equivalent 281,030 303,040
Total current assets 519.960 551.851
Total assets 1,346,550 1,419,180
Equity & liabilities
Equity attributable to owner:
Share capital 320,000 300,000
Retained earnings 168,600 114,800
Other components of equity 42.600 31.000
531,200 445,800
Noncontrolling interests 189.800 170.950

Total equity 721,000 616,750
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2010 2009
Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term borrowings 130,000 160,000
Deferred tax 33,300 21,400
Long-term provisions 37.758 43,270
Total noncurrent liabilities 201.058 224.670
Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables 142,042 226,430
Short-term borrowings 200,000 250,000
Current portion of long-term borrowings 40,000 51,000
Current tax payable 32,000 39,500
Short-term provisions 10,450 10.830
Total current liabilities 424.492 577.760
Total liabilities 625.550 802.430
Total equity and liabilities 1,346,550 1,419,180

ABC Group
Income Statement
For the year ended December 31, 2010
(Presentation of comprehensive income in two statements and
classification of expenses within profit by nature)
(in thousands of currency units)

2010 2009
Revenue 250,000 200,000
Other income 20,000 10,000
Changes in inventories of finished goods (30,000) (25,000)
Changes in inventories of work in progress (20,000) (15,000)
Work performed by the entity and capitalized 20,000 18,000
Raw material and consumables used (60,000) (55,000)
Employee benefits expense (50,000) (46,000)
Depreciation and amortization expense (21,000) (20,000)
Impairment of property, plant, and equipment (5,000) -
Other expenses (8,000) (7,000)
Finance costs (10,000) (12,000)
Share of profit of associates' 30.000 20.000
Profit before tax 116,000 68,000
Income tax expense (29.000) 17.000
Profit for the year from continuing operations 87,000 51,000
Loss for the year from discontinued operations - (9,000)
Profit for the year _87,000 _42,000
Profit attributable to
Owners of the parent (80%) 69,600 33,600
Noncontrolling interest (20%) 17.400 8.400
87,000 42,000

I Share of associates’ profit attributable to owners, after tax and noncontrolling interests in the
associates.
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ABC Group
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31, 2010
(Presentation of comprehensive income in two statements)
(in thousands of currency units)

2010 2009
Profit for the year 87,000 42,000
Other comprehensive income:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 20,000 16,000
Available-for-sale financial assets: (5,000) 24,000
Cash flow hedges (2,000) (1,000)
Gains on property revaluation 4,000 14,000
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit pension plans (10,000) (8,000)
Share of other comprehensive income of associates? 2,000 (1,000)
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income? (1.750) (11.250)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 7,250 32,750
Total comprehensive income for the year 94,250 74,750
Total comprehensive income attributable to
Owners of the parent 75,400 59,800
Noncontrolling interest 18.850 14,950
94,250 74,750

2 Share of associates’ other comprehensive income attributable to owners of the associates, after tax and
noncontrolling interests in the associates.

3 The income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income is disclosed in the notes.

ABC Group
Disclosure of components of other comprehensive income*
Notes
Year ended December 31, 2010
(in thousands of currency units)

2010 2009
Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations’ 20,000 16,000
Available-for-sale financial assets:
Gains arising during the year (12,000) (30,000)
Less: Reclassification adjustments for gains (losses) included
in profit or loss (7.000) (5,000) 6.000) 24,000
Cash flow hedges:
Gains (losses) arising during the year (4,000) (1,000)
Less: Reclassification adjustments for gains (losses) included
in profit or loss 1,800 -
Less: Adjustments for amounts transferred to initial carrying
amount of hedged items 200 (2,000) -- (1,000)
Gains on property revaluation 4,000 14,000
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit pension plans (10,000) (8,000)
Share of other comprehensive income of associates 2,000 (1,000)
Other comprehensive income 9,000 44,000
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive
income® (1.750) (11.250)
Other comprehensive income for the year 7,250 32,750

4 When an entity chooses an aggregated presentation in the statement of comprehensive income, the amounts for

reclassification adjustments and current year gain or loss are presented in the notes.

5 There was no disposal of a foreign operation and therefore, there is no reclassification adjustment for the years
presented.

6 The income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income is disclosed in the notes.
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ABC Group
Disclosure of tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive income
Notes
Year ended December 31, 2010
(in thousands of currency units)

2010 2009
Before- Tax Before- Tax
tax (expense)  Net-of-tax tax (expense)  Net-of-tax
amount benefit amount amount benefit amount
Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations 20,000 (5,000) 15,000 16,000 (4,000) 12,000
Available-for-sale financial assets (5,000) 1,250 (3,750) 24,000 (6,000) 18,000
Cash flow hedges (2,000) 500 (1,500) (1,000) 250 (750)
Gains on property revaluation 4,000 (1,000) 3,000 14,000 (3,500) 10,500
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined
benefit pension plans (10,000) 2,500 (7,500) (8,000) 2,000 (6,000)
Share of other comprehensive
income of associates 2,000 - 2,000 (1,000) - (1,000)
Other comprehensive income 9,000 (1,750) 7,250 44,000 (11,250) 32,750

Discussion Paper: Preliminary Views on Financial Statement Presentation

In October, 2008, the IASB and the FASB jointly published for comment a Discussion
Paper (DP), Preliminary Views on Financial Statement Presentation. The DP represents the
first step in the development of a standard that would require entities to present financial
statements in a manner that clearly communicates an integrated financial picture of the en-
tity. According to the IASB and FASB, the credit crisis has highlighted the need for clear
presentation of financial information that is often complex. Currently, US GAAP and IFRS
provide only limited presentation guidance and as a result, the financial statements can be
presented in many different ways. In addition, the current format for the financial statements
does not make it easy for users to understand how the information presented is linked be-
tween the statements. Also, in many cases, entities aggregate dissimilar items, which re-
spond differently to the same economic events, and consequently, reduce the usefulness of
the information presented in the financial statements in predicting an entity’s future cash
flows.

Objectives of the project. The Boards developed three objectives for financial state-
ment presentation, as set out in the DP, that information should be presented in the financial
statements in a manner that

1. Portrays a cohesive financial picture of an entity’s activities. A cohesive financial
picture means that the relationships between items across financial statements are
clear and the financial statements complement each other as much as possible To
present a cohesive set of financial statements, an entity would have to align the line
items, their description and the order of presentation of information in the
statements of financial position, comprehensive income and cash flows. To the
extent practical, entities would disaggregate, label and total individual items simi-
larly in each statement. Presenting cohesive relationship at the line item level
among financial statement items should make it easier for users to relate income and
expense to cash flows and to analyze the quality of earnings.

2. Disaggregates information so that it is useful in predicting an entity’s future cash
flows. The disaggregation objective should make information presented by an
entity in the financial statements useful in assessing the amount, timing, and
uncertainty of its future cash flows. Items that have similar economic characteristics
should be aggregated, with meaningful totals and subtotals provided, and items with
essentially different economic characteristics would be disaggregated.



ABC Group
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended December 31, 20X8
(in thousands of currency units)

Available-
Translation for-sale

Share Retained of foreign financial Cash flow  Revaluation Minority Total

capital earnings operations assets hedges surplus Total interest equity
Balance at January 1, 20X7 300,000 91,000 (2,000) 1,000 1,000 - 391,000 156,000 547,000
Changes in accounting policy - - - - I - - - -
Restated balance 300,000 91,000 (2,000) 1,000 1,000 -- 391,000 156,000 547,000
Changes in equity for 20X7
Dividends -- (5,000) -- - - -- (5,000) -- (5,000)
Total comprehensive income for the year’ -- 38.400 9.600 14.400 (525) 7.400 69.275 14.950 84,225
Balance at December 31, 20X7 300,001 124,400 7,600 15,400 475 7,400 455,275 170,950 626,225
Changes in equity for 20X8
Issue of share capital 20,000 - - - - - 20,000 - 20,000
Dividends --  (10,000) -- -- - - (10,000) -- (10,000)
Total comprehensive income for the year® - 75,600 12,000 (14,400) 1,200 4,400 78,800 18,850 97,650
Transfer to retained earnings -- 200 - - - (200) - - --
Balance at December 31, 20X8 320,000 190,200 19,600 1,000 1,67 11,600 544,075 189,800 733,875

7

The amount included in retained earnings for 20X7 of 38,400 represents profit attributable to owners of the parent of 33,600 plus actuarial gains on defined benefit
pension plans of 4,800 (8,000 less tax 2,000, less minority interest 1,200). The amount included in the translation, available-for-sale and cash flow hedge reserves
represents other comprehensive income for each component, net of tax and minority interest, (e.g., other comprehensive income related to translation of foreign
operations for 20X7 of 9,600 is 16,000, less tax 4,000, less minority interest 2,400). The amount included in the revaluation surplus of 7,400 represents the share of
other comprehensive income of associates of (1,000) plus gains on property revaluation of 8,400 (14,000, less tax 3,500, less minority interest 2,100). Other
comprehensive income of associates relates solely to gains or losses on property revaluation.

The amount included in retained earnings for 20X8 of 75,600 represents profit attributable to owners of the parent of 69,600 plus actuarial losses on defined benefit
pension plans of 7,500 (10,000, less tax 2,500, less minority interest 1,500). The amount included in the translation, available-for-sale and cash flow hedge reserves
represents other comprehensive income for each component, net of tax and minority interest (e.g., other comprehensive income related to the available-for-sale
financial assets for 20X8 of 12,000 is 20,000, less tax 5,000, less minority interest 3,000). The amount included in the revaluation surplus of 4,400 represents the share
of other comprehensive income of associates of 2,000 plus gains on property revaluation of 2,400 (4,000, less tax 1,000, less minority interest 600). Other
comprehensive income of associates relates solely to gains or losses on property revaluation.
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3. Helps users assess an entity’s liquidity and financial flexibility. Information about
an entity’s liquidity helps users in assessing an entity’s ability to meet its financial
commitments as they become due (including, but not limited to, its ability to raise
capital and to use assets to generate future cash flows). Information about financial
flexibility helps users in assessing an entity’s ability to invest in business
opportunities and respond to unexpected needs.

Proposed format for financial statements. In order to achieve all three objectives for
financial statement presentation: (1) cohesiveness, (2) disaggregation, (3) liquidity and fi-
nancial flexibility, the DP proposed the following format for the financial statements, which
is presented below.

Statement of Financial Position | Statement of Comprehensive Income Statement of Cash Flows
Business Business Business

¢ Operating assets and liabilities * Operating income and expenses ¢ Operating cash flows
 Investing assets and liabilities * Investing income and expenses * Investing cash flows
Financing Financing Financing

 Financing assets * Financing asset income * Financing asset cash flows

¢ Financing liabilities * Financing liability expenses * Financing liability cash flows
Income taxes Income taxes Income taxes

On continuing operations (business
and financing)

Discontinued operations Discontinued operations Discontinued operations
Net of tax

Other comprehensive income
Net of tax

Equity Equity

Notes:

o Section names are in bold type; required categories within sections are indicated by bullet points.

* Sections and categories within a section can be presented in a different order as long as this order is the same in
each statement.

e Each section and category within a section should have a subtotal.

* The statement of comprehensive income would include a subtotal for profit or loss (or net income) and a total for
comprehensive income.

* The statement of changes in equity is not included in the table because it would not include the sections and
categories used in the other financial statements.

The first step in preparing financial statements using the proposed presentation model
would be the classification of assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position. This
classification will determine the classification in the statement of comprehensive income and
cash flows. For example, to present information in a cohesive manner, an entity would clas-
sify its revenues, expenses, gains, losses and cash flows related to operating assets and lia-
bilities in the operating category in the statements of comprehensive income and cash flows.

An entity’s policy concerning the classification scheme should be made by management
and would have to be described in the notes to the financial statements. Classification should
be based on how the asset or liability is used within an entity and also on the way an entity
views its activities. For example, if management decides to classify property, plant, and
equipment as operating assets, then any changes related to those assets (e.g., depreciation
expense, cash flows) would also be presented in the operating section of the statements of
comprehensive income and cash flows.
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Items in the statements of financial position, comprehensive income, and cash flows
would be classified into five sections: Business, Financing, Income Taxes, Discontinued Op-
erations, and Equity, by the reporting entity’s management. The Business section presents
the operating and investing activities that management views as related to the central purpose
for which an entity is in business and through which the entity creates value, such as pro-
ducing goods or providing services. The Financing section presents how the reporting entity
finances its business activities from nonowner sources of capital. Financing from owner
sources is presented in the Equity section that will not change.

Statement of financial position. Major changes proposed in the DP with regard to the
statement of financial position are as follows:

1.

Disaggregation by major activities. A main difference is that individual items on
the statement of financial position would be grouped by major activities (operating,
investing and financing), and not by assets, liabilities and equity, as it is today. The
assets and liabilities would be presented in the following sections:

a. Business (includes operating and investing categories)

b. Financing (includes only financing assets and liabilities)

c. Income taxes (includes current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities)

d. Discontinued operations (includes all amounts related to discontinued opera-
tions, as defined in IFRS 5); and

e. Equity

Disaggregation into short-term and long-term subcategories. Assets and liabili-
ties are to be classified within each of the major categories (operating, investing, fi-
nancing) as either short-term or long-term, based on a one-year distinction rather
than the length of an entity’s operating cycle (except when a presentation of assets
and liabilities in increasing or decreasing order of liquidity would provide more re-
levant information). In practice today, a classified statement of financial position
requires that assets and liabilities are presented in current and noncurrent categories,
and this distinction is based on the length of an entity’s operating cycle.
Disaggregation by different measurement bases. The DP proposes that assets
and liabilities that are measured on different bases would be presented in separate
line items on the statement of financial position. For example, investments in debt
securities measured at amortized cost should not be aggregated with investments in
debt securities measured at fair value and the total presented in a single line item.
Totals and subtotals. Entities would have to present total assets and total liabili-
ties, as well as total short-term assets, total long-term assets, total short-term liabili-
ties and total long-term liabilities either in the statement of financial position or in
the notes to the financial statements. A total for each category and section in the fi-
nancial statement should be presented, and operating assets should be clearly distin-
guished from operating liabilities.

Statement of comprehensive income. The DP proposes the following major changes:

1.

Single statement presentation. All entities should present a single (stand-alone)
statement of comprehensive income displaying all items of income and expense that
are recognized in profit or loss (which is a subtotal in the statement of comprehen-
sive income) and other comprehensive income items (OCI), presented in a separate
section. Consequently, the current option available to present a separate income
statement (two-statement approach) would be eliminated. Existing guidance on
presentation of OCI items would remain unchanged as well as the recycling me-
chanism.
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2. Disaggregation by activities, function and nature. In the statement of compre-
hensive income, an entity would be required to present the items of income and ex-
pense and OCI items in separate sections, based on the primary activities (functions)
in which it engages.

a. Business (‘operating income and expenses’ and ‘investing income and ex-
penses’ presented separately);

b. Financing (financing asset income and financing liability expense presented
separately);

c. Income taxes on continuing operations;

d. Discontinued operations (net of tax); and

e. Equity

An entity should further disaggregate each of those activities (except discontin-
ued operations and taxes) on the basis of their function within those categories, and
then, by nature, but only to the extent that this disaggregation would help users in
predicting the entity’s future cash flows:

f.  Function (e.g., selling, manufacturing, advertising, business administration)
g. Nature (e.g., disaggregating total revenues into wholesale revenues and retail
revenues)

Statement of cash flows. Major changes proposed are as follows:

1. Presentation of movements in cash. The DP proposes that cash line item in the
statement of financial position should no longer include cash equivalents. Conse-
quently, the statement of cash flows should present information on movements of
cash only and the concept of cash in this statement would no longer include cash
equivalents. Also, an entity’s statement of cash flows would also reconcile the be-
ginning and ending amounts of cash (rather than of cash and equivalents). Cash
will be presented only in one category, unless cash is used differently in two or
more reportable segments. Net amounts of receipts and payments related to items
previously classified as cash equivalents will be presented in the statement of cash
flows.

2. Direct method of presenting operating cash flows. An entity should present all
its cash flows directly, including its operating cash flows. The indirect method to
present major classes of operating cash receipts and payments in an entity’s state-
ment of cash flows will no longer be permitted (only a direct method can be ap-
plied).

3. Disaggregation by major activities. The statement of cash flows would have the
same sections and categories as the statements of financial position and comprehen-
sive income (operating, investing, financing), discontinued operations, taxes and
equity. The classification of cash flows into the operating, investing and financing
activities in the proposed model is based on the classification of the related asset or
liability. Consequently, if property, plant, and equipment were classified as oper-
ating assets in the statement of financial position, then cash flows related to those
assets would be presented as operating cash flows in the statement of cash flows.

Notes. The DP proposes a requirement for a reporting entity to present a schedule in the

notes to the financial statements that would reconcile two statements: the statement of cash
flows to the statement of comprehensive income. This reconciliation would also disaggre-
gate changes in assets and liabilities into four components:
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—_

Cash received or paid other than in transactions with owners;

2. Accruals other than remeasurements;

3. Remeasurements that represent recurring changes in fair value or valuation adjust-
ments (e.g., unrealized gains and losses on trading securities); and

4. Remeasurements other than recurring changes in fair value or valuation adjustments

(e.g., impairment losses). The statement of cash flows should be prepared using the

direct method.

The new proposed financial statement presentation model requires an entity to disclose,
as a matter of accounting policy, the bases used for classifying assets and liabilities in the
operating, investing and financing categories and any changes in those classifications. In
addition, information related to the liquidity and financial flexibility objective of financial
statement presentation should be disclosed (e.g., contractual maturity schedules).
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PERSPECTIVE AND ISSUES

The statement of financial position (sometimes called the balance sheet) is a statement
that presents an entity’s assets, liabilities, and equity (net assets) at a given point in time (i.e.,
as of a specific date). The statement of financial position is sometimes described as a
“stock” statement because it reflects the balances of the company’s accounts at a moment in
time, as opposed to the other basic financial statements, which are described as “flow” state-
ments and all reflect summarized results of transactions over a period of time.

During the early era of financial reporting standard setting, throughout the nineteenth
century and first half of the twentieth century, the emphasis of legislation was almost entirely
on the statement of financial position, but by the mid-twentieth century owners were asking
for more and more information about operating performance, leading to presentations of an
increasingly complete income statement (sometimes called the profit and loss account).

There is a continuing tension between the two financial statements, since—because of
double entry bookkeeping conventions—they are linked together and cannot easily serve
differing objectives. The stock markets look primarily at earnings expectations, which are
largely based on historic performance, as measured by the income statement. If earnings
measurement drives financial reporting, this means that, of necessity, the statement of finan-
cial position carries the residuals of the earnings measurement process. For example, assets
such as motor vehicles with service potential that is used up over several accounting periods
will have their costs allocated to these periods through the depreciation process, with the
statement of financial position left to report a residual of that allocation process, which may
or may not reflect the value of those assets at the end of the reporting period. However, if
reporting were truly statement of financial position driven, the reporting entity would value
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the vehicles at the end of each reporting period—for example by reference to their replace-
ment costs in current condition—and the change in statement of financial position values
from one year to another would be reflected in the statement of comprehensive income.

By the 1960s many national GAAP standards were being promulgated to overtly favor
the income statement over the balance sheet, but the pendulum began to swing back to a bal-
ance sheet—oriented strategy when standard setters—first, the FASB in the US; later others,
including the International Accounting Standards Committee, predecessor of the current
IASB—developed conceptual frameworks intended to serve as the fundamental theory of
financial reporting. Undertaking that exercise had the result of causing accounting theory to
revert to the original purpose—namely, to measure economic activity—and to implicitly
adopt the definition of income as the change in wealth from period to period. With this in
mind, measurement of that wealth, as captured in the balance sheet, became more central to
new standards development efforts.

In practice, IFRS as currently written are a mixture of both approaches, depending on
the transaction being recognized, measured, and reported. This mixed attribute approach is
partially a legacy of earlier financial reporting rule making, but also reflects the practical
difficulties of value measurement for many categories of assets and liabilities. For example,
many financial instruments are remeasured at the end of each reporting period, whereas
property, plant, and equipment are normally held at original cost and are depreciated
systematically over estimated useful lives, subject to further adjustment for impairment, as
necessary.

However, while existing requirements are not entirely consistent regarding financial
statement primacy, both the IASB and the FASB, when developing new accounting stan-
dards, now are formally committed to a statement of financial position (balance sheet)—
oriented approach. The Framework is expressed in terms of measuring assets and liabilities,
and reportedly the two standard-setting bodies and their respective staffs analyze transactions
affected by proposed standards from the perspective of whether they increase or diminish the
assets and liabilities of the entity. Overall, the IASB sees financial reporting as being based
on the measuring of assets and liabilities, and has the overall goal of requiring the reporting
of all changes to them (other than those which are a result of transactions with owners, such
as the payment of dividends) in a statement of comprehensive income.

In 2003 the IASB began a project to create a new comprehensive statement of perfor-
mance, to be called the statement of comprehensive income. Field visits suggested that the
proposed statement was too far in advance of current practice to readily gain acceptance from
preparers and users of financial reports, which caused the IASB to give further attention to a
mode of presentation which would be more comprehensible to users and preparers. Some
simplifications were subsequently agreed to, and other issues remained under discussion. In
late 2004, IASB and FASB agreed to jointly engage in further consideration of these matters,
effectively signaling a fresh start for this developing effort. In an Exposure Draft (ED), Pro-
posed Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements: A Revised Presentation,
issued in March 2006, the IASB proposed to replace the income statement with a new
statement called “statement of recognized income and expense.” However, in the revised
IAS 1, as it was actually promulgated in 2007, the title “statement of recognized income and
expense” has been replaced by “statement of comprehensive income,” thereby adopting the
approach imposed under US GAAP. In fact, IAS 1 (revised 2007, effective 2009) largely,
but not completely, embraces the approach first established under US GAAP in FAS 130.

The focus on earnings in the capital markets does not mean that the statement of finan-
cial position is irrelevant; clearly the financial structure of the company is an important as-
pect of the company’s risk profile, which in turn is important to evaluating the potential re-
turn on an investment from the perspective of a current or potential shareholder. Lenders



Chapter 3 / Statement of Financial Position 79

have an even greater interest in the entity’s financial structure. This is why companies
sometimes go to great lengths to keep some transactions off the statement of financial posi-
tion, for example by using special-purpose entities and other complex financing structures.
IAS 32 considers that any instrument that gives rise to a right to claim assets from an entity
is a liability.

IAS 1 states that “each material class of similar items” should be presented separately in
the financial statements. In addition, “items of dissimilar nature or function” should be pre-
sented separately, unless they are immaterial. The standard expresses a preference for a
presentation based on the current/noncurrent distinction, but allows a presentation by liquid-
ity if that is more reliable and relevant. An asset or liability is current if it is part of the re-
porting entity’s normal operating cycle (e.g., customer receivables) or if it will be realized or
settled within twelve months after the reporting period. Only one of these conditions needs
to be satisfied—so, for example, inventory that remains on hand for two years should still be
classified as current, while long-term liabilities should be reclassified as current for the final
year before settlement. IAS 1 includes a sample of illustrative financial statement structure
in its Guidance on Implementing IAS 1, but use of this format is optional.

IAS 1 is discussed in chapter 2, while the structure and content of the financial
statements, as well as informative notes presented in accordance with IAS 1, are discussed in
the remainder of this chapter (Statement of Financial Position), Chapter 4 (Statement of
Comprehensive Income and Statement of Changes in Equity) and Chapter 5 (Statement of
Cash Flows).

Sources of IFRS
IAS 1, 8, 10, 24, 32, 36, 38, 39, 40, 41
IFRS 5,6

Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements

DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

The IASB Framework describes the basic concepts by which financial statements are
prepared. It does so by defining the objective of financial statements; identifying the quali-
tative characteristics that make information in financial statements useful; and defining the
basic elements of financial statements and the concepts for recognizing and measuring them
in financial statements.

The elements of financial statements are the broad classifications and groupings which
convey the substantive financial effects of transactions and events on the reporting entity. To
be included in the financial statements, an event or transaction must meet definitional, recog-
nition, and measurement requirements, all of which are set forth in the Framework.

The elements of a statement of financial position are

Assets—Probable future economic benefits obtained or controlled by a particular entity as a re-
sult of past transactions or events.

The following three characteristics must be present for an item to qualify as an asset:

1. The asset must provide probable future economic benefit that enables it to provide
future net cash inflows.

2. The entity is able to receive the benefit and restrict other entities’ access to that
benefit.

3. The event that provides the entity with the right to the benefit has occurred.

In addition, the asset must be capable of being measured reliably. The Framework states
that reliable measurement means that the number must be free from material error and bias
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and can be depended upon by users to represent faithfully. In the Basis for Conclusions of
IFRS 2, the IASB notes that the use of estimates is permitted, and that there may be a trade-
off between the characteristics of being free from material error and having representational
faithfulness.

Assets have features that help identify them in that they are exchangeable, legally en-
forceable, and have future economic benefit (service potential). It is that potential that
eventually brings in cash to the entity and that underlies the concept of an asset.

Liabilities—Probable future sacrifices of economic benefits arising from present obligations of a
particular entity to transfer assets or provide services to other entities in the future as a result of
past transactions or events.

The following three characteristics must be present for an item to qualify as a liability:

1. A liability requires that the entity settle a present obligation by the probable future
transfer of an asset on demand when a specified event occurs or at a particular date.

2. The obligation cannot be avoided.

3. The event that obligates the entity has occurred.

Liabilities are similarly recognized subject to the constraint that they can be measured
reliably.

Liabilities usually result from transactions that enable entities to obtain resources. Other
liabilities may arise from nonreciprocal transfers, such as the declaration of dividends to the
owners of the entity or the pledge of assets to charitable organizations.

An entity may involuntarily incur a liability. A liability may be imposed on the entity by
government or by the court system in the form of taxes, fines, or levies. A liability may arise
from price changes or interest rate changes. Liabilities may be legally enforceable or they
may be equitable obligations that arise from social, ethical, or moral requirements. Liabili-
ties continue in existence until the entity is no longer responsible for discharging them.

The diagram that follows, which is taken from one of the statements, produced from the
conceptual framework project by the US standard setter, the FASB, identifies the three
classes of events that affect an entity, and shows the relationship between assets and liabili-
ties, on the one hand, and comprehensive income, on the other.

Equity—The residual interest in the assets that remains after deducting its liabilities. In a busi-
ness enterprise, the equity is the ownership interest.

Equity arises from the ownership relation and is the basis for distributions of earnings to
the owners. Distributions of entity assets to owners are voluntary. Equity is increased by
owners’ investments and comprehensive income and is reduced by distributions to owners.
In practice, the distinction between equity and liabilities may be difficult to determine. Se-
curities such as convertible debt and certain types of preference shares may have charac-
teristics of both equity (residual ownership interest) and liabilities (nondiscretionary future
sacrifices). For both the IASB and the FASB, equity, aside from exchanges with owners, is a
residual of the asset/liability recognition model.

Statement of financial position. A statement of financial position (balance sheet)
presents an entity’s assets, liabilities, and equity as of a specific date.

CONCEPTS, RULES, AND EXAMPLES
General Concepts

Under IFRS, assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value at inception in financial
statements, which for assets and liabilities arising from arm’s-length transactions will be
equal to negotiated prices. Subsequent measurement is usually under the historical cost prin-
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ciple, although in many cases subsequent changes in values are also recognized. All assets
are now subject to impairment testing. IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, requires assets to be
reduced in value if their carrying value exceeds the higher of fair value or value in use (ex-
pected future cash flows from the asset). IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement, 1AS 40, Investment Property, and 1AS 41, Agriculture, all include some ele-
ment of subsequent measurement at fair value. Where assets are classified as held for sale,
they are carried at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less selling costs (IFRS 5).

Historical exchange prices, and the amortized cost amounts that are later presented, are
sometimes cited as being useful because these amounts are objectively determined and capa-
ble of being verified independently. However, critics point out that, other than at transaction
date, historical cost does not result in presenting in the statement of financial position num-
bers that are comparable between companies, so while they are reliable, they may not be rel-
evant for decision-making purposes. This captures the fundamental conflict regarding ac-
counting information: absolutely reliable or objective information may not be very relevant
to current decision making.

Structure and Content

The titles commonly given to the primary financial statement that presents an entity’s fi-
nancial position include the statement of financial position, the balance sheet, and the state-
ment of financial condition. (The statement of assets and liabilities, or some variant thereof,
is also encountered, but usually connotes a presentation that is not consistent with IFRS or
GAAP, such as that made on a cash or income tax basis.) The revised IAS 1 changed the
title of the “balance sheet” to the “statement of financial position,” the title used throughout
this publication. The IASB concluded that “statement of financial position” better reflects
the function of the statement and is consistent with the Framework. In addition, the title
“balance sheet” simply reflected the convention that double-entry bookkeeping requires all
debits to equal credits, and did not identify the content or purpose of the statement.
According to the IASB, the term “financial position” was a well-known and accepted term,
and had already been used in auditors’ opinions internationally for more than 20 years to
describe what “the balance sheet” presents.

The three elements that are always to be displayed in the heading of a statement of fi-
nancial position are

1. The entity whose financial position is being presented
2. The title of the statement
3. The date of the statement

The entity’s name should appear exactly as written in the legal document that created it
(e.g., the certificate of incorporation, partnership agreement, etc.). The title should also
clearly reflect the legal status of the entity as a corporation, partnership, sole proprietorship,
or division of some other entity.

The statement of financial position presents a “snapshot” of the resources (assets) and
claims to resources (liabilities and equity) as of a specific date. The last day of a month is
normally used as the statement date (in jurisdictions where a choice is allowed) unless the
entity uses a fiscal reporting period always ending on a particular day of the week, such as a
Friday or Sunday (e.g., the last Friday in December, or the Sunday falling closest to Decem-
ber 31). In these cases, the statement of financial position can appropriately be dated accord-
ingly (i.e., December 26, October 1, etc.). In all cases, the implication is that the statement
of financial position captures the pertinent amounts as of the close of business on the date
noted.
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Statements of financial position should generally be uniform in appearance from one pe-
riod to the next, as indeed should all of the entity’s financial statements. The form, terminol-
ogy, captions, and pattern of combining insignificant items should be consistent. The goal is
to enhance usefulness by maintaining a consistent manner of presentation unless there are
good reasons to change these and the changes are duly reported.

IAS 1 does not prescribe the sequence or format in which items should be presented in
the statement of financial position. Thus, for example, in a standard classified statement of
financial position noncurrent assets may be presented before or after current assets, and
within the current assets cash can be presented as the first or the last line item. However, the
standard stipulates the following list of minimum line items that are sufficiently different in
nature or function to justify separate presentation in the statement:

Property, plant, and equipment;

Investment property;

Intangible assets;

Financial assets;

Investments accounted for using the equity method;

Biological assets;

Inventories;

Trade and other receivables;

Cash and cash equivalents;

The total of assets classified as held for sale and assets included in disposal groups

classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5, Noncurrent Assets Held for

Sale and Discontinued Operations;

11. Trade and other payables;

12. Provisions;

13. Financial liabilities:

14. Liabilities and assets for current tax, as defined in IAS 12, Income Taxes;

15. Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets, as defined in IAS 12;

16. Liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale in accordance with
IFRS 5;

17. Noncontrolling interest, presented within equity; and

18. Issued capital and reserves attributable to owners of the parent.

SO B D=

—

In some countries, the legislation specifies the format of the financial statements—in
particular the EU Fourth Directive mandates particular presentations—but in other jurisdic-
tions entities have a free choice. The implementation guidance to IAS 1 gives an example of
a statement of financial position format in the European account format.

In general, the two types of formats are the report form and the account form. In the
report form the statement of financial position continues line by line from top to bottom as
follows:

Assets $xxx
Liabilities $xxx
Shareholders’ equity XXX
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $xxx

In the account form the statement of financial position appears in a balancing concept
with assets on the left and liabilities and equity amounts on the right as follows:
Assets $xxx Shareholders’ equity $xxXx
- Liabilities XXX
Total assets $xxx Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $xxx
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The statement of financial position format presented in Schedule 4 to the UK Companies
Act of 1985, wherein a nert asset total is presented (as a total of assets minus liabilities) as
being equal to equity plus reserves, may be seen as a third variation, and is known as the UK
GAAP format. This is, in fact, a report format, as illustrated above, with merely a minor
alteration made to explicitly reveal the equality between net assets and net worth.

The format of the statement of financial position as illustrated by the appendix to IAS 1
is similar to the following:

XYZ Limited
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
December 31, 2009
(in thousands of currency units)
2009 2008
Assets
Noncurrent assets: X X
Property, plant, and equipment X X
Goodwill X X
Other intangible assets X X
Investments in associates X X
Available-for-sale investments X X
X X
Current assets:
Inventories X X
Trade and other receivables X X
Other current assets X X
Cash and cash equivalents X X
Total assets X X
Equity and Liabilities
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital (Note ) X X
Other reserves (Note ) X X
Retained earnings X X
X X
Noncontrolling interest X X
Total equity X X
Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term borrowings X X
Deferred taxes X X
Long-term provisions X X
Total noncurrent liabilities
Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables X X
Short-term borrowings X X
Current portion of long-term borrowings X X
Current tax payable X X
Short-term provisions X X
Total current liabilities X X
Total liabilities X X
Total equity and liabilities X X

Classification of Assets

Assets, liabilities, and equity are presented separately in the statement of financial posi-
tion. In accordance with IAS 1, companies should make a distinction between current and
noncurrent assets and liabilities, except when a presentation based on liquidity provides in-
formation that is more reliable or relevant. As a practical matter, the liquidity exception is
primarily invoked by banks and some other financial organizations, for which fixed invest-
ments (e.g., in property and equipment) are dwarfed by financial instruments and other assets
and liabilities.
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Current assets. An asset should be classified as a current asset when it satisfies any one
of the following:

1. It is expected to be realized in, or is held for sale or consumption in, the normal
course of the entity’s operating cycle;

It is held primarily for trading purposes;

It is expected to be realized within twelve months of the end of the reporting period,;
It is cash or a cash equivalent asset that is not restricted in its use.

N

If a current asset category includes items that will have a life of more than twelve
months, the amount that falls into the next financial year should be disclosed in the notes.
All other assets should be classified as noncurrent assets, if a classified statement of financial
position is to be presented in the financial statements.

Thus, current assets include cash, cash equivalents and other assets that are expected to
be realized in cash, or sold or consumed during one normal operating cycle of the business.
The operating cycle of an entity is the time between the acquisition of materials entering into
a process and its realization in cash or an instrument that is readily convertible into cash.
Inventories and trade receivables should still be classified as current assets in a classified
statement of financial position even if these assets are not expected to be realized within
twelve months from the end of the reporting period. However, marketable securities could
only be classified as current assets if they are expected to be realized (sold, redeemed, or
matured) within twelve months after the end of the reporting period, even though most would
deem marketable securities to be more liquid than inventories and possibly even than receiv-
ables. Management intention takes priority over liquidity potential. The following items
would be classified as current assets:

1. Inventories are assets held, either for sale in the ordinary course of business or in
the process of production for such sale, or in the form of materials or supplies to be
consumed in the production process or in the rendering of services (IAS 2). The ba-
sis of valuation and the method of pricing, which is now limited to FIFO or
weighted-average cost, should be disclosed.

Inventories—at the lower of cost (FIFO) or net realizable value $xxx

In the case of a manufacturing concern, raw materials, work in process, and finished
goods should be disclosed separately on the statement of financial position or in the

footnotes.
Inventories:
Finished goods $xxx
Work in process XXX
Raw materials XXX $xxx

2. Receivables include accounts and notes receivable, receivables from affiliate com-
panies, and officer and employee receivables. The term accounts receivable repre-
sents amounts due from customers arising from transactions in the ordinary course
of business. Allowances due to expected lack of collectibility and any amounts dis-
counted or pledged should be stated clearly. The allowances may be based on a re-
lationship to sales or based on direct analysis of the receivables. If material, the re-
ceivables should be analyzed into their component parts. The receivables section
may be presented as follows:

Receivables:
Customer accounts $xxx
Customer notes/commercial paper XXX $xxxx
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (XXX) $xXXXX
Due from associated companies XXX
Due from officers and employees XXX

Total $xxXX
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3. Prepaid expenses are assets created by the prepayment of cash or incurrence of a li-
ability. They expire and become expenses with the passage of time, use, or events
(e.g., prepaid rent, prepaid insurance and deferred taxes). This item is frequently
aggregated with others on the face of the statement of financial position with details
relegated to the notes, since it is rarely a material amount.

4. Trading investments are those that are acquired principally for the purpose of gen-
erating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price or dealer’s margin. A financial
asset should be classified as held-for-trading if it is part of a portfolio for which
there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit making. Trading as-
sets include debt and equity securities and loans and receivables acquired by the
entity with the intention of making a short-term profit. Derivative financial assets
are always deemed held-for-trading unless they are designed as effective hedging
instruments.

As required by IAS 39, a financial asset held for trading should be measured at
fair value, with changes in value reflected currently in earnings. There is a pre-
sumption that fair value can be reliably measured for financial assets that are held
for trading.

5. Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, consisting of coins, currency, and
undeposited checks; money orders and drafts; and deposits in banks. Anything ac-
cepted by a bank for deposit would be considered cash. Cash must be available for
a demand withdrawal; thus, assets such as certificates of deposit would not be con-
sidered cash because of the time restrictions on withdrawal. Also, to be classified as
a current asset, cash must be available for current use. According to IAS 1, cash
that is restricted in use and whose restrictions will not expire within the operating
cycle, or cash restricted for a noncurrent use, would not be included in current as-
sets. According to IAS 7, cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid in-
vestments that (1) are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, and (2) are so
near their maturity (original maturities of three months or less) that they present
negligible risk of changes in value because of changes in interest rates. Treasury
bills, commercial paper, and money market funds are all examples of cash equiva-
lents.

Noncurrent assets. IAS 1 uses the term “noncurrent” to include tangible, intangible,
operating, and financial assets of a long-term nature. It does not prohibit the use of alterna-
tive descriptions, as long as the meaning is clear. The European Union (EU) uses the term
fixed assets (which derives from nineteenth-century balance sheets, which drew a distinction
between fixed and circulating assets). Noncurrent assets include held-to-maturity invest-
ments, investment property, property and equipment, intangible assets, assets held for sale,
and miscellaneous other assets, as described in the following paragraphs.

Held-to-maturity investments are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturity that the entity has a positive intent and ability to hold to maturity (the
term is from IAS 39, Financial Instruments). Examples of held-to-maturity investments are
debt securities and mandatorily redeemable preference shares. This category excludes loans
and receivables originated by the entity, which under IAS 39 constitute a separate category
of asset. Held-to-maturity investments are to be measured at amortized cost. (For a detailed
discussion on financial instruments, refer to Chapters 7 and 12 of this publication.)

Investment property. This denotes property being held to earn rentals, or for capital
appreciation, or both, rather than for use in production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Investment property
should be initially measured at cost. Subsequent to initial measurement an entity is required
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to elect either the fair value model or the cost model. (IAS 40 is the relevant standard: for a
detailed discussion on investment property, refer to Chapter 12.)

Property, plant, and equipment. Tangible assets that are held by an entity for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for rental to others, or for administrative
purposes and which are expected to be used during more than one period. Included are such
items as land, buildings, machinery and equipment, furniture and fixtures, motor vehicles and
equipment. These should be disclosed, with the related accumulated depreciation, as fol-
lows:

Machinery and equipment $xxx
Less accumulated depreciation (xxx) $xxx
or

Machinery and equipment (net of $xxx accumu-
lated depreciation) $xxx

Accumulated depreciation should be shown by major classes of depreciable assets. In
addition to showing this amount in the statement of financial position, the notes to the finan-
cial statements should contain balances of major classes of depreciable assets, by nature or
function, at the date of the statement of financial position, along with a general description of
the method or methods used in computing depreciation with respect to major classes of de-
preciable assets (IAS 16).

Illustrative example

Superconductors SA
Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2009

Note 3—Property, Plant, and Equipment

2008 Land Fixtures Equipment
(in thousands of euros) and buildings  and fittings and other Total
Gross value at January 1, 2008 9,796 8,110 20,691 38,597
Additions 42 282 1,409 1,733
Disposals - 41) (858) (899)
Translation adjustments -- 205 (1.223) (1.428)
Gross value at December 31, 2008 9,838 8,146 20,019 38,003
Accumulated depreciation at December 31, 2008 (7,.338) (3.837) (17.248) (28.423)
Net value at December 31, 2008 2,500 4,309 2,771 9.580
2009
(in thousands of euros)
Gross value at January 1, 2009 9,838 8,146 20,019 38,003
Additions 4 98 1,577 1,679
Disposals - (116) (832) (948)
Translation adjustments -- (158) (858) (1.016)
Gross value at December 31, 2009 9,84 8,014 19,862 37,718
Accumulated depreciation at December 31, 2009 (1.419) (4.186) (17.428)  (29.033)
Net value at December 31, 2009 2,423 3,828 2,434 8,685
Change in depreciation
2008 Land Fixtures Equipment
(in thousands of euros) and buildings and fittings and other Total
Accumulated depreciation at January 1, 2008 (7,263) (3,321) (17,031) (27,615)
Additional depreciation (75) (498) (1,488) (2,061)
Disposal of assets -- 69 723 792
Translation adjustments - 87) 548 461

Accumulated depreciation at December 31, 2008 (7,338) (3,837) (17,248) (28,423)
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2009
(in thousands of euros)

Accumulated depreciation at January 1, 2009

Additional depreciation
Disposal of assets
Translation adjustments

Accumulated depreciation at December 31, 2009

Intangible assets.

Land Fixtures Equipment
and buildings  and fittings and other Total
(7,338) (3,837) (17,248)  (28,423)
81) (537) (1,646) (2,264)
- 74 778 852
-- 114 688 852
(7,419) (4,186) 17428)  (29,003)

marks, patents, copyrights, and organizational costs.

IAS 38 stipulates that where an intangible is being amortized, it should be carried at cost

These are noncurrent assets of a business, without physical sub-
stance, the possession of which is expected to provide future benefits to the owner. Included
in this category are the unidentifiable asset goodwill and the identifiable intangibles trade-

net of accumulated amortization. Generally, the amortization of an intangible asset, or any

impairment, is shown separately as a deduction from the asset cost, since that is a legal re-
quirement in jurisdictions such as the EU, but IAS 38 does not require this mode of presen-

tation.

Illustrative example

Superconductors SA
Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2009

Note 1—Intangible Assets

2008

(in thousands of euros)

Gross value at January 1, 2008
External purchases

Internal development costs
Write-offs and disposals

Transfers

Translation adjustments

Gross value at December 31, 2008
Amortization at December 31, 2008
Net carrying value at December 31, 2008

2009

(in thousands of euros)

Gross value at January 1, 2009
External purchases

Internal development costs
Write-offs and disposals

Transfers

Translation adjustments

Gross value at December 31, 2009
Amortization at December 31, 2009
Net carrying value at December 31, 2009

Changes in accumulated amortization

2008

(in thousands of euros)
Amortization at January 1, 2008
Amortization charges

Disposals of assets

Translation adjustments
Amortization at December 31, 2008

Management Patents Other
information and intangible
software trademarks assets Total
8,555 1,703 5,232 15,490
845 177 -- 1,022
381 -- -- 381
- - 12) (12)
94 -- 94) --
(38) - a2) (50)
9,837 1,880 5,114 16,831
(6.913) (1.523) (4.422)  (12.858)
2,924 _357 692 _3.973
Management Patents Other
information and intangible
software trademarks assets Total
9,837 1,880 5,114 16,831
1,061 137 42 1,240
404 - -- 404
(17) - - (17
(15) - 15 --
(54) - 4) (58)
11,216 2,017 5,167 18,400
(8.367) (1.659) (5.018)  (15.044)
(2,849) _ 358 149 3,356
Management Patents Other
information and intangible
software trademarks assets Total
(5,522) (1,407) (3,976)  (10,905)
(1,490) (116) (446) (2,052)
63 -- -- 63
36 I - 36
(6.913) (1,523) (4.422)  (12,858)
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Management Patents Other

2009 information and intangible

(in thousands of euros) software trademarks assets Total

Amortization at January 1, 2009 (6,913) (1,523) (4,422)  (12,858)
Amortization charges (1,574) (136) (596) (2,306)
Disposals of assets 97 - -- 97

Translation adjustments 23 —— - 23

Amortization at December 31, 2009 (8,367) (1,659) (5,018)  (15,044)

Assets held for sale. Where an entity has committed to a plan to sell an asset or group
of assets, these should be reclassified as assets held for sale and should be measured at the
lower of their carrying amount or their fair value less selling costs. (This requirement, set
forth by IFRS 3, is discussed in Chapter 10).

Other assets. An all-inclusive heading for accounts that do not fit neatly into any of the
other asset categories (e.g., long-term deferred expenses that will not be consumed within
one operating cycle, and deferred tax assets).

Classification of Liabilities

The liabilities are normally displayed in the statement of financial position in the order
of payment due dates.

Current liabilities. According to IAS 1, a liability should be classified as a current li-
ability when

1. It is expected to be settled in the normal course of business within the entity’s
operating cycle;

2. It is due to be settled within twelve months of the date of the statement of financial
position;

3. Itis held primarily for the purpose of being traded; or

4. The entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement beyond twelve
months

All other liabilities should be classified as noncurrent liabilities. Obligations that are
due on demand or are callable at any time by the lender are classified as current regardless of
the present intent of the entity or of the lender concerning early demand for repayment. Cur-
rent liabilities also include

1. Obligations arising from the acquisition of goods and services entering into the en-
tity’s normal operating cycle (e.g., accounts payable, short-term notes payable,
wages payable, taxes payable, and other miscellaneous payables).

2. Collections of money in advance for the future delivery of goods or performance of
services, such as rent received in advance and unearned subscription revenues.

3. Other obligations maturing within the current operating cycle, such as the current
maturity of bonds and long-term notes.

Certain liabilities, such as trade payables and accruals for operating costs, which form
part of the working capital used in the normal operating cycle of the business, are to be clas-
sified as current liabilities even if they are due to be settled after more than twelve months
from the date of the statement of financial position.

Other current liabilities which are not settled as part of the operating cycle, but which
are due for settlement within twelve months of the date of the statement of financial position,
such as dividends payable and the current portion of long-term debt, should also be classified
as current liabilities. However, interest-bearing liabilities that provide the financing for
working capital on a long-term basis and are not scheduled for settlement within twelve
months should not be classified as current liabilities.
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IAS 1 provides another exception to the general rule that a liability due to be repaid
within twelve months from the end of the reporting period should be classified as a current
liability. If the original term was for a period longer than twelve months and the entity
intended to refinance the obligation on a long-term basis prior to the date of the statement of
financial position, and that intention is supported by an agreement to refinance, or to resched-
ule payments, which is completed before the financial statements are approved, then the debt
is to be reclassified as noncurrent as of the date of the statement of financial position.

However, an entity would continue to classify as current liabilities its long-term finan-
cial liabilities when they are due to be settled within twelve months, if an agreement to refi-
nance on a long-term basis was made after the date of the statement of financial position.
Similarly if long-term debt becomes callable as a result of a breach of a loan covenant, and
no agreement with the lender to provide a grace period of more than twelve months has been
concluded by the date of the statement of financial position, the debt must be classified as
current. (This is different than under US GAAP, which permits a determination to be made
as of the date of issuance of the financial statements, which may be months after the date of
the statement of financial position.)

The distinction between current and noncurrent liquid assets generally rests upon both
the ability and the intent of the entity to realize or not to realize cash for the assets within the
traditional one-year concept. Intent is not of similar significance with regard to the classifi-
cation of liabilities, however, because the creditor has the legal right to demand satisfaction
of a currently due obligation, and even an expression of intent not to exercise that right does
not diminish the entity’s burden should there be a change in the creditor’s intention. Thus,
whereas an entity can control its use of current assets, it is limited by its contractual obliga-
tions with regard to current liabilities, and accordingly, accounting for current liabilities
(subject to the two exceptions noted above) is based on legal terms, not expressions of intent.

Noncurrent liabilities. Obligations that are not expected to be liquidated within the
current operating cycle, including

1. Obligations arising as part of the long-term capital structure of the entity, such as
the issuance of bonds, long-term notes, and lease obligations;

2. Obligations arising out of the normal course of operations, such as pension obliga-
tions, decommissioning provisions, and deferred taxes; and

3. Contingent obligations involving uncertainty as to possible expenses or losses.
These are resolved by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more future events
that confirm the amount payable, the payee, and/or the date payable. Contingent
obligations include such items as product warranties (see the section on provisions
below).

For all long-term liabilities, the maturity date, nature of obligation, rate of interest, and
description of any security pledged to support the agreement should be clearly shown. Also,
in the case of bonds and long-term notes, any premium or discount should be reported sepa-
rately as an addition to or subtraction from the par (or face) value of the bond or note. Long-
term obligations which contain certain covenants that must be adhered to are classified as
current liabilities if any of those covenants have been violated and the lender has the right to
demand payment. Unless the lender expressly waives that right or the conditions causing the
default are corrected, the obligation is current.

Offsetting assets and liabilities. In general, assets and liabilities may not be offset
against each other. However, the reduction of accounts receivable by the allowance for
doubtful accounts, or of property, plant, and equipment by the accumulated depreciation, are
acts that reduce these assets by the appropriate valuation accounts and are not considered to
be the result of offsetting assets and liabilities.
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Only where there is an actual right of setoff is the offsetting of assets and liabilities a
proper presentation. This right of setoff exists only when all the following conditions are
met:

1. Each of the two parties owes the other determinable amounts (although they may be
in different currencies and bear different rates of interest).

2. The entity has the right to set off against the amount owed by the other party.

3. The entity intends to offset.

4. The right of setoff is legally enforceable.

In particular cases, laws of certain countries, including some bankruptcy laws, may im-
pose restrictions or prohibitions against the right of setoff. Furthermore, when maturities
differ, only the party with the nearest maturity can offset because the party with the longer
maturity must settle in the manner determined by the earlier maturity party.

The question of setoff is sometimes significant for financial institutions which buy and
sell financial instruments, often repackaging them as part of the process. IAS 39 provides
detailed rules for determining when derecognition is appropriate and when assets and liabili-
ties must be retained on the statement of financial position.

Classification of Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholders’ equity represents the interests of the owners in the net assets of a corpora-
tion. It shows the cumulative net results of past transactions and other events affecting the
entity since its inception.

Share capital. This consists of the par or nominal value of preference and ordinary
shares. The number of shares authorized, the number issued, and the number outstanding
should be clearly shown. For preference share capital, the preference features must also be
stated, as the following example illustrates:

6% cumulative preference shares, $100 par value, callable at $115,

15,000 shares authorized, 10,000 shares issued and outstanding $ 1,000,000
Ordinary shares, $10 par value per share, 2,000,000 shares authorized,
1,500,000 shares issued and outstanding $15,000,000

Preference share capital that is redeemable at the option of the holder may not be consid-
ered a part of equity—rather, it should be reported as a liability. IAS 32 makes it clear that
substance prevails over form in the case of compound financial instruments; any instrument
which includes a contractual obligation for the entity to deliver cash is considered to be a
liability.

Retained earnings. This represents the accumulated earnings since the inception of the
entity, less any earnings distributed to owners in the form of dividends. In some jurisdic-
tions, notably in continental Europe, the law requires that a portion of retained earnings,
equivalent to a small proportion of share capital, be set aside as a legal reserve. Historically,
this was intended to limit dividend distributions by young or ailing businesses. This practice
is expected to wane, and in any event is not congruent with financial reporting in accordance
with IFRS and with the distinction made between equity and liabilities.

Also included in the equity section of the statement of financial position is treasury stock
representing issued shares that have been reacquired by the issuer, in jurisdictions where the
purchase of the entity’s own shares is permitted by law. These shares are generally stated at
their cost of acquisition, as a reduction from shareholders’ equity.

Finally, some elements of comprehensive income, the components of other comprehen-
sive income, are reported in equity. These components of other comprehensive income in-
clude net changes in the fair values of available-for-sale securities portfolios, and unrealized
gains or losses on translations of the financial statements of subsidiaries denominated in a
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foreign currency, net changes in revaluation surplus, actuarial gains and losses on defined
benefit plans, and the effective portion of gains and losses on hedging instruments in a cash
flow hedge. In accordance with the revised IAS 1, net changes in all items of other compre-
hensive income should be reported in a new statement called “statement of comprehensive
income,” and accumulated balances in these items are reported in equity. (For a detailed dis-
cussion on statement of comprehensive income, refer to Chapter 4.)

Noncontrolling interests should be shown separately from owners’ equity of the parent
company in group accounts (i.e., consolidated financial statements), but are included in the
overall equity section.

Supplemental Disclosures

In addition to the recognition and measurement principles set forth under IFRS, there are
also requirements for supplemental disclosures, generally shown as notes to the accounts.
There is also a degree of fluidity between showing information “on the face of the accounts”
(i.e., directly in the statement of financial position or income statement) and in the notes: the
main categories have to be preserved (see below), but the detail underlying the reported
amounts may be shown in the notes. The two basic techniques are giving parenthetical ex-
planations on the face of the accounts, and giving additional information in the notes.

Parenthetical explanations. Supplemental information is disclosed by means of paren-
thetical explanations following the appropriate statement of financial position items. For
example

Equity share capital ($10 par value, 200,000 shares authorized, 150,000 issued) $1,500,000

Parenthetical explanations have an advantage over both footnotes and supporting schedules,
as they place the disclosure in the body of the statement, where their importance cannot be
overlooked by users of the financial statements.

Footnotes. If the additional information cannot be disclosed in a relatively short and
concise parenthetical explanation, a footnote should be used, with a cross-reference shown in
the statement of financial position. For example

Inventories (see Note 1) $2,550,000
The notes to the financial statements would then contain the following:

Note 1: Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined by the first-in,
first-out method, and market is determined on the basis of estimated net realizable value. As of
the date of the statement of financial position, the market value of the inventory is $2,720,000.

To present adequate detail regarding certain statement of financial position items, or
move complex detail from the face of the accounts, a supporting schedule may be provided
in the notes. Current receivables may be a single line item in the statement of financial posi-
tion, as follows:

Current receivables (see Note 2) $2,500,000
A separate schedule for current receivables would then be presented as follows:

Note 2
Current Receivables

Customers’ accounts and notes $2.,000,000
Associated companies 300,000
Nonconsolidated affiliates 322,000
Other 18.000
2,640,000
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (140.000)

$2.500,000



92 Wiley IFRS 2010

Valuation accounts are another form of schedule used to keep detail off the statement of
financial position. For example, accumulated depreciation reduces the book value for prop-
erty, plant, and equipment, and a bond premium (discount) increases (decreases) the face
value of a bond payable as shown in the following illustrations. The net amount is shown in
the statement of financial position, and the detail in the notes.

Property, plant, and equipment

Equipment $18,000,000

Less accumulated depreciation (1,625.000) $16,375,000
Noncurrent liabilities
Bonds payable $20,000,000
Less discount on bonds payable 1.300,000) $18,700,000
Bonds payable $20,000,000
Add premium on bonds payable 1.300.000 $21,300,000

Notes

In accordance with TAS 1 the notes should (1) present information about the basis of
preparation of the financial statements and the specific accounting policies used; (2) disclose
the information required by IFRS that is not presented elsewhere in the financial statements,
and (3) provide information that is not presented elsewhere in the financial statements, but is
relevant to an understanding of any of them.

An entity should present notes in a systematic manner and should cross-reference each
item in the statements of financial position and of comprehensive income, in the separate
income statement (if presented), and in the statements of changes in equity and of cash flows
to any related information in the notes.

An entity normally should present notes in the following order, to help users to under-
stand the financial statements and to compare them with financial statements of other enti-
ties:

Statement of compliance with IFRS

Summary of significant accounting policies applied

Supporting information for items presented in the financial statements

Other disclosures, including contingent liabilities and unrecognized contractual
commitments; and nonfinancial disclosures (e.g., the entity’s financial risk man-
agement objectives and policies).

el NS

Statement of compliance with IFRS. IAS 1 requires an entity whose financial state-
ments comply with IFRS to make an explicit and unreserved statement of such compliance in
the notes. Financial statements should not be described as complying with IFRS unless they
comply with all the requirements of IFRS.

An entity might refer to IFRS in describing the basis on which its financial statements
are prepared without making this explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with
IFRS. For example, the EU mandated a carve-out of the financial instruments standard and
other jurisdictions have carved out or altered other IFRS standards. In some cases, these
differences may significantly affect the reported financial performance and financial position
of the entity. This information should be disclosed in the notes.

Accounting policies. The policy note should begin with a clear statement on the nature
of the comprehensive basis of accounting used. A reporting entity may only claim to follow
IFRS if it complies with every single IFRS in force as of the reporting date. The EU made
certain amendments to IFRS when endorsing them (a carve-out from IAS 39), and those EU
companies following these directives cannot claim to follow IFRS, and instead will have to
acknowledge compliance with IFRS as endorsed by the EU.
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Financial statements should include clear and concise disclosure of all significant ac-
counting policies that have been used in the preparation of those financial statements. Man-
agement must also indicate the judgments that it has made in the process of applying the ac-
counting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized. The entity
must also disclose the key assumptions about the future and any other sources of estimation
uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to later be made to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities.

IAS 1 requires an entity to disclose in the summary of significant accounting policies:
(1) the measurement basis (or bases) used in preparing the financial statements, and (2) the
other accounting policies applied that are relevant to an understanding of the financial state-
ments. Measurement bases may include historical cost, current cost, net realizable value, fair
value or recoverable amount. Other accounting policies should be disclosed if they could
assist users in understanding how transactions, other events and conditions are reported in the
financial statements.

In addition, an entity should disclose the judgments that management has made in the
process of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognized in the financial statements. Management makes judgments which
can significantly affect the amounts reported in the financial statements, for example, when
making decisions whether investments in securities should be classified as trading, available
for sale or held to maturity, or whether lease transactions transfer substantially all the signifi-
cant risks and rewards of ownership of financial assets to another party.

Determining the carrying amounts of some assets and liabilities requires estimating the
effects of uncertain future events on those assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting
period in measuring, for example, the recoverable values of different classes of property,
plant, and equipment, or future outcome of litigation in progress. The reporting entity should
disclose information about the assumptions it makes about the future and other major sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, which have a significant risk of
resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year. The notes to the financial statements should include the nature and the
carrying amount of those assets and liabilities at the end of the period.

Financial statement users must be made aware of the accounting policies used by re-
porting entities, so that they can better understand the financial statements and make com-
parisons with the financial statements of others. The policy disclosures should identify and
describe the accounting principles followed by the entity and methods of applying those
principles that materially affect the determination of financial position, results of operations,
or changes in cash flows. IAS 1 requires that disclosure of these policies be an integral part
of the financial statements.

IAS 8 (as discussed in Chapter 23) provides criteria for making accounting policy
choices. Policies should be relevant to the needs of users and should be reliable (representa-
tionally faithful, reflecting economic substance, neutral, prudent, and complete).

Fairness exception under IAS 1. Accounting standard setters have commonly recog-
nized the fact that even full compliance with promulgated financial reporting principles may,
on rare occasions, still not result in financial statements that are accurate, truthful, or fair.
Therefore many, but not all, standard-setting bodies have provided some form of exception
whereby the higher demand of having fair presentation of the entity’s financial position and
results of operations may be met, even if doing so might require a technical departure from
the codified body of GAAP.

In the US, this provision historically has been found in the profession’s auditing litera-
ture (the “Rule 203 exception”), but under various other national GAAP there commonly was
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found a “true and fair view” requirement that captured this objective. Under revised IAS 1,
an approach essentially identical to the true and fair view requirement (which is codified in
the EU’s Fourth Directive) has been formalized, as well. The rule under IFRS should be
narrowly construed, with only the more serious situations dealt with by permitting departures
from IFRS in order to achieve appropriate financial reporting objectives.

This matter has been addressed in greater detail in Chapter 2. In the authors’ view,
having such a fairness exception is vital for the goal of ensuring accurate and useful financial
reporting under IFRS. However, extreme caution is urged in reaching any decision to depart
from the formal requirements of IFRS, since these exceptions may have not been transposed
into stock exchange regulations.

Related-party disclosures. According to IAS 24, financial statements should include
disclosure of material related-party transactions that are defined by the standard as “transfer
of resources or obligations between related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged.”

A related party is essentially any party that controls or can significantly influence the fi-
nancial or operating decisions of the company to the extent that the company may be pre-
vented from fully pursuing its own interests. Such groups would include associates, inves-
tees accounted for by the equity method, trusts for the benefit of employees, principal
owners, key management personnel, and immediate family members of owners or manage-
ment.

Disclosures should take place even if there is no accounting recognition made for such
transactions (e.g., a service is performed without payment). Disclosures should generally not
imply that such related-party transactions were on terms essentially equivalent to arm’s-
length dealings. Additionally, when one or more companies are under common control such
that the financial statements might vary from those that would have been obtained if the
companies were autonomous, the nature of the control relationship should be disclosed even
if there are no transactions between the companies.

The disclosures generally should include

1. Nature of relationship

2. Description of transactions and effects of such transactions on the financial state-
ments for each period for which an income statement is presented

3. Financial amounts of transactions for each period for which an income statement is
presented and effects of any change in establishing the terms of such transactions
different from that used in prior periods

4.  Amounts due to and from such related parties as of the date of each statement of
financial position presented together with the terms and manner of settlement

Reporting comparative amounts for the preceding period. IAS 1 requires that finan-
cial statements should present corresponding figures for the preceding period. When the
presentation or classification of items is changed, the comparative data must also be changed,
unless it is impracticable to do so.

When an entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective re-
statement of items in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies items in its financial
statements, at a minimum, three statements of financial position, two of each of the other
statements, and related notes are required. The three statements of financial position pre-
sented are as at

1. The end of the current period;

2. The end of the previous period (which is the same as the beginning of the current
period); and

3. The beginning of the earliest comparative period.
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Note, however, that in circumstances where no accounting policy change is being
adopted retrospectively, and no restatement (to correct an error) is being applied retrospec-
tively, the statement of financial position as of the beginning of the earliest comparative pe-
riod included is not required to be presented. There is no prohibition against doing so, on the
other hand.

When the entity changes the presentation or classification of items in its financial state-
ments, the entity should reclassify the comparative amounts, unless reclassification is im-
practical. In reclassifying comparative amounts, the required disclosure includes (1) the na-
ture of the reclassification; (2) the amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified;
and (3) the reason for the reclassification. In situations where it is impracticable to reclassify
comparative amounts, an entity should disclose (1) the reason for not reclassifying the
amounts; and (2) the nature of the adjustments that would have been made if the amounts had
been reclassified.

The related footnote disclosures must also be presented on a comparative basis, except
for items of disclosure that would be not meaningful, or might even be confusing, if set forth
in such a manner. Although there is no official guidance on this issue, certain details, such as
schedules of debt maturities as of the end of the previous reporting period, would seemingly
be of little interest to users of the current statements and would be largely redundant with
information provided for the more recent year-end. Accordingly, such details are often
omitted from comparative financial statements. Most other disclosures, however, continue to
be meaningful and should be presented for all years for which basic financial statements are
displayed.

To increase the usefulness of financial statements, many companies include in their an-
nual reports five- or ten-year summaries of condensed financial information. This is not re-
quired by IFRS. These comparative statements allow investment analysts and other inter-
ested readers to perform comparative analysis of pertinent information. The presentation of
comparative financial statements in annual reports enhances the usefulness of such reports
and brings out more clearly the nature and trends of current changes affecting the entity.

Such presentation emphasizes the fact that the statements for a series of periods are far
more significant than those for a single period and that the accounts for one period are but an
installment of what is essentially a continuous history.

Subsequent events. The statement of financial position is dated as of the last day of the
fiscal period, but a period of time will usually elapse before the financial statements are actu-
ally prepared and issued. During this period, significant events or transactions may have
occurred that materially affect the company’s financial position. These events and transac-
tions are usually referred to as subsequent events. IAS 10 refers to these as “events after the
reporting period.” If not disclosed, significant events occurring between the end of the re-
porting period and the financial statement issuance date could make the financial statements
misleading to others not otherwise informed of such events.

There are two types of subsequent events described by IAS 10. The first type consists of
events that provide additional evidence with respect to conditions that existed at the end of
the reporting period and which affect the estimates inherent in the process of preparing fi-
nancial statements: these are called adjusting events. The second type consists of events that
do not provide evidence with respect to conditions that existed at the end of the reporting
period, but arose subsequent to that date (and prior to the actual issuance of the financial
statements): these are called nonadjusting events.

The principle is that the statement of financial position should reflect as accurately as
possible conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period, but not changes in condi-
tions that occurred subsequently, even though they have the potential to influence investors’
decisions. In the latter case disclosure is to be made.
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Examples of events after the reporting period

1. Aloss on an uncollectible trade account receivable as a result of a customer’s deteriorating fi-
nancial condition leading to bankruptcy subsequent to the end of the reporting period would
usually (but not always) be indicative of conditions existing at the end of the reporting pe-
riod, thereby calling for adjustment of the financial statements before their issuance. On the
other hand, a loss on an uncollectible trade account receivable resulting from a customer’s
major casualty, such as a fire or flood subsequent to the end of the reporting period, would
not be indicative of conditions existing at the end of the reporting period, and adjustment of
the financial statements would not be appropriate. However, if the amount is material, dis-
closure would be required.

2. Aloss arising from the recognition after the end of the reporting period that an asset such as
plant and equipment had suffered a material decline in value arising out of reduced marketa-
bility for the product or service it can produce. Such a reduction would be considered an
economic event in process at the end of the reporting period and would require adjustment
and recognition of the loss.

3. Nonadjusting events, which are those not existing at the end of the reporting period, require
disclosure but not adjustment. These could include
a. Sale of a bond or share capital after the end of the reporting period, even if planned be-

fore that date.

b. Purchase of a business, if the transaction is consummated after year-end.

c. Settlement of litigation when the event giving rise to the claim took place subsequent to
the end of the reporting period. The settlement is an economic event that would be ac-
counted for in the period of occurrence. (However, if the event occurred before the end
of the reporting period, IAS 37 would require that the estimated amount of the contin-
gency be accrued, in most instances, as discussed further in the next section of this
chapter.)

d. Loss of plant or inventories as a result of fire or flood.

e. Losses on receivables resulting from conditions (such as a customer’s major casualty)
arising subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

f.  Gains or losses on certain marketable securities.

Contingent liabilities and assets. IAS 37 defines provisions, contingent assets, and
contingent liabilities. Importantly, it differentiates provisions from contingent liabilities.
Provisions are recognized as liabilities (if reliably estimable), inasmuch as these are present
obligations with probable outflows of resources embodying economic benefits needed to
settle them. Contingent liabilities, on the other hand, are not recognized as liabilities under
IFRS because they are either only possible obligations (i.e., not yet confirmed as being pres-
ent obligations), or they are present obligations that do not meet the threshold for recognition
(either because resource outflows are not probable, or because a sufficiently reliable estimate
cannot be developed). Contingent liabilities are currently disclosed, although this treatment
is likely to change.

Provisions are accrued by a charge against income if

1. The reporting entity has a present obligation as a result of past events;
2. Itis probable that an outflow of the entity’s resources will be required; and
3. Areliable estimate can be made of the amount.

If an estimate of the obligation cannot be made with a reasonable degree of certitude, accrual
is not prescribed, but rather disclosure in the notes to the financial statements is needed.

For a provision to be made, the entity has to have incurred a constructive obligation.
This may be an actual legal obligation, but it may also be only an obligation that arises as a
result of an entity’s stated polices. However, to preclude the use of reserves for manipulative
purposes (“earnings management”), provisions for restructuring are subject to additional re-
strictions, and a provision may only be made once a detailed plan has been agreed and its
implementation has commenced.
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At the present date, the key recognition issue for contingent liabilities is the probability
of a future cash outflow. The probability of this occurring is the threshold condition for rec-
ognition: a probable outflow triggers recording a provision, while an unlikely or improbable
outflow creates only the need for a disclosure. In its ongoing business combinations project,
the TASB (and also FASB) appears likely to conclude that a contingency is usually a combi-
nation of an unconditional right or obligation which is linked to a conditional right or obli-
gation. The unconditional element is always to be recognized, although its value will be a
function of the probability of the conditional element occurring. So if a company is being
sued for €1m, and it considers that it has a 10% chance of losing, under the existing financial
reporting rules, no provision would be made; if the new approach under consideration were
to be adopted, this could be analyzed as an unconditional obligation to pay what the court
decides, and this obligation would be measured as 10% of €1m. The probability of the loss
then shifts from being a recognition criterion to being a measurement tool.

In June 2005 the TASB issued an Exposure Draft (ED), Proposed Amendments to
IAS 37, “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets,” which would eliminate
the terms “provisions,” “contingent liability,” and “contingent asset” from the IFRS litera-
ture, and replace these with a new term, “nonfinancial liabilities.” The main effect of the
proposed amendments would be to require an entity to recognize items that meet the defini-
tion of a liability, unless they cannot be measured reliably. Uncertainty about the amount or
timing of the economic benefits required to settle a liability would be reflected in the mea-
surement of this liability. This proposal is a part of the IASB’s Liabilities project, which
replaced the Nonfinancial Liabilities project. A major change to the current practice of ac-
counting for restructuring provisions has been introduced by this proposal. Following the
general guidelines on constructive obligations, instead of recognizing one major restructuring
provision at a specific time, entities would need to recognize different liabilities relating to
the different costs occurring in the restructuring, which costs can occur at different points in
time (see a separate paragraph in Chapter 14). As of mid-2009, this draft remains outstand-
ing and under active discussion by IASB.

Share capital. An entity is required to disclose information that enables users of its fi-
nancial statements to evaluate the entity’s objectives, policies, and processes for managing
capital. This information should include a description of what it manages as capital, the na-
ture of externally imposed capital requirements, if there are any, as well as how those re-
quirements are incorporated into the management of capital. Additionally, summary quanti-
tative data about what it manages as capital should be provided as well as any changes in the
components of capital and methods of managing capital from the previous period. The con-
sequences of noncompliance with externally imposed capital requirements should also be
included in the notes. All these disclosures are based on the information provided internally
to key management personnel.

An entity should also present either in the statement of financial position or in the state-
ment of changes in equity, or in the notes, disclosures about each class of share capital as
well as about the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity. Information about share
capital should include the number of shares authorized and issued (fully paid or not fully
paid); par value per share or that shares have no par value; the rights, preferences and re-
strictions attached to each class of share capital, shares in the entity held by the entity (trea-
sury shares) or by its subsidiaries or associates; and shares reserved for issue under options
and contracts.

Other disclosures required by IAS 1. The reporting entity is required to provide de-
tails of any dividends proposed or declared before the financial statements were authorized to
issue but not charged to equity. It should also indicate the amount of any cumulative prefer-
ence dividends not recognized in the statement of changes in equity.
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If not otherwise disclosed within the financial statements, these items should be reported
in the footnotes.

1. The domicile and legal form of the entity, its country of incorporation, and the ad-
dress of the registered office (or principal place of business, if different);
2. A description of the nature of the reporting entity’s operations and its principal ac-
tivities; and
3. The name of the parent entity and the ultimate parent of the group.
These disclosures (which have been modeled on those set forth by the Fourth and Sev-
enth EU Directives) are particularly of interest given the multinational character of many
entities reporting in accordance with IFRS.

Extract from Published Financial Statements

ARCELORMITTAL AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31
2007 2008
(in millions of US dollars)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 7,860 7,576
Restricted cash 245 11
Assets held for sale (note 4) 1,296 910
Trade accounts receivables (note 5) 9,533 6,737
Inventories (note 6) 21,750 24,741
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (note 7) 4,644 4.439
Total current assets 45,328 44,414
Noncurrent assets:
Goodwill and intangible assets (note 8) 15,031 16,119
Property, plant, and equipment (note 9) 61,994 60,755
Investments accounted for using the equity method (note 10) 5,887 8,512
Other investments (note 11) 2,159 437
Deferred tax assets (note 19) 1,629 751
Other assets (note 12) 1.597 2,100
Total noncurrent assets 88.297 88.674
Total assets 133,625 33,088
Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities:
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt (note 14) 8,542 8,409
Trade accounts payable and other 13,991 10,501
Short-term provisions (note 20) 1,144 3,292
Liabilities held for sale (note 4) 266 370
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (note 21) 7,275 7,413
Income tax liabilities 991 775
Total current liabilities 32,209 30,760
Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term debt, net of current portion (note 15) 22,085 25,667
Deferred tax liabilities (note 19) 7,927 6,395
Deferred employee benefits (note 23) 6,244 7,111
Long-term provisions (note 20) 2,456 2,343
Other long-term obligations 1.169 1.582
Total noncurrent liabilities 39.881 43.098

Total liabilities 72,090 73.858
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December 31
2007 2008

Equity (note 17)
Common shares (no par value, 1,470,000,000 and 1,617,000,000

shares authorized, 1,448,836,347 and 1,448,836,347 shares issued and

1,421,570,646 and 1,366,002,278 outstanding at December 31, 2007

and 2008, respectively) 9,269 9,269
Treasury stock (27,255,701 and 82,824,069, respectively, at cost) (1,552) (5,800)
Additional paid-in capital 20,309 20,575
Retained earnings 23,552 30,403
Reserves 5.107 751
Equity attributable to the owners of the parent 56,685 55,198
Minority interest 4.850 4,032
Total equity 61,535 59.230
Total liabilities and equity 133,625 133,088

2009 Improvements to IFRS

The IASB adopted a strategy of issuing omnibus annual revisions to a range of existing
standards in 2006. The first of these pronouncements was finalized in early 2008, consisting
of 35 amendments, most of which made modest changes to presentation, recognition, and
measurements. These various amendments are addressed in the appropriate chapters of this
publication.

Of the several changes that had been proposed for IAS 1, the only change that was ulti-
mately adopted was the one that clarified that financial assets and financial liabilities that are
classified as held for trading in accordance with IAS 39 need not necessarily be presented as
current assets or current liabilities.

Improvements to IFRS amended the paragraph in IAS 1 stating conditions when an en-
tity should classify a liability as current. An entity should classify a liability as current when
it does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period. The amendment clarifies that terms of a liability that
could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of equity instru-
ments do not affect its classification. The effective date of this amendment is for annual pe-
riods beginning on or after January 1, 2010.
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PERSPECTIVE AND ISSUES

The IASB’s Framework emphasizes the importance of information about the perfor-
mance of an entity, which is useful to assess potential changes in the economic resources that
are likely to control in the future, predict future cash flows, and form judgments about the
effectiveness with which the entity might employ additional resources. Since mid-2004, the
IASB and the FASB have been collaboratively pursuing projects on Financial Statement
Presentation (originally entitled Performance Reporting), which has resulted in fundamental
changes to the format and content of what is commonly referred to as the income statement
(or the profit or loss account). This joint effort has been bifurcated. The first phase of the
project addressed what constitutes a complete set of financial statements and a requirement
to present comparative financial statements (absent from US GAAP), and culminated in the
issuance of revised IAS 1 in 2007, effective in 2009. The second phase of the project will
deal with more challenging issues, such as standards for presentation on the face of the re-
quired statement(s) and the use of totals and subtotals; a discussion paper on this second
phase was issued in late 2008 (see Chapter 2).

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, as revised in 2007, brings IAS 1 largely
into line with the US standard—Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 130 (FAS
130), Reporting Comprehensive Income. The standard requires all nonowner changes in eq-
uity (i.e., comprehensive income items) to be presented either in one statement of compre-
hensive income or else in two statements, a separate income statement and a statement of
comprehensive income. Components of comprehensive income are not permitted to be pre-
sented in the statement of changes in equity (an approach that is, alas, still permitted under
US GAAP).

As a combined statement of income and comprehensive income became mandatory (or
at least preferable), this represented a triumph of the all-inclusive concept of performance
reporting. While this approach has been officially endorsed by world standard setters for
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many decades, in fact many standards promulgated over the years (e.g., IAS 39 requiring the
exclusion of temporary changes in the fair value of investments other than trading securities
from current income) have deviated from adherence to this principle. While IAS 1 encour-
ages the presentation of comprehensive income in a single statement, with net income being
an intermediate caption, it remains acceptable to instead report in a two-statement format,
with a separate income statement and a separate statement of comprehensive income. The
statement of comprehensive income will report all nonowner changes in equity separately
from owner changes in equity (investments by or distributions to owners).

IAS 1 in its current incarnation thus marks a notable return to an all inclusive concept of
performance reporting, which had been eroded in recent decades as items such as unrealized
gains and losses on available-for-sale investments and defined benefit plan actuarial gains or
losses became reportable directly in the equity section of the statement of financial
position—a practice which generated understandable confusion regarding the identity of the
reporting entity’s “real” results of operations.

Concepts of performance and measures of income have changed over the years, and cur-
rent reporting still largely focuses on realized income and expense. However, unrealized
gains and losses also reflect real economic transactions and events and are of great interest to
decision makers. Under current IFRS, some of these unrealized gains and losses are recog-
nized, while others are unrecognized. Both the financial reporting entities themselves and
the financial analyst community go to great lengths to identify those elements within re-
ported income which are likely to be continuing into the future, since expected earnings and
cash flows of future periods are main drivers of share prices.

IFRS rules for the presentation of income are based on a so-called “mixed attribute
model.” It thus reflects a mixture of traditional realized income reporting, accompanied by
fair value measures applied to unrealized gains and losses meeting certain criteria (e.g., fi-
nancial instruments are accounted for differently from plant assets). For example, unrealized
gains and losses arising from the translation of the foreign currency-denominated financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries do not flow through the income statement. IAS 1 requires
that all owner changes in equity should be reported separately from nonowner changes (de-
riving from performance), in a separate statement of changes in equity.

The traditional income statement has been known by many titles. IFRS refer to this
statement as the income statement, but in the EU Fourth Directive and in many Common-
wealth countries it is referred to as the profit and loss account. In the United States, other
names, such as the statement of income, statement of earnings, or statement of operations,
are sometimes used to denote the income statement. For convenience, this publication uses
the term income statement throughout, denoting the financial statement which reports all
items entering into the determination of periodic earnings, but excluding other comprehen-
sive income items which are reported in the other comprehensive income section of the com-
prehensive income statement.

For many years, the income statement had been widely perceived by investors, creditors,
management, and other interested parties as the single most important of an entity’s basic
financial statements. In fact, beginning in the mid-twentieth century, accounting theory de-
velopment was largely driven by the desire to present a meaningful income statement, even
to the extent that the balance sheet sometimes became the repository for balances of various
accounts, such as deferred charges and credits, which could scarcely meet any reasonable
definitions of assets or liabilities. This was done largely to serve the needs of investors, who
are commonly thought to use the past income of a business as the most important input to
their predictions for entities’ future earnings and cash flows, which in turn form the basis for
their predictions of future share prices and dividends.
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Creditors look to the income statement for insight into the borrower’s ability to generate
the future cash flows needed to pay interest and eventually to repay the principal amounts of
the obligations. Even in the instance of secured debt, creditors do not look primarily to the
statement of financial position (balance sheet), inasmuch as the seizure and liquidation of
collateral is never the preferred route to recovery of the lender’s investment. Rather, genera-
tion of cash flows from operations—which is generally closely correlated to income—is seen
as the primary source for debt service.

Management, then, must be concerned with the income statement by virtue of the im-
portance placed on it by investors and creditors. In many large corporations, senior man-
agement receives substantial bonuses relating to either profit targets or share price perfor-
mance. Consequently, managements sometimes devote considerable efforts to massaging
what appears in the income statement, in order to present the most encouraging view of the
reporting entity’s future prospects. This means that standard setters need to bear in mind the
abuse possibilities of the rules they impose, and for that matter, the rules have been imposed
in response to previous financial reporting abuses.

IFRS formerly allowed companies to segregate in their income statement any items not
expected to recur, and to designate them as extraordinary gains or losses, but this, perhaps
predictably, led to abuses. As one standard setter ironically defined these items, “credits are
ordinary items and debits are extraordinary items for some companies.” In response to such
abuses, IASB eliminated the extraordinary item category entirely. On a related matter, the
recognition of provisions for restructuring costs is now somewhat restricted, in an attempt to
prevent companies taking a larger-than-necessary charge against earnings in one period in
order to retain greater flexibility (i.e., to absorb unrelated expenses or to create earnings) in
the next (a fairly commonly observed practice that has been referred to as providing “cookie
jar reserves”).

The importance placed on income measurement has, as is well known, influenced be-
havior by some management personnel, who have sought to manipulate results to, say, meet
Wall Street earnings estimates. The motivation for this improper behavior is readily under-
standable when one observes that recent markets have severely punished companies that
missed earnings estimates by as little as a penny per share. One very popular vehicle for
earnings management has centered on revenue recognition. Historically, certain revenue
recognition situations, such as that involving prepaid service revenue, have lacked specific
financial reporting rules or have been highly subject to interpretation, opening the door to
aggressive accounting by some entities. While in many businesses the revenue earning cycle
is simple and straightforward and therefore difficult to manipulate, there are many other situ-
ations where it is a matter of interpretation as to when the revenue has actually been earned.
Examples have included recognition by lessor of lease income from long-term equipment
rental contracts that were bundled with supplies and maintenance agreements, and accruals
of earnings on long-term construction contracts or software development projects having
multiple deliverables.

The information provided by the income statement, relating to individual items of in-
come and expense, as well as to the relationships between and among these items (such as
the amounts reported as gross margin or profit before interest and taxes), facilitates financial
analysis, especially that relating to the reporting entity’s historical and possible future profit-
ability. Even with the ascendancy of the statement of financial position as the premier finan-
cial statement, financial statement users will always devote considerable attention to the in-
come statement.

This chapter focuses on key income measurement issues and on matters of comprehen-
sive income, statement presentation and disclosure. It also explains and illustrates the pre-
sentation of the statement of comprehensive income and the statement of changes in equity.
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Sources of IFRS

IAS 1, 8, 14, 16, 18, 19, 21, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40
IFRS 1,5
SIC 29
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements

DEFINITIONS OF TERMS
Elements of Financial Statements

Comprehensive income. The change in equity (net assets) of an entity during a period
from transactions and other events and circumstances from nonowner sources. It includes all
changes in net assets during a period, except those resulting from investments by owners and
distributions to owners. It comprises all components of “profit or loss” and “other compre-
hensive income” presented in the statement of comprehensive income.

Expenses. Decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of
outflows or depletions of assets or incurring liabilities that result in decreases in equity, other
than those relating to distributions to equity participants. The term expenses is broad enough
to include losses as well as normal categories of expenses; thus, IFRS differs from the corre-
sponding US GAAP standard, which deems losses to be a separate and distinct element to be
accounted for, denoting decreases in equity from peripheral or incidental transactions.

Income. Increases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of in-
flows or enhancements of assets that result in increases in equity, other than those relating to
contributions from equity participants. The IASB’s Framework clarifies that this definition
of income encompasses both revenue and gains. As with expenses and losses, the corres-
ponding US accounting standard holds that revenues and gains constitute two separate ele-
ments of financial reporting, with gains denoting increases in equity from peripheral or inci-
dental transactions.

Other comprehensive income. Items of income and expense (including reclassification
adjustments) that are not recognized in profit or loss as required or permitted by other IFRS.
The components of other comprehensive income include (1) changes in revaluation surplus
(IAS 16 and 38); (2) actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans (IAS 19); (3) transla-
tion gains and losses (IAS 21); (4) gains and losses on remeasuring available-for-sale finan-
cial assets (IAS 39); and (5) the effective portion of gains and losses on hedging instruments
in a cash flow hedge (IAS 39).

Profit or loss. The total of income less expenses, excluding the components of other
comprehensive income.

Reclassification adjustments. Amounts reclassified to profit or loss in the current pe-
riod that were recognized in other comprehensive income in the current or previous periods.

Statement of changes in equity. As prescribed by IAS 1, an entity should present, as a
separate financial statement, a statement of changes in equity showing

1. Total comprehensive income for the period (reporting separately amounts attribut-
able to owners of the parent and to noncontrolling interest);

2. For each component of equity, the effect of retrospective application or retrospec-
tive restatement recognized in accordance with IAS 8;

3. The amounts of transactions with owners in their capacity as owners, showing sepa-
rately contributions by and distributions to owners; and

4. A reconciliation for each component of equity (each class of share capital and each
reserve) between the carrying amounts at the beginning and the end of the period,
separately disclosing each movement.
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Statement of comprehensive income. A statement of comprehensive income presents
all components of “profit or loss” and “other comprehensive income” in a single statement,
with net income being an intermediate caption. Alternatively, IAS 1 permits the use of a
two-statement format, with separate income statement and statement of comprehensive in-
come. This statement highlights items of income and expense that are not recognized in the
income statement, and it reports all changes in equity, including net income, other than those
resulting from investments by and distributions to owners.

Under IFRS, a clear distinction must be maintained between transactions and other
events and circumstances with nonowners and those with owners (exclusive of transactions
with owners in nonowner capacities, e.g., as customers or vendors). Thus, in contrast to the
parallel standard under US GAAP (upon which revised IAS 1 was heavily based), items of
other comprehensive income cannot be reported in the statement of changes in equity. The
“one statement” and “two statement” alternatives to reporting comprehensive income are the
only permitted choices under IFRS.

Other Terminology

Discontinued operations. IFRS 5 defines a “discontinued operation” as a component of
an enterprise that has been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and

1. Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations;
2. Is part of a single coordinated disposal plan;
3. Is asubsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Component of an entity. In the context of discontinued operations, IFRS 5 currently
defines a component of an entity as operations and cash flows that can be clearly distin-
guished, operationally and for financial reporting purposes, from the rest of the entity—a
cash-generating unit, or group of cash-generating units.

Net assets. Net assets are total assets minus total liabilities (which is thus equivalent to
owners’ equity).

Realization. The process of converting noncash resources and rights into money or,
more precisely, the sale of an asset for cash or claims to cash.

Recognition. The process of formally recording or incorporating in the financial state-
ments of an entity items that meet the definition of an element and satisfy the criteria for rec-
ognition.

Operating segment. A component of an entity (1) that engages in business activities
from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses re-
lating to transactions with other components of the same entity); (2) whose operating results
are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions
about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance; and (3) for which
discrete financial information is available. A segment may be in the form of a subsidiary, a
division, a department, a joint venture, or other nonsubsidiary investee.

CONCEPTS, RULES, AND EXAMPLES
Concepts of Income

Economists have generally employed a wealth maintenance concept of income. Under
this concept (as specified by Hicks), income is the maximum amount that can be consumed
during a period and still leave the entity with the same amount of wealth at the end of the
period as existed at the beginning. Wealth is determined with reference to the current market
values of the net productive assets at the beginning and end of the period. Therefore, the
economists’ definition of income would fully incorporate market value changes (both in-
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creases and decreases in wealth) in the determination of periodic income and this would cor-
respond to measuring assets and liabilities at fair value, with the net of all the changes in net
assets equating to comprehensive income.

Accountants, on the other hand, have traditionally defined income by reference to spe-
cific transactions that give rise to recognizable elements of revenue and expense during a
reporting period. The events that produce reportable items of revenue and expense comprise
a subset of economic events that determine economic income. Many changes in the market
values of wealth components are deliberately excluded from the measurement of accounting
income but are included in the measurement of economic income, although those exclusions
have grown fewer as the use of fair values in financial reporting has been more widely em-
braced in recent years.

The discrepancy between the accounting and economic measures of income are the re-
sult of a preference on the part of accountants and financial statement users for information
that is reliable, and also considerations of measurement of income for tax purposes in many
jurisdictions. Since many fluctuations in the market values of assets are matters of conjec-
ture, accountants have preferred to retain the historical cost/realization model, which gener-
ally postpones the recognition of value changes until there has been a completed transaction.
While both accountants and economists understand that the earnings process occurs through-
out the various stages of production, sales, and final delivery of the product, accountants
have tended to stress the difficulty of measuring the precise rate at which this earnings pro-
cess is taking place. That, coupled with a desire to not pay tax any earlier than necessary,
has led accountants to conclude that income should be recognized only when it is fully re-
alized.

Nonetheless, an application of the conceptual framework approach of recognizing assets
and liabilities when they can be measured reliably enough is leading standard setters to ex-
periment with the idea of recognizing transactions that are incomplete. This can be seen in
IAS 39, where the changes in market value of some financial instruments are recognized, and
in IAS 41, where the change in value of biological assets is recognized although not realized.

Recognition and Measurement

Recognition is signified by the inclusion of an item in the statement of financial position
or the comprehensive income statement. Measurement is the determination of the amount at
which the recognized item should be included. The IASB’s Framework has identified the
following recognition criteria, which remain in force:

1. TItem must meet the definition of an element. To be recognized, an item must
meet the definitions of either an asset or a liability (see Chapter 1). This may also
involve recognition of income and expense; as discussed above, a gain in net assets
would be income and a reduction of net assets would be an expense.

2. Assessment of degree of uncertainty regarding future economic benefits. The
asset/liability definition says there must be a probable future inflow or outflow of
future economic benefits. Recognition therefore involves consideration of the de-
gree of uncertainty that the future economic benefits associated with an item will
flow to or from the enterprise.

3. Item’s cost or value can be measured with reliability. An item must possess a
relevant attribute, such as cost or value, which can be quantified in monetary units
with sufficient reliability. Measurability must be considered in terms of both rele-
vance and reliability, the two primary qualitative characteristics of accounting infor-
mation.
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4. Relevance. An item is relevant if the information about it has the capacity to make
a difference in investors’, creditors’, or other users’ decisions. The relevance of in-
formation is affected by its nature and materiality.

5. Reliability. An item is reliable if the information about it is representationally
faithful, free of material errors, and is neutral or free from bias. Further, to possess
the quality of reliability, two more features should be present.

a. The transactions and other events the information purports to represent should
be accounted for and presented in accordance with their substance and eco-
nomic reality and not merely their legal form.

b. The preparers of financial statements, while dealing with and recognizing
uncertainties, should exercise judgment or a degree of caution: in other words,
prudence.

To be given accounting recognition, an asset, liability, or item of income or expense
would have to meet the thresholds established by the above-mentioned five criteria.
Income. According to the IASB’s Framework

Income is increases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of inflows
or enhancements of assets or decreases of liabilities that result in increases in equity, other
than those relating to contributions from equity participants. The definition of income encom-
passes both revenue and gains, and revenue arises in the course of ordinary activities of an
enterprise and is referred to by different names, such as sales, fees, interest, dividends, royal-
ties, and rent.

IAS 18 is the standard that deals with the accounting for revenue. It says that revenue is
the gross inflow of economic benefits during the period (excluding transactions with own-
ers).

The measurement basis is that revenue be measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Fair value is defined as

the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledge-
able, willing parties in an arm’s-length transaction.

The historical cost measurement basis involves recognizing a completed marketplace
transaction, in other words measuring at fair value at initial recognition. Revenue recogni-
tion is discussed in detail in Chapter 9.

Expenses. According to the IASB’s Framework

Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during an accounting period in the form of out-
flows or depletions of assets or incurrences of liabilities, other than those relating to distribu-
tions to equity participants.

Expenses are expired costs, or items that were assets but are no longer assets because
they have no future value. The matching principle requires that all expenses incurred in the
generating of revenue be recognized in the same accounting period as the related revenues
are recognized.

Costs such as materials and direct labor consumed in the manufacturing process are rel-
atively easy to identify with the related revenue elements. These cost elements are included
in inventory and expensed as cost of sales when the product is sold and revenue from the sale
is recognized. This is associating cause and effect.

Some costs are more closely associated with specific accounting periods. In the absence
of a cause and effect relationship, the asset’s cost should be allocated to the benefited ac-
counting periods in a systematic and rational manner. This form of expense recognition in-
volves assumptions about the expected length of benefit and the relationship between benefit
and cost of each period. Depreciation of fixed assets, amortization of intangibles, and allo-
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cation of rent and insurance are examples of costs that would be recognized by the use of a
systematic and rational method.

All other costs are normally expensed in the period in which they are incurred. This
would include those costs for which no clear-cut future benefits can be identified, costs that
were recorded as assets in prior periods but for which no remaining future benefits can be
identified, and those other elements of administrative or general expense for which no ra-
tional allocation scheme can be devised. The general approach is first to attempt to match
costs with the related revenues. Next, a method of systematic and rational allocation should
be attempted. If neither of these measurement principles is beneficial, the cost should be
immediately expensed.

Gains and losses. The Framework defines the term expenses broadly enough to include
losses. IFRS include no definition of gains and losses that enables them to be separated from
income and expense. Traditionally, gains and losses are thought by accountants to arise from
purchases and sales outside the regular business trading of the company, such as on disposals
of noncurrent assets that are no longer required. IAS 1 used to include an extraordinary cat-
egory for display of items that were clearly distinct from ordinary activities. The IASB re-
moved this category in its 2003 Improvements Project, concluding that these items arose
from the normal business risks faced by an entity and that it is the nature or function of a
transaction or other event, rather than its frequency that should determine its presentation
within the statement of comprehensive income.

According to the IASB’s Framework

Gains (losses) represent increases (decreases) in economic benefits and as such are no differ-

ent in nature from revenue (expenses). Hence they are not regarded as separate elements in

IASB’s Framework. Characteristics of gains and losses include the following:

1. Result from peripheral transactions and circumstances that may be beyond en-

tity’s control
2. May be classified according to sources or as operating and nonoperating

TASB Projects Affecting the Statement of Comprehensive Income

Both the FASB and the IASB have set out to create standardized formats for the finan-
cial statements, to replace the current rules. These existing rules for the statement of com-
prehensive income are generally thought to be unsatisfactory, especially with regard to recy-
cling (reclassification of other comprehensive income items to profit or loss), in that some
transactions flow directly to equity (e.g., actuarial gains and losses) while others go through
the profit or loss (e.g., gains and losses realized of the disposal of available-for-sale securi-
ties) and others are not recognized in profit or loss at all (e.g., revaluations of property, plant,
and equipment, and intangibles). Also, there is a perception that the conceptual frameworks
under both sets of standards have not been rigorously applied, such that many extant stan-
dards (some of which predate the respective conceptual frameworks) deviate from the
frameworks.

The IASB made some progress with an initial effort to address performance reporting,
the early recommendations of which involved reporting all elements of comprehensive in-
come in a single financial statement. The IASB believes that there is an inherent inability to
create a useful definition of a company’s main business (e.g., as core operations, ordinary
activities, etc.), and that the income statement should separate financial income and expense
from all other income and expense, but that there be attempt to analyze the nonfinancial
items into any core business element and the remaining “noise.” The IASB field-tested the
early proposals but then withdrew them in the face of opposition from constituents, recog-
nizing that the proposals were too far in advance of business understanding of comprehen-
sive income for acceptance of the need to abandon the traditional earnings statement format.
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Subsequently, IASB entered into a cooperative venture with FASB to pursue a project
entitled Performance Reporting, which in March 2006 was retitled Financial Statement
Presentation. This project is divided into three phases, of which the first gave rise to a re-
vised IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements (see Chapter 2).

In late 2007, the IASB issued revised IAS 1, which introduced as a major change the re-
placement of the profit and loss statement with a statement of comprehensive income. The
purpose of this change is to reflect more closely the function of the statement, as cited in the
Framework.

In accordance with IAS 1, profit or loss and total comprehensive income should be pre-
sented in the financial statements. All changes in equity arising from transactions and other
events and circumstances with owners in their capacity as owners (owner changes in equity)
should be presented separately from nonowner changes in equity. An entity thus is not to be
permitted to present components of income and expense (nonowner changes in equity) in the
statement of changes in equity. All nonowner changes in equity (other comprehensive in-
come) should be presented in one or two separate statements of comprehensive income, dis-
tinct and apart from owner changes in equity. According to the IASB, these amendments
will provide better information to users by requiring aggregation of items with shared char-
acteristics. (Note that, although revised IAS 1 largely converges to the US GAAP standard,
FAS 130, it differs in that the reporting of items of other comprehensive income cannot be
included directly in the statement of changes in equity, an alternative which is, however,
permitted under FAS 130.)

Statement of Comprehensive Income

The IASB’s Framework states that comprehensive income is the change in the entity’s
net assets over the course of the reporting period arising from nonowner sources. An entity
has the option of presenting comprehensive income in a period either in one statement (the
single-statement approach) or in two statements (the two-statements approach). The IASB
initially intended to introduce the single-statement approach for the statement of comprehen-
sive income, but during discussions with constituents, many of them were opposed to the
concept of a single statement, stating that it could result in undue focus on the “bottom line”
of the statement. Consequently, the IASB decided that presentation in a single statement was
not as important as its fundamental decision that all nonowner changes in equity should be
presented separately from owner changes in equity. If an entity presents the components of
profit or loss in a separate statement, this separate statement of profit or loss (income state-
ment) forms part of a complete set of financial statements and should be displayed imme-
diately before the statement of comprehensive income.

Although IAS 1 uses the terms “profit or loss,” other comprehensive income,” and “total
comprehensive income,” an entity may use other terms to describe the totals, as long as the
meaning is clear. For example, an entity may use the term “net income” to describe profit or
loss.

Comprehensive income comprises all components of “profit or loss” and of “other com-
prehensive income.”

An entity has a choice of presenting all components of comprehensive income recog-
nized in a period either

1. In a single statement of comprehensive income, in which all items of income and
expense are recognized in the period (the single-statement approach); or
2. In two statements (the two-statement approach)

a. A statement displaying components of profit or loss (separate income state-
ment);
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b. A second statement beginning with profit or loss and displaying components of
other comprehensive income.

Total comprehensive income for the period reported in a statement of comprehensive in-
come is the total of all items of income and expense recognized during the period (including
the components of profit or loss and other comprehensive income).

Other comprehensive income is the total of income less expenses (including reclassifi-
cation adjustments) that are not recognized in profit or loss as required or permitted by other
IFRS or Interpretations.

The components of other comprehensive income comprise

1.

2.

Changes in revaluation surplus (see IAS 16, Property, Plant, and Equipment, and
IAS 38, Intangible Assets);

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans recognized in accordance with
paragraph 93A of IAS 19, Employee Benefits;

Gains and losses arising from translating the financial statements of foreign opera-
tion (see IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates);

Gains and losses on remeasuring available-for-sale financial assets (see IAS 39,
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement);

The effective portion of gains and losses on hedging instruments in a cash flow
hedge (see IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement).

IAS 1 stipulates that, at the minimum, the statement of comprehensive income must in-
clude line items that present the following amounts for the period (if they are pertinent to the
entity’s operations for the period in question):

1.
2.
3.

no

8.

9.

Revenue

Finance costs

Share of the profit or loss of associates and joint ventures accounted for by the eq-
uity method

Tax expense

Discontinued operations which include the total of

a. Posttax profit or loss of discontinued operations, and

b. Posttax gain or loss on the measurement of fair value less costs to sell or on the
disposal of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued opera-
tion

Profit or loss

Each component of other comprehensive income classified by nature (excluding

amounts in item 8. below)

Share of the other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted

for by the equity method

Total comprehensive income

In addition, an entity should disclose the following items on the face of the statement of
comprehensive income as allocations of

1.

2.

Profit or loss for the period attributable to

a. Noncontrolling interest, and
b. Owners of the parent

Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to

a. Noncontrolling interest, and
b. Owners of the parent
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Items 1-6 listed above and disclosure of profit or loss attributable to noncontrolling in-
terest and owners of the parent (listed in 1.) can be presented on the face of a separate state-
ment of profit or loss (income statement).

The forgoing items represent the barest minimum of acceptable detailing in the state-
ment of comprehensive income: the standard states that additional line items, headings, and
subtotals should be presented on the face of the statement when this is relevant to an under-
standing of the entity’s financial performance (US GAAP specifies no required income
statement captions). This requirement cannot be dealt with by incorporating the items into
the notes to the financial statements. When items of income or expense are material, disclo-
sures segregating their nature and amount are required in the statement of comprehensive
income or in the notes.

Statement of Income Classification and Presentation

In accordance with TAS 1, if an entity presents the components of profit or loss in a sep-
arate income statement, this separate statement should be displayed immediately before the
statement of comprehensive income.

Statement title. The legal name of the entity must be used to identify the financial
statements and the title “Statement of Income” (or “Profit and Loss Account”) used to distin-
guish the statement from other information presented in the annual report.

Reporting period. The period covered by the income statement must clearly be identi-
fied, such as “year ended December 31, 2009.” Or “six months ended September 30, 2009.”
Income statements are normally presented annually (i.e., for a period of twelve months or a
year). However, in some jurisdictions they may be required at quarterly or six-month inter-
vals, and in exceptional circumstances (such as a newly acquired subsidiary harmonizing its
account dates with those of its new parent), companies may need to prepare income state-
ments for periods in excess of one year or for shorter periods as well. IAS 1 requires that
when financial statements are presented for periods other than a year, the following addi-
tional disclosures should be made:

1. The reason for presenting the statement of income (and other financial statements,
such as the statement of cash flows, statement of changes in equity, and notes) for a
period other than one year; and

2. The fact that the comparative information presented (in the statement of income,
statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows, and notes) is not truly com-
parable.

Entities whose operations form a natural cycle may have a reporting period end on a
specific day of the week (e.g., the last Friday of the month). Certain entities (typically retail
enterprises) may prepare income statements for a fiscal period of fifty-two or fifty-three
weeks instead of a year (thus, to always end on a day such as Sunday, on which no business
is transacted, so that inventory may be taken). These entities should clearly state that the
income statement has been presented, for instance, “for the fifty-two-week period ended
March 30, 2009.” TIAS 1 states that it is deemed to be unlikely that the financial statements
thus presented would be materially different from those that would be presented for one full
year.

In order that the presentation and classification of items in the income statement be con-
sistent from period to period, items of income and expenses should be uniform both with
respect to appearance and categories from one time period through the next. If a decision is
made to change classification schemes, the comparative prior period financials should be re-
stated to conform and thus to maintain comparability between the two periods being pre-
sented together. Disclosure must be made of this reclassification, since the earlier period
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financial statements being presented currently will differ in appearance from those nominally
same statements presented in the earlier year.

Major components of the statement of income. IAS 1 stipulates that, at the minimum,
the statement of income must include line items that present the following items (if they are
pertinent to the entity’s operations for the period in question):

1. Revenue

2. Finance costs

3. Share of profits and losses of associates and joint ventures accounted for by the eq-
uity method

Tax expense

Discontinued operations

Profit or loss

Noncontrolling interest

Net profit attributable to equity holders in the parent

NN A

An entity should not report any items of income or expense as extraordinary items, in
either the separate statement of income or the statement of comprehensive income, as IFRS
has eliminated this as a permitted description. (US GAAP still allows recognizing extraordi-
nary gains and losses when specific criteria are met.) Also, an entity should present all items
of income and expense recognized in the period in the statement of income unless IFRS re-
quires or permits otherwise. For example, IAS 8 lists two such circumstances: the correction
of errors and the effect of changes in accounting policies.

While the objective of the line items are uniform across all reporting entities, the manner
of presentation may differ. Specifically, IAS 1 (as also does the EU Fourth Directive), offers
preparers two different ways of classifying operating and other expenses: by nature or by
function. While entities are encouraged to apply one or the other of these on the face of the
income statement, putting it in the notes is not prohibited.

An entity should present an analysis of expenses within profit or loss using a classifica-
tion based on either the nature of expenses or their function within the entity, whichever pro-
vides information that is reliable and more important.

The classification by nature identifies costs and expenses in terms of their character,
such as salaries and wages, raw materials consumed, and depreciation of plant assets. On the
other hand, the classification by function presents the expenses in terms of the purpose of the
expenditure, such as for manufacturing, distribution, and administration. Note that finance
costs must be so identified regardless of which classification is employed.

IFRS allows for expenses to be classified according to function or by nature, whichever
provides more reliable and relevant information, whereas under US GAAP, expenses are
classified by function only.

An example of the income statement (profit or loss) classification by the “nature of ex-
pense” method is as follows:

ABC GROUP
Statement of Income
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

(classification of expense by nature)
(in thousands of currency units)

Revenue 800,000
Other income 100,000
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 50,000
Work performed by the entity and capitalized 60,000
Raw materials and consumables used 110,000

Employee benefits expense 350,000
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Depreciation expense 200,000
Other expense 10,000
Finance costs 30,000
Total expenses 810,000
Profit before tax 90,000

An example of the income statement (profit or loss) classification by the “function of ex-
pense” method is as follows:

Statement of Income
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009
(classification of expense by function)
(in thousands of currency units)

Revenue 800,000
Cost of sale 500,000
Gross profit 300,000
Other income 100,000
Distribution (selling) costs 100,000
Administrative expenses 170,000
Other expenses 10,000
Finance costs 30,000
Profit before tax 90,000

Under the “function of expense” or “cost of sales” method an entity should report, at a
minimum, its cost of sales separately from other expenses. This method can provide more
relevant information to the users of the financial statements than the classification under the
“nature of expense” method, but allocating costs to functions may require arbitrary alloca-
tions based on judgment.

IAS 1 furthermore stipulates that if a reporting entity discloses expenses by function, it
must also provide information on the nature of the expenses, including depreciation and am-
ortization and staff costs (salaries and wages). The standard does not provide detailed guid-
ance on this requirement, but companies need only provide a note indicating the nature of the
allocations made to comply with the requirement.

IFRS 5 governs the presentation and disclosures pertaining to discontinued operations.
This is discussed later in this chapter.

While IAS 1 does not require the inclusion of subsidiary schedules to support major
captions in the statement of income, it is commonly found that detailed schedules of line
items are included in full sets of financial statements. These will be illustrated in the fol-
lowing section to provide a more expansive discussion of the meaning of certain major sec-
tions of the statement of income.

Revenue. The term “ordinary activities,” formerly found in IAS 1, was eliminated by
the TASB’s 2003 Improvements Project. However, companies typically show their regular
trading operations first and then present any items to which they wish to direct analysts’ at-
tention.

1. Sales or other operating revenues are charges to customers for the goods and/or
services provided to them during the period. This section of the statement of in-
come should include information about discounts, allowances, and returns, to de-
termine net sales or net revenues.

2. Cost of goods sold is the cost of the inventory items sold during the period. In the
case of a merchandising firm, net purchases (purchases less discounts, returns, and
allowances plus freight-in) are added to beginning inventory to obtain the cost of
goods available for sale. From the cost of goods available for sale amount, the
ending inventory is deducted to compute cost of goods sold.
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Example of schedule of cost of goods sold

ABC GROUP
Schedule of Cost of Goods Sold
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Beginning inventory

Add: Purchases $xxx
Freight-in XXX
Cost of purchases XXX
Less: Purchase discounts $xx
Purchase returns and allowances XX (xXxx)

Net purchases

Cost of goods available for sale
Less: Ending inventory
Cost of goods sold

$xxx

XXX
XXX
(XXX)

$xxx

A manufacturing enterprise computes the cost of goods sold in a slightly differ-
ent way. Cost of goods manufactured would be added to the beginning inventory to
arrive at cost of goods available for sale. The ending finished goods inventory is
then deducted from the cost of goods available for sale to determine the cost of
goods sold. Cost of goods manufactured is computed by adding to raw materials on
hand at the beginning of the period the raw materials purchases during the period
and all other costs of production, such as labor and direct overhead, thereby yielding
the cost of goods placed in production during the period. When adjusted for
changes in work in process during the period and for raw materials on hand at the
end of the period, this results in the calculation of goods produced.

Example of schedules of cost of goods manufactured and sold

ABC GROUP
Schedule of Cost of Goods Manufactured
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Direct materials inventory, January 1
Purchases of materials (including freight-in and deducting purchase dis-
counts)
Total direct materials available
Direct materials inventory, December 31
Direct materials used
Direct labor
Factory overhead:
Depreciation of factory equipment
Utilities
Indirect factory labor
Indirect materials
Other overhead items
Manufacturing cost incurred in 2008
Add: Work in process, January 1
Less: Work in process, December 31
Cost of goods manufactured

$xxx

XXX

$xxx

(XxX)
$xxx
XXX

$xxx

XXX

XXX

XXX

XXX XXX
$xxx
XXX
(xxx)
$xxx
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ABC GROUP
Schedule of Cost of Goods Sold
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Finished goods inventory, January 1 $xxx
Add: Cost of goods manufactured XXX
Cost of goods available for sale $xxx
Less: Finished goods inventory, December, 31 (XXX)
Cost of goods sold $xxx

3. Operating expenses are primary recurring costs associated with central operations,
other than cost of goods sold, which are incurred to generate sales. Operating ex-
penses are normally classified into the following two categories:

a. Distribution costs (or selling expenses)
b. General and administrative expenses

Distribution costs are those expenses related directly to the company’s efforts
to generate sales (e.g., sales salaries, commissions, advertising, delivery expenses,
depreciation of store furniture and equipment, and store supplies). General and ad-
ministrative expenses are expenses related to the general administration of the com-
pany’s operations (e.g., officers and office salaries, office supplies, depreciation of
office furniture and fixtures, telephone, postage, accounting and legal services, and
business licenses and fees).

4. Other revenues and expenses are incidental revenues and expenses not related to
the central operations of the company (e.g., rental income from letting parts of
premises not needed for company operations).

5. Separate disclosure items are items that are of such size, nature, or incidence that
their disclosure becomes important in order to explain the performance of the enter-
prise for the period. Examples of items that, if material, would require such disclo-
sure are as follows:

a. Write-down of inventories to net realizable value, or of property, plant, and
equipment to recoverable amounts, and subsequent reversals of such write-
downs

b. Costs of restructuring the activities of an enterprise and any subsequent rever-
sals of such provisions

c. Costs of litigation settlements

d. Other reversals of provisions

6. Income tax expense. The total of taxes payable and deferred taxation adjustments
for the period covered by the income statement.

7. Discontinued operations. IFRS 5, Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontin-
ued Operations, superseded IAS 35, Discontinuing Operations, in 2005. This stan-
dard was issued by the IASB as part of its convergence program with US GAAP,
and harmonizes IFRS with those parts of the corresponding US standard, FAS 144,
Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, that deal with as-
sets held for sale and with discontinued operations.

IFRS 5 created a new “held for sale” category of asset into which should be put assets,
or “disposal groups” of assets, and liabilities that are to be sold. Such assets or groups of
assets are to be valued at the lower of carrying value and fair value, less selling costs. Any
resulting write-down appears, net of tax, as part of the caption “discontinued operations” in
the statement of income.
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The other component of this line is the posttax profit or loss of discontinued operations.
A discontinued operation is defined as a component of an entity that either has been disposed
of, or has been classified as held for sale. It must also

* Be a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations,
* Be a part of a single coordinated plan for disposal, or
* Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

The two elements of the single line of statement of income have to be analyzed in the
notes, breaking out the related income tax expense between the two, as well as showing the
components of revenue, expense, and pretax profit of the discontinued items.

For the asset or disposal group to be classified as held for sale, and its related earnings to
be classified as discontinued, IFRS 5 says that sale must be highly probable, the asset must
be saleable in its current condition, and the sale price must be reasonable in relation to its fair
value. The appropriate level of management in the group must be committed to a plan to sell
the asset and an active program has been embarked upon. Sale should be expected within
one year of classification and the standard sets out stringent conditions for any extension of
this, which are based on elements outside of the control of the entity.

Where an operation meets the criteria for classification as discontinued, but will be
abandoned within one year rather than be sold, it should also be included in discontinued
operations. Assets or disposal groups categorized as held for sale are not depreciated further.

Example of disclosure of discontinued operations under IFRS 5

Taj Mahal Enterprises
Statement of Income
For the Years Ended December 31, 2009 and 2008
(in thousands of UAE Dirhams)

2009 2008
Continuing Operations (Segments X & Y):
Revenue and 10,000 5,000
Operating expenses (7.000) (3.500)
Pretax profit from operating actives 3,000 1,500
Interest expense (300) (200)
Profit before tax 2,700 1,300
Income tax expense (540) (260)
Profit after taxes 2,160 1,040
Discontinuing operation (Segment Z):
Discontinued operations (note) (240) 80
Total enterprise:
Profit (loss) attributable to owners 1,920 1,120
Note: Discontinued Operations
Revenue 3,000 2000
Operating expenses (1,800) (1400)
Provision for end-of-service benefits (900) -
Interest expense (100) (100)
Pretax profit 200 500
Income tax (40) (100)
Discontinued earnings 160 400
Impairment loss (500) (400)
Income tax 100 (80)
Write-down of assets (400) (320)

Discontinued operations, net (240) (80)
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Aggregating items. Aggregation of items should not serve to conceal significant infor-
mation, as would the netting of revenues against expenses, or the combining of other ele-
ments that are individually of interest to readers, such as bad debts and depreciation. The
categories “other” or “miscellaneous expense” should contain, at maximum, an immaterial
total amount of aggregated, individually insignificant elements. Once this total approaches,
for example, 10% of total expenses (or any other materiality threshold), some other aggrega-
tions, together with appropriate explanatory titles, should be selected.

Information is material if its omission or misstatement or nondisclosure could influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. Materiality
depends on the size of the item judged in the particular circumstances of its omission (ac-
cording to IASB’s Framework). But it is often forgotten that materiality is also linked with
understandability and the level of precision in which the financial statements are to be pre-
sented. For instance, the financial statements are often rendered more understandable by
rounding information to the nearest thousand currency units (e.g., US dollars). This obviates
the necessity of loading the financial statements with unnecessary detail. However, it should
be borne in mind that the use of the level of precision that makes presentation possible in the
nearest thousands of currency units is acceptable only as long as the threshold of materiality
is not surpassed.

Offsetting items of revenue and expense. Materiality also plays a role in the matter of
allowing or disallowing offsetting of the items of income and expense. IAS 1 addresses this
issue and prescribes rules in this area. According to IAS 1, assets and liabilities or income
and expenses may not be offset against each other, unless required or permitted by an IFRS.
Usually, when more than one event occurs in a given reporting period, losses and gains on
disposal of noncurrent assets or foreign exchange gains and losses are seen reported on a net
basis, due to the fact that they are not material individually (compared to other items on the
income statement). However, if they were material individually, they would need to be dis-
closed separately according to the requirements of IAS 1.

However, the reduction of accounts receivable by the allowance for doubtful accounts,
or of property, plant, and equipment by the accumulated depreciation, are acts that reduce
these assets by the appropriate valuation accounts and are not considered to be offsetting
assets and liabilities.

Views differ as to the treatment of disposal gains and losses arising from the routine re-
placement of noncurrent assets. Some experts believe that these should be separately dis-
closed as a disposal transaction, whereas others point out that if the depreciation schedule is
estimated correctly, there should be no disposal gain or loss. Consequently, any difference
between carrying value and disposal proceeds is akin to an adjustment to previous deprecia-
tion, and should logically flow through the income statement in the same caption where the
depreciation was originally reported. Here again, the issue comes down to one of the materi-
ality: does it affect users’ ability to make economic decisions?

IAS 1 further clarifies that when items of income or expense are offset, the enterprise
should nevertheless consider, based on materiality, the need to disclose the gross amounts in
the notes to the financial statements. This standard gives the following examples of transac-
tions that are incidental to the main revenue-generating activities of an enterprise and whose
results when presented by offsetting or reporting on a net basis, such as netting any gains
with related expenses, reflect the substance of the transaction:

1. Gains or losses on the disposal of noncurrent assets, including investments and
operating assets, are reported by deducting from the proceeds on disposal the car-
rying amounts of the asset and related selling expenses.
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2. Expenditure related to a provision that is reimbursed under a contractual arrange-
ment with a third party may be netted against the related reimbursement.

Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)

Under IAS 1, other comprehensive income (OCI) includes items of income and expense
(including reclassification adjustments) that are not recognized in profit or loss as may be
required or permitted by other IFRS. The components of OCI include (1) changes in reval-
uation surplus (IAS 16 and IAS 38); (2) actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans
(IAS 19); (3) translation gains and losses (IAS 21); (4) gains and losses on remeasuring
available-for-sale financial assets (IAS 39); and (5) the effective portion of gains and losses
on hedging instruments in a cash flow hedge (IAS 39).

The amount of income tax relating to each component of OCI, including reclassification
adjustments, should be disclosed either on the face of the statement of comprehensive in-
come or in the notes.

Components of OCI can be presented in one of two ways

1. Net of related tax effects; or
2. Before related tax effects with one amount shown for the aggregate amount of in-
come tax relating to those components.

An entity should disclose reclassification adjustments relating to each component of
OCI. Reclassification adjustments are amounts reclassified to profit or loss in the current
period that were recognized in OCI in previous periods (this practice is also called “recy-
cling”). Other IFRS specify whether and when amounts previously recognized in OCI are
reclassified to profit or loss. The purpose of this requirement is to avoid double-counting of
OCI items in total comprehensive income when those items are reclassified to profit or loss
in accordance with other IFRS. Under IFRS, some items of OCI are subject to recycling
while other items are not (under US GAAP, always recycle). For example, gains realized on
the disposal of a foreign operation are included in profit or loss of the current period. These
amounts may have been recognized in OCI as unrealized foreign currency translation (CTA)
gains in the current or previous periods. Those unrealized gains must be deducted from OCI
in the period in which the realized gains are included in profit or loss to avoid double-
counting them. In the same manner, for instance, unrealized gains or losses on available-for-
sale (AFS) financial assets should not include realized gains or losses from the sale of AFS
financial assets during the current period, which are reported in profit or loss. Reclassifica-
tion adjustments arise, for example, on the following components:

* On disposal of a foreign operation (IAS 21)
* On derecognition of available-for-sale financial assets (IAS 39)
* When a hedged forecast transaction affects profit or loss (IAS 39)

Reclassification adjustments do not arise on the following components, which are rec-
ognized in OCI, but are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

¢ On changes in revaluation surplus (IAS 16; IAS 38)
* On changes in actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit plans (IAS 19)

In accordance with TIAS 16 and IAS 38, changes in revaluation surplus may be trans-
ferred to retained earnings in subsequent periods when the asset is sold or when it is derec-
ognized. Actuarial gains and losses are reported in retained earnings in the period that they
are recognized as OCI (IAS 19).
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Reclassification Adjustments: An Example

In general, the reporting of unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale (AFS) se-
curities in comprehensive income is straightforward unless the company sells securities dur-
ing the year. In such a case, double counting results when a company reports realized gains
and losses as part of profit or loss (net income), but also shows the amounts as part of other
comprehensive income (OCI) in the current period or in previous periods.

When a sale of securities occurs, a reclassification adjustment is necessary to ensure that
gains and losses are not counted twice. To illustrate, assume that ABC Group has the fol-
lowing two AFS securities in its portfolio at the end of 2008, its first year of operations:

Unrealized
holding

Investments Cost Fair value gain (loss)
Radar Ltd €105,000 €125,000 €20,000
Konini Ltd 260,000 300,000 40,000
Total value of portfolio 265,000 425,000 60,000

Previous (accumulated) securities

fair value adjustment balance 0
Securities fair value adjustment (Dr) €60,000

ABC Group reports net income of €650,000 in 2008 and presents a statement of com-
prehensive income as follows:
ABC Group

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008

Net income €650,000
Other comprehensive income

Holding gains on available-for-sale securities 60,000
Comprehensive income €710,000

During 2009, ABC Group sold 50% of shares of the Konin Ltd common stock for
€150,000 and realized a gain on the sale of €20,000 (€150,000 — €130,000). At the end of
2009, ABC Group reports its AFS securities as follows:

Unrealized
holding
Investments Cost Fair value gain (loss)
Radar Ltd €105,000 €130,000 €25,000
Konin Ltd 130,000 160,000 30,000
Total value of portfolio 235,000 290,000 55,000
Previous (accumulated) securities
fair value adjustment balance (60,000)
Securities fair value adjustment (Dr) € (5,000)

ABC Group should report an unrealized holding loss of €(5,000) in comprehensive in-
come in 2009 and realized gain of €20,000 on the sale of the Konin common stock. Conse-
quently, ABC recognizes a total holding gain in 2009 of €15,000 (unrealized holding loss of
€5,000 plus realized holding gain of €20,000).

ABC reports net income of €830,000 in 2009 and presents the components of holding
gains (losses) as follows:
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ABC Group
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008

Net income (includes €20,000 realized gain on Konin shares) €830,000
Other comprehensive income
Total holding gains (€5,000 + €20,000) €15,000
Less: Reclassification adjustment for realized gains included in net

income (20,000) (5,000)
Comprehensive income €815,000

In 2008, ABC included the unrealized gain on the Konin common stock in comprehen-
sive income. In 2009, ABC sold the stock and reported the realized gain on sale in profit,
which increased comprehensive income again. To prevent double-counting of this gain of
€20,000 on the Konin shares, ABC makes a reclassification adjustment to eliminate the real-
ized gain from the computation of comprehensive income in 2009.

An entity may display reclassification adjustments on the face of the financial statement
in which it reports comprehensive income or disclose them in the notes to the financial
statements. The IASB’s view is that separate presentation of reclassification adjustments is
essential to inform users clearly of those amounts that are included as income and expenses
in two different periods—as income or expenses in other comprehensive income in previous
periods and as income or expenses in profit or loss (net income) in the current period.

Statement of Changes in Equity

Equity (owners’, partners’, or shareholders’) represents the interest of the owners in the
net assets of an entity and shows the cumulative net results of past transactions and other
events affecting the entity since its inception. The statement of changes in equity reflects the
increases and decreases in the net assets of an entity during the period. In accordance with
IAS 1, all changes in equity from transactions with owners are to be presented separately
from nonowner changes in equity.

IAS 1 requires an entity to present a statement of changes in equity including the fol-
lowing components on the face of the statement:

1. Total comprehensive income for the period, segregating amounts attributable to
owners and to noncontrolling interest;

2. The effects of retrospective application or retrospective restatement in accordance
with IAS 8, separately for each component of equity;

3. Contributions from and distributions to owners; and

4. A reconciliation between the carrying amount at the beginning and the end of the
period, separately disclosing each change, for each component of equity.

The amount of dividends recognized as distributions to equity holders during the period,
and the related amount per share should be presented either on the face of the statement of
changes in equity or in the notes.

According to IAS 1, except for changes resulting from transactions with owners (such as
equity contributions, reacquisitions of the entity’s own equity instruments, dividends, and
costs related to these transactions with owners), the change in equity during the period repre-
sents the total amount of income and expense (including gains and losses) arising from ac-
tivities other than those with owners.

The following should be disclosed, either in the statement of financial position or the
statement of changes in equity, or in the notes:
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1. For each class of share capital

* Number of shares authorized;

* Number of shares issued and fully paid, and issued but not fully paid;

 Par value per share, or that the shares have no par value;

* Recognition of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end
of the periods;

* Any rights, preferences and restrictions attached;

» Shares in the entity held by the entity or its subsidiaries; and

* Shares reserved for issue under options and contracts for the sale of shares,
including terms and amounts.

2. A description of the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity

Extract from Published Financial Statements

ArcelorMittal and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income

Year ended Year ended

(millions of US dollars, except share and per share data) December 31, 2007  December 31, 2008
Sales (including 4,767 and 6,411 of sales to related parties for 105,216 124,936

2007 and 2008, respectively)
Cost of sales (including 4,570 and 6,100 of depreciation and 84,953 106,110

impairment and 2,408 and 2,391 of purchases from related

parties for 2007 and 2008 respectively)
Gross margin 20,263 18,826
Selling, general and administrative 5,433 6,590
Operating income 14,830 12,236
Other income—net
Income from investments in associates and joint ventures 985 1,653
Financing costs—net (note 18) (927) (2,352)
Income before taxes 14,888 11,537
Income expense (note 19) 3,038 1,098
Net income (including minority interest) 11,850 10,439
Net income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 10,368 9,399
Minority interest 1,482 1,040
Net income (including minority interest) 11,850 10,439
Earnings per common share (in US dollars)
Basic: Common shares 7.41 6.80
Diluted: Common shares 7.40 6.78
Weighted-average common shares outstanding (in millions)

(note 17)
Basic: Common shares 1,399 1,383
Total 1,399 1,383
Diluted: Common shares 1,401 1,386

Total 1,401 1,386
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PERSPECTIVE AND ISSUES

The TASC had most recently revised IAS 7, Cash Flow Statements, in 1992, which be-
came effective in 1994. IAS 7 had originally required that reporting entities prepare the
statement of changes in financial position (commonly referred to as the funds flow state-
ment), which was once a widely accepted method of presenting changes in financial position,
as part of a complete set of financial statements. The IASB has now amended the title of
IAS 7 from Cash Flow Statements to Statement of Cash Flows (the title used in the US) as a
consequence of the latest revision of IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, a result of
the IASB and the FASB deliberations on the first phase of the Financial Statement Presenta-
tion project. Phase B of the Financial Statement Presentation project will address more fun-
damental issues for presenting information on the face of the financial statements, including
whether the direct or the indirect method of presenting operating cash flows provides more
useful information. Historically, of course, the direct method has been strongly endorsed, yet
employed by very few reporting entities. The statement of cash flows is now universally
accepted and required under most national GAAP as well as IFRS. While there are some
variations in terms of presentation (most of which pertain to the section in which certain
captions appear), the approach is highly similar across all current sets of standards.

The purpose of the statement of cash flows is to provide information about the operating
cash receipts and cash payments of an entity during a period, as well as providing insight into
its various investing and financing activities. It is a vitally important financial statement,
because the ultimate concern of investors is the reporting entity’s ability to generate cash
flows which will support payments (typically but not necessarily in the form of dividends) to
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the shareholders. More specifically, the statement of cash flows should help investors and
creditors assess

1. The ability to generate future positive cash flows
2. The ability to meet obligations and pay dividends
3. Reasons for differences between profit or loss and cash receipts and payments
4. Both cash and noncash aspects of entities’ investing and financing transactions

Sources of IFRS
IAS 7

DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

Cash. Cash on hand and demand deposits with banks or other financial institutions.

Cash equivalents. Short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Treasury bills, commercial paper, and money market funds are all examples of cash equiva-
lents.

Direct method. A method that derives the net cash provided by or used in operating ac-
tivities from major components of operating cash receipts and payments.

Financing activities. The transactions and other events that cause changes in the size
and composition of an entity’s capital and borrowings.

Indirect (reconciliation) method. A method that derives the net cash provided by or
used in operating activities by adjusting profit (loss) for the effects of transactions of a non-
cash nature, any deferrals or accruals of past or future operating cash receipts or payments,
and items of income or expense associated with investing or financing activities.

Investing activities. The acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other invest-
ments not included in cash equivalents.

Operating activities. The transactions and other events not classified as financing or
investing activities. In general, operating activities are principal revenue-producing activities
of an entity that enter into the determination of profit or loss, including the sale of goods and
the rendering of services.

CONCEPTS, RULES, AND EXAMPLES
Benefits of Statement of Cash Flows

The concepts underlying the statement of financial position and the statement of com-
prehensive income have long been established in financial reporting. They are, respectively,
the stock measure or a snapshot at a point in time of an entity’s resources and obligations,
and a summary of the entity’s economic transactions and performance over an interval of
time. The third major financial statement, the statement of cash flows, is a more recent inno-
vation but has evolved substantially since introduced. What has ultimately developed into
the statement of cash flows began life as a flow statement that reconciled changes in entity
resources over a period of time, but in a fundamentally different manner than did the state-
ment of comprehensive income.

Most of the basic progress on this financial statement occurred in the United States,
where during the 1950s and early 1960s a variety of formats and concepts were experimented
with. By the mid-1960s the most common reporting approach used in the United States was
that of sources and applications (or uses) of funds, although such reporting did not become
mandatory until 1971. Even then, funds could be defined by the reporting entity in at least
four different ways, including as cash and as net working capital (current assets minus cur-
rent liabilities).
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One reason why the financial statement preparer community did not more quickly em-
brace a cash flow concept is that the accounting profession had long had a significant aver-
sion to the cash basis measurement of entity operating performance. This was largely the
result of its commitment to accrual basis accounting, which recognizes revenues when
earned and expenses when incurred, and which views cash flow reporting as a back door
approach to cash basis accounting. By focusing instead on funds, which most typically was
defined as net working capital, items such as receivables and payables were included, there-
by preserving the essential accrual basis characteristic of the flow measurement. On the
other hand, this failed to give statement users meaningful insight into the entities’ sources
and uses of cash, which is germane to an evaluation of the reporting entity’s liquidity and
solvency.

By the 1970s there was widespread recognition of the myriad problems associated with
funds flow reporting, including the required use of the “all financial resources” approach,
under which all major noncash (and nonfund) transactions, such as exchanges of stock or
debt for plant assets, were included in the funds flow statement. This ultimately led to a re-
newed call for cash flow reporting. Most significantly, the FASB’s conceptual framework
project of the late 1970s to mid-1980s identified usefulness in predicting future cash flows as
a central purpose of the financial reporting process. This presaged the nearly universal move
away from funds flows to cash flows as a third standard measurement to be incorporated in
financial reports.

The presentation of a statement of cash flows thus became required in the late 1980s in
the United States, with the United Kingdom following soon thereafter with an approach that
largely mirrored the US standard, albeit with a somewhat refined classification scheme. The
international accounting standard, which was adopted a year after that of the United King-
dom (both of these were revisions to earlier requirements that had mandated the use of funds
flow statements), embraces the somewhat simpler US approach but offers greater flexibility,
thus effectively incorporating the UK view without adding to the structural complexity of the
statement of cash flows itself.

Today, the clear consensus of national and international accounting standard setters is
that the statement of cash flows is a necessary component of complete financial reporting.
The perceived benefits of presenting the statement of cash flows in conjunction with the
statement of financial position and the statement of comprehensive income have been high-
lighted by IAS 7 to be as follows:

1. It provides an insight into the financial structure of the entity (including its liquidity
and solvency) and its ability to affect the amounts and timing of cash flows in order
to adapt to changing circumstances and opportunities.

The statement of cash flows discloses important information about the cash flows from
operating, investing, and financing activities, information that is not available or as clearly
discernible in either the statement of financial position or the statement of comprehensive
income. The additional disclosures which are either recommended by IAS 7 (such as those
relating to undrawn borrowing facilities or cash flows that represent increases in operating
capacity) or required to be disclosed by the standard (such as that about cash held by the en-
tity but not available for use) provide a wealth of information for the informed user of finan-
cial statements. Taken together, the statement of cash flows coupled with these required or
recommended disclosures provide the user with vastly more insight into the entity’s perfor-
mance and position, and its probable future results, than would the statement of financial
position and statement of comprehensive income alone.
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2. It provides additional information to the users of financial statements for evaluating
changes in assets, liabilities, and equity of an entity.

When comparative statements of financial position are presented, users are given infor-
mation about the entity’s assets and liabilities at the end of each of the years. Were the
statement of cash flows not presented as an integral part of the financial statements, it would
be necessary for users of comparative financial statements either to speculate about how and
why certain amounts reported in the statement of financial position changed from one period
to another, or to compute (at least for the latest year presented) approximations of these items
for themselves. At best, however, such a do-it-yourself approach would derive the net
changes (the increase or decrease) in the individual assets and liabilities and attribute these to
normally related accounts in the statement of comprehensive income. (For example, the net
change in accounts receivable from the beginning to the end of the year would be used to
convert reported sales to cash-basis sales or cash collected from customers.)

While basic changes in the statement of financial position can be used to infer cash flow
implications, this is not universally the case. More complex combinations of events (such as
the acquisition of another entity, along with its accounts receivables, which would be an in-
crease in that asset which was not related to sales to customers by the reporting entity during
the period) would not immediately be comprehensible and might lead to incorrect interpreta-
tions of the data unless an actual statement of cash flows were presented.

3. It enhances the comparability of reporting of operating performance by different
entities because it eliminates the effects of using different accounting treatments for
the same transactions and events.

There was considerable debate even as early as the 1960s and 1970s over accounting
standardization, which led to the emergence of cash flow accounting. The principal argu-
ment in support of cash flow accounting by its earliest proponents was that it avoids the dif-
ficult to understand and sometimes seemingly arbitrary allocations inherent in accrual ac-
counting. For example, cash flows provided by or used in operating activities are derived,
under the indirect method, by adjusting profit (or loss) for items such as depreciation and
amortization, which might have been computed by different entities using different account-
ing methods. Thus, accounting standardization will be achieved by converting the accrual-
basis profit or loss to cash-basis profit or loss, and the resultant figures will become compa-
rable across entities.

4. It serves as an indicator of the amount, timing, and certainty of future cash flows.
Furthermore, if an entity has a system in place to project its future cash flows, the
statement of cash flows could be used as a touchstone to evaluate the accuracy of
past projections of those future cash flows. This benefit is elucidated by the stan-
dard as follows:

a. The statement of cash flows is useful in comparing past assessments of future
cash flows against current year’s cash flow information, and

b. It is of value in appraising the relationship between profitability and net cash
flows, and in assessing the impact of changing prices.

Exclusion of Noncash Transactions

The statement of cash flows, as its name implies, includes only actual inflows and out-
flows of cash and cash equivalents. Accordingly, it excludes all transactions that do not di-
rectly affect cash receipts and payments. However, IAS 7 does require that the effects of
transactions not resulting in receipts or payments of cash be disclosed elsewhere in the finan-
cial statements. The reason for not including noncash transactions in the statement of cash
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flows and placing them elsewhere in the financial statements (e.g., the footnotes) is that it
preserves the statement’s primary focus on cash flows from operating, investing, and fi-
nancing activities. It is thus important that the user of financial statements fully appreciate
what this financial statement does—and does not—attempt to portray.

Components of Cash and Cash Equivalents

The statement of cash flows, under the various national and international standards, may
or may not include transactions in cash equivalents as well as cash. Under US standards, for
example, preparers may choose to define cash as “cash and cash equivalents,” as long as the
same definition is used in the statement of financial position as in the statement of cash flows
(i.e., the statement of cash flows must tie to a single caption in the statement of financial po-
sition). TAS 7, on the other hand, rather clearly required that the changes in both cash and
cash equivalents be explained by the statement of cash flows.

Cash and cash equivalents include unrestricted cash (meaning cash actually on hand, or
bank balances whose immediate use is determined by the management), other demand de-
posits, and short-term investments whose maturities at the date of acquisition by the entity
were three months or less. Equity investments do not qualify as cash equivalents unless they
fit the definition above of short-term maturities of three months or less, which would rarely,
if ever, be true. Preference shares carrying mandatory redemption features, if acquired
within three months of their predetermined redemption date, would meet the criteria above
since they are, in substance, cash equivalents. These are very infrequently encountered cir-
cumstances, however.

Bank borrowings are normally considered as financing activities. However, in some
countries, bank overdrafts play an integral part in the entity’s cash management, and as such,
overdrafts are to be included as a component of cash equivalents if the following conditions
are met:

1. The bank overdraft is repayable on demand, and
2. The bank balance often fluctuates from positive to negative (overdraft).

Statutory (or reserve) deposits by banks (i.e., those held with the central bank for regula-
tory compliance purposes) are often included in the same statement of financial position
caption as cash. The financial statement treatment of these deposits is subject to some con-
troversy in certain countries, which becomes fairly evident from scrutiny of published finan-
cial statements of banks, as these deposits are variously considered to be either a cash equiv-
alent or an operating asset. If the latter, changes in amount would be presented in the
operating activities section of the statement of cash flows, and the item could not then be
combined with cash in the statement of financial position. Since the appendix to IAS 7,
which illustrates the application of the standard to statement of cash flows of financial insti-
tutions, does not include statutory deposits with the central bank as a cash equivalent, the
authors have concluded that there is little logic to support the alternative presentation of this
item as a cash equivalent. Given the fact that deposits with central banks are more or less
permanent (and in fact would be more likely to increase over time than to be diminished,
given a going concern assumption about the reporting financial institution) the presumption
must be that these are not cash equivalents in normal practice.

Classifications in the Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows prepared in accordance with IAS 7 (and also in accordance
with US GAAP) requires classification into these three categories:
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Investing activities include the acquisition and disposition of property, plant and
equipment and other long-term assets and debt and equity instruments of other enti-
ties that are not considered cash equivalents or held for dealing or trading purposes.
Investing activities include cash advances and collections on loans made to other
parties (other than advances and loans of a financial institution).

Financing activities include obtaining resources from and returning resources to the
owners. Also included is obtaining resources through borrowings (short-term or
long-term) and repayments of the amounts borrowed.

Operating activities, which can be presented under the (IFRS-preferred) direct or
the indirect method, include all transactions that are not investing and financing ac-
tivities. In general, cash flows arising from transactions and other events that enter
into the determination of profit or loss are operating cash flows. Operating activi-
ties are principal revenue-producing activities of an entity and include delivering or
producing goods for sale and providing services.

While both US GAAP and IFRS define these three components of cash flows, the inter-

national standards offer somewhat more flexibility in how certain types of cash flows are
categorized. Differences exist between the two standards in the presentation of overdrafts,
dividends, and interest. For example, under US GAAP, interest paid must be included in
operating activities, but under the provisions of IAS 7 this may be consistently included in
either operating or financing activities. (These and other discrepancies among the standards
will be discussed further throughout this chapter.) This is a reflection of the fact that al-
though interest expense is operating in the sense of being an item that is reported in the
statement of comprehensive income, it also clearly relates to the entity’s financing activities.

The following are examples of the statement of cash flows classification under the pro-

visions of IAS 7:

Cash inflows .

Cash outflows .

Operating
Receipts from sale of
goods or rendering of
services

Sale of loans, debt, or
equity instruments car-
ried in trading portfolio

Returns on loans (inter-
est)

Returns on equity securi-
ties (dividends)

Payments to suppliers for
goods and other services

Payments to or on behalf
of employees

Payments of taxes
Payments of interest

Purchase of loans, debt,
or equity instruments
carried in trading portfo-
lio

Investing
* Principal collections from
loans and sales of other
entities” debt instruments

Sale of equity instru-
ments of other entities
and from returns of in-
vestment in those instru-
ments

Sale of plant and equip-
ment

Loans made and acquisi-
tion of other entities’ debt
instruments

Purchase of equity instru-
ments* of other entities

Purchase of plant and
equipment

* Unless held for trading purposes or considered to be cash equivalents.

Financing
Proceeds from is-
suing share capital

Proceeds from is-
suing debt (short-
term or long-term)

Not-for-profits’
donor-restricted
cash that is limited
to long-term pur-
poses

Payment of divi-
dends

Repurchase of com-
pany’s shares

Repayment of debt
principal, including
capital lease obliga-
tions
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Noncash investing and financing activities should, according to IAS 7, be disclosed in
the footnotes to financial statements (“elsewhere” is how the standard actually identifies
this), but apparently are not intended to be included in the statement of cash flows itself.
This contrasts somewhat with the US standard, FAS 95, which encourages inclusion of this
supplemental information on the face of the statement of cash flows, although this may, un-
der that standard, be relegated to a footnote as well. Examples of significant noncash fi-
nancing and investing activities might include

1. Acquiring an asset through a finance lease

2. Conversion of debt to equity

3. Exchange of noncash assets or liabilities for other noncash assets or liabilities

4. Issuance of stock to acquire assets

Basic example of a classified statement of cash flows

Liquid Corporation
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Net cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers € xxx
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (XXX)
Interest paid (xx)
Income taxes paid (xx)
Net cash provided by operation activities E€XXXX
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment € (xxx)
Sale of equipment XX
Collection of notes receivable _ XX
Net cash used in investing activities (xx)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of share capital XXX
Repayment of long-term debt (xx)
Reduction of notes payable _(xx)
Net cash provided by financing activities XX
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash XX
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents € xxx
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year _XXX
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year EXXXX

Footnote Disclosure of Noncash Investing and Financing Activities
Note 4: Supplemental Statement of Cash Flows Information

Significant noncash investing and financing transactions:

Conversion of bonds into ordinary shares € xxx
Property acquired under finance leases XXX
€_XXX

Reporting Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Direct vs. indirect methods. The operating activities section of the statement of cash
flows can be presented under the direct or the indirect method. However, IFRS has ex-
pressed a preference for the direct method of presenting net cash from operating activities.
In this regard the IASC was probably following in the well-worn path of the FASB in the
United States, which similarly urged that the direct method of reporting be adhered to. For
their part, most preparers of financial statements, like those in the US, have chosen over-
whelmingly to ignore the recommendation of the IASC, preferring by a very large margin to
use the indirect method in lieu of the recommended direct method.
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The direct method shows the items that affected cash flow and the magnitude of those
cash flows. Cash received from, and cash paid to, specific sources (such as customers and
suppliers) are presented, as opposed to the indirect method’s converting accrual-basis profit
(or loss) to cash flow information by means of a series of add-backs and deductions. Entities
using the direct method are required by IAS 7 to report the following major classes of gross
cash receipts and gross cash payments:

Cash collected from customers

Interest and dividends received'

Cash paid to employees and other suppliers
Interest paid’

Income taxes paid

Other operating cash receipts and payments

AU

Given the availability of alternative modes of presentation of interest and dividends re-
ceived, and of interest paid, it is particularly critical that the policy adopted be followed con-
sistently. Since the face of the statement of cash flows will in almost all cases make it clear
what approach has been elected, it is not usually necessary to spell this out in the accounting
policy note to the financial statements, although this certainly can be done if it would be use-
ful to do so.

An important advantage of the direct method is that it permits the user to better compre-
hend the relationships between the entity’s profit (or loss) and its cash flows. For example,
payments of expenses are shown as cash disbursements and are deducted from cash receipts.
In this way the user is able to recognize the cash receipts and cash payments for the period.
Formulas for conversion of various statement of comprehensive income amounts for the di-
rect method presentation from the accrual basis to the cash basis are summarized below.

Accrual basis Additions Deductions Cash basis
Net sales + Beginning AR — Ending AR = Cash received from
AR written off customers
Cost of goods  + Ending inventory — Depreciation and amortization® = Cash paid to
sold Beginning AP Beginning inventory suppliers
Ending AP
Operating + Ending prepaid expenses — Depreciation and amortization = Cash paid for
expenses Beginning accrued ex- Beginning prepaid expenses operating expenses
penses Ending accrued expenses payable

Bad debts expense
* Applies to a manufacturing entity only

From the foregoing it can be appreciated that the amounts to be included in the operating
section of the statement of cash flows, when the direct approach is utilized, are derived
amounts that must be computed (although the computations are not onerous); they are not,
generally, amounts that exist as account balances simply to be looked up and then placed in
the statement. The extra effort needed to prepare the direct method operating cash flow data
may be a contributing cause of why this method has been distinctly unpopular with prepar-

Alternatively, interest and dividends received may be classified as investing cash flows rather than
as operating cash flows because they are returns on investments. In this important regard, the IFRS
differs from the corresponding US rule, which does not permit this elective treatment, making the
operating cash flow presentation mandatory.

Alternatively, IAS 7 permits interest paid to be classified as a financing cash flow, because this is the
cost of obtaining financing. As with the foregoing, the availability of alternative treatments differs
from the US approach, which makes the operating cash flow presentation the only choice. It is not
clear at this time how the alternative approaches under US GAAP and IFRS will be converged.
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ers. (There is a further reason why the direct method proved to be unpopular with entities
that report in conformity with US GAAP: FAS 95 requires that when the direct method is
used, a supplementary schedule be prepared reconciling profit or loss to net cash flows from
operating activities, which effectively means that both the direct and indirect methods must
be employed. This rule does not apply under international accounting standards, however.)

The indirect method (sometimes referred to as the reconciliation method) is the most
widely used means of presentation of cash from operating activities, primarily because it is
easier to prepare. It focuses on the differences between net operating results and cash flows.
The indirect format begins with the amount of profit (or loss) for the year, which can be ob-
tained directly from the statement of comprehensive income. Revenue and expense items not
affecting cash are added or deducted to arrive at net cash provided by operating activities.
For example, depreciation and amortization would be added back because these expenses
reduce profit or loss without affecting cash.

The statement of cash flows prepared using the indirect method emphasizes changes in
the components of most current asset and current liability accounts. Changes in inventory,
accounts receivable, and other current accounts are used to determine the cash flow from
operating activities. Although most of these adjustments are obvious (most preparers simply
relate each current asset or current liability on the statement of financial position to a single
caption in the statement of comprehensive income), some changes require more careful anal-
ysis. For example, it is important to compute cash collected from sales by relating sales rev-
enue to both the change in accounts receivable and the change in the related bad debt allow-
ance account.

As another example of possible complexity in computing the cash from operating activ-
ities, the change in short-term borrowings resulting from the purchase of equipment would
not be included, since it is not related to operating activities. Instead, these short-term bor-
rowings would be classified as a financing activity. Other adjustments under the indirect
method include changes in the account balances of deferred income taxes, noncontrolling
interest, unrealized foreign currency gains or losses, and the profit (loss) from investments
under the equity method.

IAS 7 offers yet another alternative way of presenting the cash flows from operating ac-
tivities. This could be referred to as the modified indirect method. Under this variant of the
indirect method, the starting point is not profit (or loss) but rather revenues and expenses as
reported in the statement of comprehensive income. In essence, this approach is virtually the
same as the regular indirect method, with two more details: revenues and expenses for the
period. There is no equivalent rule under US GAAP.

The following summary, actually simply an expanded statement of financial position
equation, may facilitate understanding of the adjustments to profit or loss necessary for con-
verting accrual-basis profit or loss to cash-basis profit or loss when using the indirect meth-
od.

Accrual profit
adjustment
Current _ Fixed  _ Current + Long-term + to convert to
assets™ assets liabilities liabilities Profit or loss cash flow
1. Increase = Increase Decrease
2. Decrease = Decrease Increase
3. = Increase Decrease Increase
4, = Decrease Increase Decrease

* .
Other than cash and cash equivalents

For example, using row 1 in the above chart, a credit sale would increase accounts re-
ceivable and accrual-basis profit but would not affect cash. Therefore, its effect must be re-
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moved from the accrual profit to convert to cash profit. The last column indicates that the
increase in a current asset balance must be deducted from profit to obtain cash flow.

Similarly, an increase in a current liability, row three, must be added to profit to obtain
cash flows (e.g., accrued wages are in the statement of comprehensive income as an expense,
but they do not require cash; the increase in wages payable must be added back to remove
this noncash flow expense from accrual-basis profit).

Under the US GAAP, when the indirect method is employed, the amount of interest and
income taxes paid must be included in the related disclosures (supplemental schedule).
However, under IFRS, as illustrated by the appendix to IAS 7, instead of disclosing them in
the supplemental schedules, they are shown as part of the operating activities under both the
direct and indirect methods. (Examples presented later in the chapter illustrate this.)

The major drawback to the indirect method involves the user’s difficulty in compre-
hending the information presented. This method does not show from where the cash was
received or to where the cash was paid. Only adjustments to accrual-basis profit (or loss) are
shown. In some cases the adjustments can be confusing. For instance, the sale of equipment
resulting in an accrual-basis loss would require that the loss be added to profit to arrive at net
cash from operating activities. (The loss was deducted in the computation of profit or loss,
but because the sale will be shown as an investing activity, the loss must be added back to
profit or loss.)

Although the indirect method is more commonly used in practice, the IASC and the
FASB both encouraged entities to use the direct method. As pointed out by IAS 7, a distinct
advantage of the direct method is that it provides information that may be useful in estimat-
ing or projecting future cash flows, a benefit that is clearly not achieved when the indirect
method is utilized instead. Both the direct and indirect methods are presented below.

Direct method
Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from sale of goods €xxx
Cash dividends received™ XXX
Cash provided by operating activities €XxX
Cash paid to suppliers (XXX)
Cash paid for operating expenses (XXX)
Cash paid for income taxes™* (XXX)
Cash disbursed for operating activities €(xxx)
Net cash flows from operating activities €XXX

Alternatively, could be classified as investing cash flow.

Taxes paid are usually classified as operating activities. However, when it is practical to identify the
tax cash flow with an individual transaction that gives rise to cash flows that are classified as invest-
ing or financing activities, then the tax cash flow is classified as an investing or financing activity as
appropriate.

Indirect method

Cash flows from operating activities:

Profit before income taxes € xx

Adjustments for:
Depreciation XX
Unrealized loss on foreign exchange XX
Interest expense XX

Operating profit before working capital changes™** XX
Increase in accounts receivable (xx)
Decrease in inventories XX
Increase in accounts payable XX
Cash generated from operations XX
Interest paid (xx)
Income taxes paid (see note**above) (Xx)

Net cash flows from operating activities €xxx
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Other Requirements

Gross vs. net basis. The emphasis in the statement of cash flows is on gross cash re-
ceipts and cash payments. For instance, reporting the net change in bonds payable would
obscure the financing activities of the entity by not disclosing separately cash inflows from
issuing bonds and cash outflows from retiring bonds.

IAS 7 specifies two exceptions where netting of cash flows is allowed. Items with quick
turnovers, large amounts, and short maturities may be presented as net cash flows. Cash re-
ceipts and payments on behalf of customers when the cash flows reflect the activities of the
customers rather than those of the entity may also be reported on a net rather than a gross
basis.

Foreign currency cash flows. Foreign operations must prepare a separate statement of
cash flows and translate the statement to the reporting currency using the exchange rate in
effect at the time of the cash flow (a weighted-average exchange rate may be used if the re-
sult is substantially the same). This translated statement is then used in the preparation of the
consolidated statement of cash flows. Noncash exchange gains and losses recognized in the
statement of comprehensive income should be reported as a separate item when reconciling
profit or loss and operating activities. For a more detailed discussion about the exchange rate
effects on the statement of cash flows, see Chapter 24.

Cash flow per share. There is presently no requirement either under the international
accounting standards or under US GAAP to disclose such information in the financial state-
ments of an entity, unlike the requirement to report earnings per share (EPS). In fact, cash
flow per share is a somewhat disreputable concept, since it was sometimes touted in an ear-
lier era as being indicative of an entity’s “real” performance, when of course it is not a mean-
ingful alternative to earnings per share because, for example, entities that are self-liquidating
by selling productive assets can generate very positive total cash flows, and hence, cash
flows per share, while decimating the potential for future earnings. Since, unlike a compre-
hensive statement of cash flows, cash flow per share cannot reveal the components of cash
flow (operating, investing, and financing), its usage could be misleading.

While cash flow per share is not well regarded, it should be noted that in recent years a
growing number of entities have resorted to displaying a wide range of pro forma amounts,
some of which roughly correspond to cash-based measures of operating performance. These
non-GAAP/non-IFRS categories should be viewed with great caution, both because they
convey the message that standard, GAAP- or IFRS-based measures of performance are
somehow less meaningful, and also because there are no standard definitions of the non-
GAAP/non-IFRS measures, opening the door to possible manipulation. This has, in the US,
caused the securities regulatory body, the SEC, to mandate that all non-GAAP measures
must be explicitly reconciled to the most similar GAAP measure. The international associa-
tion of securities regulators, IOSCO, has offered a similar warning and recommendation for
reconciliation.

Net Reporting by Financial Institutions

IAS 7 permits financial institutions to report cash flows arising from certain activities on
a net basis. These activities, and the related conditions under which net reporting would be
acceptable, are as follows:

1. Cash receipts and payments on behalf of customers when the cash flows reflect the
activities of the customers rather than those of the bank, such as the acceptance and
repayment of demand deposits

2. Cash flows relating to deposits with fixed maturity dates



132 Wiley IFRS 2010

3. Placements and withdrawals of deposits from other financial institutions
4. Cash advances and loans to banks customers and repayments thereon

Reporting Futures, Forward Contracts, Options, and Swaps

IAS 7 stipulates that cash payments for and cash receipts from futures contracts, forward
contracts, option contracts, and swap contracts are normally classified as investing activities,
except

1. When such contracts are held for dealing or trading purposes and thus represent
operating activities

2. When the payments or receipts are considered by the entity as financing activities
and are reported accordingly

Further, when a contract is accounted for as a hedge of an identifiable position, the cash
flows of the contract are classified in the same manner as the cash flows of the position being
hedged.

Reporting Extraordinary Items in the Statement of Cash Flows

Revised IAS 1 has eliminated the categorization of gains or losses as being extraordinary
in character, so this no longer will impact the presentation of the statement of cash flows
under IFRS. Under IFRS, prior to revisions to IAS 1 in 2005, cash flows associated with
extraordinary items were to be disclosed separately as arising from operating, investing, or
financing activities in the statement of cash flows, as appropriate. By way of contrast, US
GAAP permits, but does not require, separate disclosure of cash flows related to extraordi-
nary items. If an entity reporting under US GAAP chooses to make this disclosure, however,
it is expected to do so consistently in all periods.

Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents

An entity should disclose the components of cash and cash equivalents and should
present a reconciliation of the difference, if any, between the amounts reported in the state-
ment of cash flows and equivalent items reported in the statement of financial position. By
contrast, under the US GAAP the definition must tie to a specific caption in the statement of
financial position. For example, if short-term investments are shown as a separate caption in
the statement of financial position, the definition of cash for the purposes of the statement of
cash flows must include “cash” alone (and not also include short-term investments). On the
other hand, if “cash and cash equivalents” is the adopted definition in the statement of cash
flows, a single caption in the statement of financial position must include both “cash” and
“short-term investments.”

Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and Other Business Units

IAS 7 requires that the aggregate cash flows from acquisitions and from disposals of
subsidiaries or other business units should be presented separately as part of the investing
activities section of the statement of cash flows. The following disclosures have also been
prescribed by IAS 7 in respect to both acquisitions and disposals:

1. The total consideration included

2. The portion thereof discharged by cash and cash equivalents

3. The amount of cash and cash equivalents in the subsidiary or business unit acquired
or disposed

4. The amount of assets and liabilities (other than cash and cash equivalents) acquired
or disposed, summarized by major category
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Other Disclosures Required or Recommended by IAS 7

Certain additional information may be relevant to the users of financial statements in
gaining an insight into the liquidity or solvency of an entity. With this objective in mind,
IAS 7 sets forth other disclosures that are required or in some cases, recommended.

1.

Required disclosure—Amount of significant cash and cash equivalent balances
held by an entity that are not available for use by the group should be disclosed
along with a commentary by management.

Recommended disclosures—The disclosures that are encouraged are the follow-

ing:

a.

b.

d.

Amount of undrawn borrowing facilities, indicating restrictions on their use, if
any

In case of investments in joint ventures, which are accounted for using
proportionate consolidation, the aggregate amount of cash flows from operat-
ing, investing and financing activities that are attributable to the investment in
the joint venture

Aggregate amount of cash flows that are attributable to the increase in operat-
ing capacity separately from those cash flows that are required to maintain op-
erating capacity

Amount of cash flows segregated by reported industry and geographical seg-
ments

The disclosures above recommended by the IAS 7, although difficult to present, are
unique since such disclosures are not required even under the US GAAP. They are useful in
enabling the users of financial statements to understand the entity’s financial position better.

Basic example of the preparation of the statement of cash flows under IAS 7 using a work-
sheet approach

Using the following financial information for ABC (Eurasia) Ltd., preparation and presenta-
tion of the statement of cash flows according to the requirements of IAS 7 are illustrated. (Note
that all figures in this example are in thousands of euros.)

ABC (Eurasia) Ltd.
Statements of Financial Position
December 31, 2010 and 2009

Assets 2010 2009
Cash and cash equivalents € 3,000 € 1,000
Accounts receivable 5,000 2,500
Inventory 2,000 1,500
Prepaid expenses 1,000 1,500
Due from associates 19,000 19,000
Property, plant, and equipment, at cost 12,000 22,500
Accumulated depreciation (05.000) (6.000)
Property, plant, and equipment, net 7.000 16,500
Total assets €37,000 €42,000
Liabilities
Accounts payable € 5,000 €12,500
Income taxes payable 2,000 1,000
Deferred taxes payable 3.000 2.000
Total liabilities 10.000 15.500
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 6,500 6,500
Retained earnings 20.500 20,000
Total shareholders’ equity 27,000 26.500

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity €37,000 €42,000
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ABC (Eurasia) Ltd.
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010
Sales € 30,000
Cost of sales (10.000)
Gross profit 20,000
Administrative and selling expenses (2,000)
Interest expense (2,000)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (2,000)
Amortization of intangible assets (500)
Investment income 3.000
Profit before taxation 16,500
Taxes on income (4.000)
Profit €.12,500
The following additional information is relevant to the preparation of the statement of cash
flows:
1.  Equipment with a net book value of €7,500 and original cost of €10,500 was sold for
€7,500.
2. All sales made by the company are credit sales.
3.  The company received cash dividends (from investments) amounting to €3,000, re-
corded as income in the statement of comprehensive income for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2010.
4. The company declared and paid dividends of €12,000 to its shareholders.
5. Interest expense for the year 2010 was €2,000, which was fully paid during the year. All
administration and selling expenses incurred were paid during the year 2010.
6. Income tax expense for the year 2010 was provided at €4,000, out of which the company
paid €2,000 during 2010 as an estimate.
A worksheet can be prepared to ease the development of the statement of cash flows, as fol-
lows:
Cash Flow Worksheet
Cash and
2010 2009 Change  Operating Investing Financing equivalents
Cash and equivalents 3,000 1,000 2,000 2,000
Accounts receivable 5,000 2,500 2,500 (2,500)
Inventories 2,000 1,500 500 (500)
Prepaid expenses 1,000 1,500 (500) 500
Due from associates 19,000 19,000 0
Property, plant, and
equipment 7,000 16,500 (9,500) 2,000 7,500
Accounts payable 5,000 12,500 7,500 (7,500)
Income taxes payable 2,000 1,000 1,000 1,000
Deferred taxes payable 3,000 2,000 1,000 1,000
Share capital 6,500 6,500 0
Retained earnings 20,500 20,000 500 9.500 3.000 (12.000) I

Ca

3,500 10,500 (12,000) 2,000

ABC (Eurasia) Ltd.
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010
(Direct method)

sh flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers € 27,500
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (20.000)
Cash generated from operations 7,500
Interest paid (2,000)
Income taxes paid (2.000)

Net cash flows from operating activities € 3,500
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Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from the sale of equipment 7,500

Dividends received 3.000

Net cash flows from investing activities 10,500
Cash flows from financing activities

Dividends paid (12,000)

Net cash flows used in financing activities (12,000)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,000

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1.000

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year €_3,000

Details of the computations of amounts shown in the statement of cash flows are as follows:

Cash received from customers during the year

Credit sales €30,000
Plus:  Accounts receivable, beginning of year 2,500
Less:  Accounts receivable, end of year (5.000)
Cash received from customers during the year €27.500
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Cost of sales 10,000
Less:  Inventory, beginning of year (1,500)
Plus:  Inventory, end of year 2,000
Plus:  Accounts payable, beginning of year 12,500
Less:  Accounts payable, end of year (5,000)
Plus:  Administrative and selling expenses paid 2.000
Cash paid to suppliers and employees during the year €20.000
Interest paid equals interest expense charged to profit or loss (per addi-
tional information) €_2.000
Income taxes paid during the year
Tax expense during the year (comprising current and deferred portions) 4,000
Plus:  Beginning income taxes payable 1,000
Plus:  Beginning deferred taxes payable 2,000
Less:  Ending income taxes payable (2,000)
Less:  Ending deferred taxes payable (3.000)
Cash paid toward income taxes €_2.000
Proceeds from sale of equipment (per additional information) € 7.500
Dividends received during 2009 (per additional information) €_3.000
Dividends paid during 2009 (per additional information) €12.000
ABC (Eurasia) Ltd.
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010
(Indirect method)
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation € 16,500
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,000
Decrease in prepaid expenses 500
Investment income (3,000)
Interest expense 2,000
Increase in accounts receivable (2,500)
Increase in inventories (500)
Decrease in accounts payable (7.500)
Cash generated from operations 7,500
Interest paid (2,000)
Income taxes paid (2.000)
Net cash from operating activities €3.500
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of equipment 7,500
Dividends received 3.000

Net cash from investing activities 10,500
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Cash flows from financing activities

Dividends paid (12.000)

Net cash used in financing activities (12.000)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,000
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1.000
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year €_3,000

A Comprehensive Example of the Preparation of the Statement of Cash Flows Using
the T-Account Approach

Under a cash and cash equivalents basis, the changes in the cash account and any cash
equivalent account is the bottom line figure of the statement of cash flows. Using the 2008
and 2009 statements of financial position shown below, an increase of €17,000 can be com-
puted. This is the difference between the totals for cash and cash equivalents between 2008
and 2009 (€33,000 — €16,000).

When preparing the statement of cash flows using the direct method, gross cash inflows
from revenues and gross cash outflows to suppliers and for expenses are presented in the
operating activities section.

In preparing the reconciliation of net profit (or loss) before taxation to net cash flow
from operating activities (indirect method), changes in all accounts other than cash and cash
equivalents that are related to operations are additions to or deductions from profit to arrive
at net cash provided by operating activities.

A T-account analysis may be helpful when preparing the statement of cash flows. A T-
account is set up for each account, and beginning (2008) and ending (2009) balances are
taken from the appropriate statement of financial position. Additionally, a T-account for
cash and cash equivalents from operating activities and a master or summary T-account of
cash and cash equivalents should be used.

Example of preparing a statement of cash flows

The financial statements will be used to prepare the statement of cash flows.

Johnson Company
Statements of Financial Position
December 31, 2009 and 2008

2009 2008
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents € 33,000 € 16,000
Accounts receivable—net 9,000 11,000
Inventory 14,000 9,000
Prepaid expenses 10,000 13.000
Total current assets € 66,000 € 49,000
Noncurrent assets:
Investment in XYZ (35%) 16,000 14,000
Patent 5,000 6,000
Leased asset 5,000 -
Property, plant, and equipment 39,000 37,000
Less accumulated depreciation (7.000) (3.000)
Total assets €124,000 €103,000
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable € 2,000 € 12,000
Notes payable—current 9,000 --
Interest payable 3,000 2,000
Dividends payable 5,000 2,000
Income taxes payable 2,000 1,000
Lease obligation 700

Total current liabilities 21,700 17,000
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Noncurrent liabilities:
Deferred tax liability
Bonds payable
Lease obligation

Total liabilities

Shareholders’ equity

Ordinary share $10 par value

Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings

Total

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Sales
Other

Cost of goods sold, excluding depreciation

shareholders’ equity

Johnson Company
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

income

Selling, general, and administrative expenses
Depreciation
Amortization of patents
Interest expense

Income before taxes
Income taxes (36%)

Profit

Additional information (relating to 2009)

1. Equipment costing €6,000 with a book value of €2,000 was sold for €5,000.
2. The company received a €3,000 dividend from its investment in XYZ, accounted for under
the equity method and recorded income from the investment of €5,000, which is included in

other income.

A

method was used to record the transaction.

=~

A dividend of €12,000 was declared.

The company issued 200 ordinary shares for €5,000.
The company signed a note payable for €9,000.
Equipment was purchased for €8,000.

The company converted €15,000 bonds payable into 500 ordinary shares. The book value

9,000 6,000
10,000 25,000
4,300 --
€_45,000 €_48,000
€ 33,000 € 26,000
16,000 3,000
30,000 26.000
€_79.000 €_55.000
€124.,000 €103.000

€100,000
8.000
€108.000
60,000
12,000
8,000
1,000
2.000
€_83.000
€ 25,000
9.000
€_16,000

137

8. Equipment was leased on December 31, 2009. The principal portion of the first payment due
December 31, 2009, is €700.

Summary of
Cash and Cash Equivalent

Inflows Outflows
(d) 5,000 8,000 (2)
(h) 5,000 9,000 1)
(n) 9,000
(s) 15,000
34,000 17,000
17,000 Net increase in cash
34,000 34,000

Cash and Cash
Equivalents—Oper. Act.
(a) 16,000
(b) 8,000
(©) 1,000 | 3,000 (d)
(e) 3,000 | 5,000 (f)
f) 3,000
G) 2,000 [ 5,000 (k)
(0} 3,000 [ 10,000 (m)
(0) 1,000
(p) 1,000
38,000 | 23,000
15,000 (s)
38,000 | 38,000
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Accounts Receivable (Net) Inventory Prepaid Expenses
11,000 9,000 13,000
2,000 () (k) 5,000 3,000 (1)
9,000 14,000 10,000
Investment in XYZ Patent Leased Equipment
14,000 6,000 () 5,000
) 5,000 3,000 () 1,000 (c) 5,000
16,000 5,000

Prop., Plant, & Equip.

Accumulated Depr.

Accounts Payable

37,000 3,000 12,000
6,000 (d) 8,000 (b) (m) 10,000
(g) 8,000 (d) 4,000 2,000
39,000 7,000
Notes Payable Interest Payable Dividends Payable
2,000 2,000
9,000 (n) (o) 1,000 2,000 (o) () 9,000 12,000 (i)
9,000 3,000 5,000
Income Taxes Payable Deferred Tax Liability Bonds Payable
1,000 6,000 25,000
(p) 5,000 6,000 (p) 3,000 (e) (@) 15,000
2,000 9,000 10,000
Lease Obligation Ordinary Share
5,000  (n) 26,000
5,000 2,000 (h)
5,000 (q)
33,000
Additional Paid-in Capital Retained Earnings
3,000 26,000
3,000 (h) 16,000 (a)
10,000 (q) (i) 12,000
16,000 30,000

Explanation of entries

a. Cash and Cash Equivalents—Operating Activities is debited for €16,000, and credited to Re-
tained Earnings. This represents the amount of profit.

b. Depreciation is not a cash flow; however, depreciation expense was deducted to arrive at
profit. Therefore, Accumulated Depreciation is credited and Cash and Cash Equivalents—
Operating Activities is debited.

c.  Amortization of patents is another expense not requiring cash; therefore, Cash and Cash
Equivalents—Operating Activities is debited and Patent is credited.

d.  The sale of equipment (additional information, item 1.) resulted in a €3,000 gain. The gain is
computed by comparing the book value of €2,000 with the sales price of €5,000. Cash pro-
ceeds of €5,000 are an inflow of cash. Since the gain was included in profit, it must be de-
ducted from profit to determine cash provided by operating activities. This is necessary to
avoid counting the €3,000 gain both in cash provided by operating activities and in investing
activities. The following entry would have been made on the date of sale:

Cash 5,000
Accumulated depreciation (6,000 — 2,000) 4,000
Property, plant, and equipment
Gain on sale of equipment (5,000 — 2,000)

6,000
3,000
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Adjust the T-accounts as follows: debit Summary of Cash and Cash Equivalents for €5,000,
debit Accumulated Depreciation for €4,000, credit Property, Plant, and Equipment for
€6,000, and credit Cash and Cash Equivalents—Operating Activities for €3,000.

The €3,000 increase in Deferred Income Taxes must be added to profit. Although the €3,000
was deducted as part of income tax expense in determining profit, it did not require an out-
flow of cash. Therefore, debit Cash and Cash Equivalents—Operating Activities and credit
Deferred Taxes.

Item 2. under the additional information indicates that the investment in XYZ is accounted
for under the equity method. The investment in XYZ had a net increase of €2,000 during the
year after considering the receipt of a €3,000 dividend. Dividends received (an inflow of
cash) would reduce the investment in XYZ, while the equity in profit or loss XYZ would in-
crease the investment without affecting cash. In order for the T-account to balance, a debit of
€5,000 must have been made, indicating profits of that amount. The journal entries would
have been

Cash (dividend received) 3,000
Investment in XYZ 3,000
Investment in XYZ 5,000
Equity in profit of XYZ 5,000

The dividend received (€3,000) is an inflow of cash, while the equity in profit of XYZ are
not. Debit Investment in XYZ for €5,000, credit Cash and Cash Equivalents—Operating
Activities for €5,000, debit Cash and Cash Equivalents—Operating Activities for €3,000, and
credit Investment in XYZ for €3,000.
The Property, Plant, and Equipment account increased because of the purchase of €8,000
(additional information, item 5.). The purchase of assets is an outflow of cash. Debit Prop-
erty, Plant, and Equipment for €8,000 and credit Summary of Cash and Cash Equivalents.
The company sold 200 ordinary shares during the year (additional information, item 3.). The
entry for the sale of stock was
Cash 5,000

Ordinary share (200 shares x €10) 2,000

Additional paid-in capital 3,000
This transaction resulted in an inflow of cash. Debit Summary of Cash and Cash Equivalents
€5,000, credit Ordinary Share €2,000, and credit Additional Paid-in Capital €3,000.
Dividends of €12,000 were declared (additional information, item 7.). Only €9,000 was actu-
ally paid in cash resulting in an ending balance of €9,000 in the Dividends Payable account.
Therefore, the following entries were made during the year:

Retained Earnings 12,000

Dividends Payable 12,000
Dividends Payable 9,000

Cash 9,000

These transactions result in an outflow of cash. Debit Retained Earnings €12,000 and credit
Dividends Payable €12,000. Additionally, debit Dividends Payable €9,000 and credit Sum-
mary of Cash and Cash Equivalents €9,000 to indicate the cash dividends paid during the
year.

Accounts Receivable (net) decreased by €2,000. This is added as an adjustment to profit in
the computation of cash provided by operating activities. The decrease of €2,000 means that
an additional €2,000 cash was collected on account above and beyond the sales reported in
the statement of comprehensive income. Debit Cash and Cash Equivalents—Operating Ac-
tivities and credit Accounts Receivable for €2,000.

Inventories increased by €5,000. This is subtracted as an adjustment to profit in the computa-
tion of cash provided by operating activities. Although €5,000 additional cash was spent to
increase inventories, this expenditure is not reflected in accrual-basis cost of goods sold. De-
bit Inventory and credit Cash and Cash Equivalents—Operating Activities for €5,000.
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Prepaid Expenses decreased by €3,000. This is added back to profit in the computation of
cash provided by operating activities. The decrease means that no cash was spent when in-
curring the related expense. The cash was spent when the prepaid assets were purchased, not
when they were recorded as expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. Debit Cash
and Cash Equivalents—Operating Activities and credit Prepaid Expenses for €3,000.
Accounts Payable decreased by €10,000. This is subtracted as an adjustment to profit. The
decrease of €10,000 means that an additional €10,000 of purchases were paid for in cash;
therefore, income was not affected but cash was decreased. Debit Accounts Payable and cre-
dit Cash and Cash Equivalents—Operating Activities for €10,000.

Notes Payable increased by €9,000 (additional information, item 4.). This is an inflow of
cash and would be included in the financing activities. Debit Summary of Cash and Cash
Equivalents and credit Notes Payable for €9,000.

Interest Payable increased by €1,000, but interest expense from the statement of comprehen-
sive income was €2,000. Therefore, although €2,000 was expensed, only €1,000 cash was
paid (€2,000 expense — €1,000 increase in interest payable). Debit Cash and Cash Equiva-
lents—Operating Activities for €1,000, debit Interest Payable for €1,000, and credit Interest
Payable for €2,000.

The following entry was made to record the incurrence of the tax liability:

Income tax expense 9,000
Income taxes payable 6,000
Deferred tax liability 3,000

Therefore, €9,000 was deducted in arriving at profit. The €3,000 credit to Deferred Income
Taxes was accounted for in entry (e) above. The €6,000 credit to Taxes Payable does not,
however, indicate that €6,000 cash was paid for taxes. Since Taxes Payable increased
€1,000, only €5,000 must have been paid and €1,000 remains unpaid. Debit Cash and Cash
Equivalents—Operating Activities for €1,000, debit Income Taxes Payable for €5,000, and
credit Income Taxes Payable for €6,000.

Item 6. under the additional information indicates that €15,000 of bonds payable were con-
verted to ordinary share. This is a noncash financing activity and should be reported in a
separate schedule. The following entry was made to record the transaction:

Bonds payable 15,000
Ordinary shares (500 shares x €10 par) 5,000
Additional paid-in capital 10,000

Adjust the T-accounts with a debit to Bonds Payable, €15,000; a credit to Ordinary Share,
€5,000; and a credit to Additional Paid-in Capital, €10,000.

Item 8. under the additional information indicates that leased equipment was acquired on the
last day of 2008. This is also a noncash financing activity and should be reported in a sepa-
rate schedule. The following entry was made to record the lease transaction:

Leased asset 5,000
Lease obligation 5,000

The cash and cash equivalents from operations (€15,000) is transferred to the Summary of
Cash and Cash Equivalents.

Since all of the changes in the noncash accounts have been accounted for and the bal-
ance in the Summary of Cash and Cash Equivalents account of €17,000 is the amount of the
year-to-year increase in cash and cash equivalents, the formal statement may now be pre-
pared. The following classified SCF is prepared under the direct method and includes the
reconciliation of profit before taxation to net cash provided by operating activities. The T-
account, Cash and Cash Equivalents—Operating Activities, is used in the preparation of this
reconciliation. The calculations for gross receipts and gross payments needed for the direct
method are shown below.
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Johnson Company
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash received from customers €102,000

Dividends received 3.000
Cash provided by operating activities

Cash paid to suppliers € 75,000

Cash paid for expenses 9,000

Interest paid 1,000

Taxes paid 5.000

Cash paid for operating activities
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Sale of equipment 5,000
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment (8.000)

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Sale of ordinary share € 5,000
Increase in notes payable 9,000
Dividends paid (9.000)

Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

(a)

(b)
(©
(d)
(e)
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€105,000

(90.000)
€ 15,000

(3,000)

€_33.000

Calculation of amounts for operating activities section of Johnson Co.’s statement of cash flows

(a)

(b)

(©

(@)

(e)

€100,000 + €11,000 — €9,000 = €102,000

= Cash paid to suppliers
€60,000 + €12,000 — €2,000 + €14,000 — €9,000 = €75,000

Net sales + Beginning AR — Ending AR = Cash received from customers

Cost of goods sold + Beginning AP — Ending AP + Ending inventory — Beginning inventory

Operating expenses + Ending prepaid expenses — Beginning prepaid expenses — Deprecia-

tion expense (and other noncash operating expenses) = Cash paid for operating expenses

€12,000 + €10,000 — €13,000 = €9,000

€2,000 + €2,000 - €3,000 = €1,000

Interest expense + Beginning interest payable — Ending interest payable = Interest paid

Income taxes + Beginning income taxes payable — Ending income taxes payable + Begin-

ning deferred income taxes — Ending deferred income taxes = Taxes paid

€9,000 + €1,000 — €2,000 + €6,000 — €9,000 = €5,000

Reconciliation of profit to net cash provided by operating activities

Profit before taxation €16,000

Add (deduct) items not using (providing) cash:
Depreciation 8,000
Amortization 1,000
Gain on sale of equipment (3,000)
Increase in deferred taxes 3,000
Equity in XYZ (2,000)
Decrease in accounts receivable 2,000
Increase in inventory (5,000)
Decrease in prepaid expenses 3,000
Decrease in accounts payable (10,000)
Increase in interest payable 1,000
Increase in income taxes payable 1.000

Net cash provided by operating activities

O]
—
(N
[
=
(=]
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(The reconciliation above is required by US GAAP when the direct method is used, but there is no equivalent
requirement under IFRS. The reconciliation above illustrates the presentation of the operating section of the
statement of cash flows when the indirect method is used. The remaining sections [i.e., the investing and fi-
nancing sections] of the statement of cash flows are common to both methods, hence have not been presented
above.)

Schedule of noncash transactions (to be reported in the footnotes)

Conversion of bonds into ordinary share €15,000
Acquisition of leased equipment €_5,000

Disclosure of accounting policy

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the company considers all highly liquid debt instru-
ments purchased with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Statement of Cash Flows for Consolidated Entities

A consolidated statement of cash flows must be presented when a complete set of con-
solidated financial statements is issued. The consolidated statement of cash flows would be
the last statement to be prepared, as the information to prepare it will come from the other
consolidated statements (consolidated statement of financial position, statement of compre-
hensive income, and statement of changes in equity). The preparation of these other consoli-
dated statements is discussed in Chapter 13.

The preparation of a consolidated statement of cash flows involves the same analysis
and procedures as the statement for an individual entity, with a few additional items. The
direct or indirect method of presentation may be used. When the indirect method is used, the
additional noncash transactions relating to the business combination, such as the differential
amortization, must also be reversed. Furthermore, all transfers to affiliates must be elimi-
nated, as they do not represent a cash inflow or outflow of the consolidated entity.

All unrealized intercompany (intragroup) profits should have been eliminated in prepa-
ration of the other statements; thus, no additional entry of this sort should be required. Any
profit allocated to noncontrolling parties would need to be added back, as it would have been
eliminated in computing consolidated profit but does not represent a true cash outflow. Fi-
nally, any dividend payments should be recorded as cash outflows in the financing activities
section.

In preparing the operating activities section of the statement by the indirect method fol-
lowing a purchase business combination, the changes in assets and liabilities related to op-
erations since acquisition should be derived by comparing the consolidated statement of fi-
nancial position as of the date of acquisition with the year-end consolidated statement of
financial position. These changes will be combined with those for the acquiring company up
to the date of acquisition as adjustments to profit. The effects due to the acquisition of these
assets and liabilities are reported under investing activities. Under the pooling-of-interests
method the combination is treated as having occurred at the beginning of the year. Thus, the
changes in assets and liabilities related to operations should be those derived by comparing
the beginning-of-the-year statement of financial position amounts on a consolidated basis
with the end-of-the-year consolidated statement of financial position amounts.

2009 improvements to IFRS. The IASB amended IAS 7 in 2009 as part of the annual
revisions to a range of existing standards. The amendment states explicitly that only
expenditures that result in a recognized asset in the statement of financial position are
eligible for classification as investing activities. An entity should apply this amendment for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2010.

This amendment was enacted in response to the 2008 IFRIC report stating that practice
differed for the classification of cash flows for expenditures incurred with the objective to
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generate future cash flows when those expenditures were not recognized as assets in
accordance with IFRS (some entities used to report them as operating activities and others
classified them as investing activities). Examples of such expenditures include those for
exploration and evaluation activities; also expenditures on advertising and promotional
activities, staff training, and research and development could raise such issue. The
amendment includes a statement that only expenditures that result in a recognized asset can
be classified as a cash flow for investing activities.

Discussion Paper: Preliminary Views on Financial Statement Presentation

The IASB and the FASB have jointly published for comment a Discussion Paper (DP),
Preliminary Views on Financial Statement Presentation, in October, 2008. A principles-
based format for presenting financial statements in a manner that clearly communicates an
integrated financial picture of the entity is proposed. The project is about how best to portray
assets, liabilities, income, expense, cash flows and related information in financial state-
ments.

In the statement of cash flows, the Boards recommend a direct method of preparing cash
flows from operating activities rather than reconciling profit or loss or net income to net op-
erating cash flows (an indirect method). The direct method is more consistent than an indi-
rect method with the proposed objectives of financial statement presentation.

The new proposed financial statement presentation model includes a new schedule that
reconciles cash flows to comprehensive income which should be included in the notes to
financial statements. This reconciliation schedule disaggregates income into its cash, ac-
cruals other than remeasurements, and remeasurement components (for example, fair value
changes), which can help users in predicting future cash flows and assessing earnings qual-
ity.

Example of cash flow reporting under IFRS

ArcelorMittal and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2007 December 31, 2008

Operating activities:
Net income 11,850 10,439
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by opera-

tions and payments:

Depreciation and impairment 4,570 6,100
Interest expense 1,839 2,044
Income tax expense 3,038 1,098
Net realizable value and onerous supply contract 45 3,451
Labor agreement and separation plans - 2,577
Litigation provisions 135 595
Unrealized foreign exchange effects, provisions and other noncash (1,681) 478)

operating expenses (net)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acqui-

sitions:
Trade accounts receivable 548 2,139
Inventories (690) (7,724)
Trade accounts payable 565 (2,485)
Other working capital movements 370 (946)
Interest paid and received (1,494) (1,943)
Taxes paid (2,563) (2,724)
Cash received from settlement of hedges not recognized in the state- - 2,509

ment of income
Net cash provided by operating activities 16,532 14,652
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Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2007 December 31, 2008

Investing activities:

Purchase of property, plant, and equipment (5,448) (5,531)
Acquisition of net assets of subsidiaries and minorities, net of cash (6,052) (6,201)
acquired of 24 and 103 respectively
Investments in associates and joint ventures accounted for under eq- (1,196) 3,114)
uity method
Disposals of financial fixed assets 979 2,226
Other investing activities (net) (192) 192
Net cash used in investing activities (11,909) (12,428)
Financing activities:
Proceeds from short-term debt 5,848 7,121
Proceeds from long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs 3,034 14,599
Payments of short-term debt (1,126) (11,720)
Payments of long-term debt (6,321) (5,127)
Purchase of treasury stock (2,553) (4,440)
Sale of treasury stock for stock option exercises 55 68
Dividends paid (includes 443 and 508 of dividends paid to minority (2,269) 2,576)
shareholders in 2007 and 2008, respectively)
Other financing activities (net) (85) 57
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (3,417) (2,132)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 634 (376)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,840 (284)
Cash and cash equivalents:
At the beginning of the year 6,020 7,860
At the end of the year 7,860 7,576

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



6 FAIR VALUE

Perspective and Issues 145 Measurement. Principles and
The Debate over the Use of Fair Value Methodologies 158
Measurements 145 Item identification and unit of account 159
Current Developments through Mid- Most advantageous market and market
2009 147 participants 159
. I 4 Selection of the valuation premise for as-
ED,.F.azr Value Measurement 149 set measurements 163
Definitions of Terms 151 Risk assumptions when valuing a
Concepts, Rules, and Examples 153 liability 165
The Mixed Attribute Model 153 Inputs , 168
Fair Value Objectives 156 Valuation techniques 171
Definition of fair value 156 Measurement considerations 172
Scope 158 Fair Value Disclosures 173
PERSPECTIVE AND ISSUES

The Debate over the Use of Fair Value Measurements

Financial statement preparers, users, auditors, standard setters, and regulators have long
engaged in a debate regarding the relevance, transparency, and decision-usefulness of finan-
cial statements prepared under IFRS, which is one among the various families of comprehen-
sive financial reporting standards that rely on what has been called the “mixed attribute”
model for measuring assets and liabilities. That is, existing IFRS imposes a range of mea-
surement requirements, including both historical (i.e., transaction-based) cost and a variety of
approximations to current economic values, for the initial and subsequent reporting of the
assets and liabilities that define the reporting entity’s financial position and, indirectly, for
the periodic determination of its results of operations.

The use of a “mixed attribute” approach is a legacy of the national GAAP standards
from which IFRS was heavily derived, most notably US and UK GAAP. Historically, not-
withstanding a wide appreciation of the virtues of using fair, or market, values for the mea-
surement of economic activities, practical limitations have constrained the use of fair value
data. Over recent decades, however, it has become vastly more feasible to access relevant
market value information, and concomitantly it has become less defensible to employ less
decision-relevant information—particularly historical transaction prices that could be years,
or even decades, obsolete—for financial reporting to be used by management, investors,
creditors and other stakeholders.

As a consequence, there has been a steady expansion of financial reporting and disclo-
sure rules that call for measurements that are, or are approximations of, fair value assess-
ments. Some of these are called upon for regular periodic reporting purposes (e.g., for re-
porting marketable investments), while others are used only to provide limiting values for
items to be displayed in the body of the financial statements (e.g., for lower of cost or market
adjustments to inventories) or for inclusion in the informative notes (e.g., supplementary
disclosures of fair value for items carried on other bases).

While current fair or market value data has become more readily obtainable, some of
these measures do exhibit some degree of volatility, albeit this is typically only a reflection
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of the turbulence in the markets themselves, and is not an artifact of the measurement
process. Nonetheless, the ever-expanding use of fair value for accounting measurements,
under various national GAAP as well as under IFRS, has attracted its share of critical com-
mentary. The debate has become even more heated due to the recent economic turmoil in
credit markets, which more than a few observers have cited as having been exacerbated by
required financial reporting of current value-based measures of financial performance.

Although the evidence will ultimately demonstrate that fundamental economic and fi-
nancial behaviors (such as bank lending decisions) were not, in the main, caused by the
mandatory reporting of value changes, the chorus of complaints have caused the standard
setters to take certain steps to mollify their critics, including revisiting some of the mecha-
nisms by which fair values have heretofore been assessed. As of late 2009, it does not
appear that diminished employment of fair value data will be prescribed, as the standard
setting bodies (including both IASB and FASB) recognize the dangers inherent in a too-great
willingness to react to politically-inspired criticisms.

The majority of investors and creditors that use financial statements for decision making
purposes argue that reporting financial instruments at historical cost or amortized cost de-
prives them of important information about the economic impact on the reporting entity of
real economic gains and losses associated with changes in the fair values of assets and liabil-
ities that it owns or owes. Many assert that, had they been provided timely fair value infor-
mation, they might well have made different decisions regarding investing in, lending to, or
entering into business transactions with the reporting entities.

Others, however, argue that transparent reporting of fair values creates “procyclicality,”
whereby the reporting of fair values has the effect of directly influencing the economy and
potentially causing great harm. These arguments are countered by fair value advocates, who
state their belief that the “Lost Decade”—the extended economic malaise that afflicted Japan
from 1991 to 2000—was exacerbated by the lack of transparency in its commercial banking
system, which allowed its banks to avoid recognizing losses on loans of questionable credit
quality and diminished, but concealed, values.

IASB has been on record for many years regarding its long-term goal of having all fi-
nancial assets and liabilities reported at fair value. That said, it has taken a cautious, incre-
mental approach towards attaining this goal, not unlike the experience of the FASB in setting
US GAAP. After addressing a number of matters that had been assigned higher priority,
however, IASB dedicated significant attention to the fair value project beginning in 2005, as
part of its announced convergence efforts with FASB. It was decided early in this process
that FASB’s monumental standard, FAS 157, Fair Value Measurements (now codified as
ASC 820), issued in 2006, would serve as the basis for IASB’s intended standard. IASB
issued a discussion paper to that effect in late 2006, followed by an Exposure Draft (ED) in
mid-2009. Current planning is to issue a final standard by mid-2010. The discussion in this
chapter is based on the IASB’s ED.

Some may opine that the undertaking to produce unified and comprehensive guidance
about the application of fair value measurements has not been pursued with sufficient alac-
rity. There are, in the authors’ opinion, many reasons for this deliberate, incremental ap-
proach to reaching the goal of full adoption of fair value measurement for financial instru-
ments. These reasons include

1. Project interdependencies—Many of the projects on IASB’s agenda have implica-
tions that affect fair value measurements and disclosures. Notable among them are

a. The commitment to converge with US GAAP,
b. The joint development of a new conceptual framework with the FASB,
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c. The development of new formats for the basic financial statements, to respond
to user criticisms regarding the usefulness of the current model, and

d. Pressure on IASB to reduce complexity of existing standards and to address
calls from private company stakeholders to provide relief from the costs asso-
ciated with the preparation of financial statements.

2. Preoccupation with other important priorities—In recent years, IASB has been
dealing with a succession of complex, controversial, politically charged issues that
required urgent attention due to the volatility of the business environment and fi-
nancial markets, as well as a general deterioration in certain legal and regulatory
climates in reaction to a series of high-profile frauds and business failures. Among
these issues were

Share-based payments

Special-purpose entities and off-balance-sheet financing

Derivatives and hedging

Recognition of guarantee obligations

Business combinations of businesses, not-for-profit organizations, and mutual

enterprises including determination of when voting ownership is not indicative

of the party that controls an entity

f. Income tax accounting, including the recognition, measurement, and disclo-
sures related to uncertain income tax positions

g. Pensions and other postemployment benefits

h. Leases

o0 os

3. Technical complexities encountered in resolving practice issues

4. The current political and economic environment—Those who are seeking to assign
blame for the 2007-2009 era turmoil in credit markets have focused on several areas
of financial reporting standards that may have been contributing factors, such as

a. The ability to structure so-called qualifying special-purpose entities (QSPEs)
and variable interest entities (VIEs) (using US GAAP terminology, which is
less fully developed under IFRS) to achieve “off-the-statement of financial po-
sition” accounting that disguises the extent of the reporting entity’s risk expo-
sure, and

b. Certain inconsistencies between specialized accounting rules that apply to dif-
ferent types of enterprises

While much of the strongest criticisms were aimed at FASB, because the origins of the
2007-2009 financial crisis, and its initial major effects, were in the US, somewhat similar
complaints could be directed at IFRS. The commonly voiced arguments are, however, often
contradictory, since both the effects of reporting volatility—an inevitable by-product of using
fair value to determine reportable performance in times of economic uncertainty—as well as
inadequate or tardy revelations about current values have been cited as reasons for concern.
Notwithstanding the voicing of sentiments in favor of reduced reliance on fair value informa-
tion, at least for current income measurement purposes, both FASB and IASB have remained
publicly committed to judiciously expanding the applicability of fair value measures in
financial reporting.

Current Developments through Mid-2009

FASB, the SEC, and the IASB have been subjected to intense political pressure by reg-
ulators, legislators, and special interest groups who have taken the position that fair value
accounting somehow either caused the economic crisis or contributed to its downward spiral.
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The economic upheaval presently occurring in global financial markets could not possi-
bly have been contemplated by FASB when, in September 2006, it issued FAS 157, Fair
Value Measurements (now codified as ASC 820 under US GAAP). Nor could it have been
foreseen by IASB when it began its pursuit of a parallel project in 2005, nor when it decided
that it would be prudent and efficient to essentially adopt the already-completed US GAAP
standard, subject to modest terminological and minor substantive modifications.

The definition of fair value that was implemented by FAS 157, and proposed by the
draft IFRS, is as follows:

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Both standards prescribe a three-tiered framework (or hierarchy) for categorizing the in-
puts used to measure fair value. That framework gives the highest priority (referred to as
Level 1) to quoted prices (unadjusted) that are observable in active markets for identical as-
sets or liabilities. It further holds that a market price might not represent fair value of an asset
or liability if transactions occurring in that market are under duress, such as in a forced or
liquidation sale, or if the seller is experiencing financial difficulty.

The recent (late 2007 through late 2009, with no relief yet in sight) financial markets for
many types of securities have suffered substantial declines in trading volume, and in some
cases all transactions have ceased and the market is described as having “seized up.” These
conditions are virtually unprecedented in the recent history of US and world financial mar-
kets, and financial statement preparers have experienced application difficulties with respect
to certain aspects of applying fair value measurements and disclosures.

In the US, these developments led to calls for temporarily suspending, if not actually re-
vising or revoking, the FAS 157-based fair value requirements, and these events did not go
unnoticed by IASB as it was putting the finishing touches on its proposed look-alike stan-
dard. Ultimately, threats of Congressional action did cause FASB to issue modest clarifica-
tions to the fair value standard, which however preserved the essential elements of the exist-
ing requirements.

Critics in the US asserted that fair value measurements contributed to financial market
instability due to what they believed to be inappropriate write-downs in the value of invest-
ment holdings of financial institutions in markets that were inactive, illiquid, or what the
critics believed to be irrational. These critics further asserted that the alleged “irrational”
write-downs caused regulatory capital shortfalls and failures of a number of financial institu-
tions.

There were strong counterarguments made by other market participants, most signifi-
cantly by investors. These proponents of fair value (which includes the authors) argued that

* Fair value accounting improves the transparency of information provided to the pub-
lic,

¢ Fair value information is vital in times of economic stress,

* Any suspension of fair value would weaken investor confidence in the financial sys-
tem and result in further market instability,

* Fair value accounting is being unjustly blamed when, in fact, the causes of the finan-
cial crisis were poor lending decisions, inadequate risk management, and shortcom-
ings in the “balkanized” regulatory structure that was largely designed in the 1930s
and gutted by successive rounds of deregulation legislation in recent years

In conducting its study of this situation, the US SEC reviewed the financial statements of
fifty banks and other financial institutions of varying sizes. The review revealed that the use
of mark-to-market accounting was generally limited to investments held for trading purposes
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and certain derivative instruments and that, for many financial institutions, those affected
investments represented a minority of their total investment portfolio. The review also re-
vealed that over 90% of investments marked to market were based on observable (Level 1)
inputs such as market quotes obtained from active markets. Consequently, the SEC con-
cluded that fair value accounting did not appear to have played a meaningful role in 2008 in
the difficulties suffered by, and failures of, banks and other financial institutions.

The SEC report attributed the failures to the result of growing probable credit losses,
concerns about asset quality, and, in some cases, erosion of confidence by lenders and in-
vestors.

The study made the following eight recommendations:

1. That the US GAAP standard, FAS 157, should not be suspended, but rather im-
proved.

2. That existing fair value and mark-to-market requirements should not be suspended.

3. That additional measures should be taken to improve the application and practice re-
lated to existing fair value requirements; particularly as they relate to both Level 2
and Level 3 estimates in the fair value hierarchy.

4. That the accounting for the impairment of financial assets should be readdressed.

5. That further guidance should be implemented in order to foster the use of sound
judgment.

6. That accounting standards should continue to be established to meet the needs of in-
vestors.

7. That additional formal measures to address the operation of existing accounting
standards in practice should be established.

8. That the possible need to simplify the accounting for investments in financial assets
should be addressed.

While the US standard-setter, FASB, did resist the more strident demands, it nonetheless
did produce three interpretive releases addressing how unusual market conditions should be
dealt with, and added certain additional disclosure requirements. These staff positions (sub-
sequently codified) affect US GAAP, but may prove instructive for those gaining familiarity
with the issues raised by the IASB Exposure Draft, Fair Value Measurement. They are

1. FSP FAS 157-4, Determining Fair Value When the Volume and Level of Activity for
the Asset or Liability Have Significantly Decreased and Identifying Transactions
That Are Not Orderly (ASC 820-10-35)

2. FSP FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1, Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial
Instruments (ASC 825-10-50 and ASC 270-10-50), and

3. FSP FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2, Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-
Temporary Impairments (ASC 320)

Amidst all this controversy and all of these distractions, both FASB and the IASB still
firmly believe that, at minimum, financial instruments are best measured and reported at fair
value, and both standard setters are proceeding under that assumption. That steadfastness is
demonstrated, inter alia, by the issuance of the IASB’s draft standard in July 2009. IASB is
committed to producing a final standard by mid-2010.

ED, Fair Value Measurement

As anticipated by its issuance of the 2006 discussion paper, IASB has now issued, in
mid-2009, its answer to FASB’s pronouncement, which is now codified as ASC 820 under
US GAAP. In effect, the IASB’s draft is a “wrap-around” of FAS 157, albeit with a select
number of distinguishing characteristics. Like FAS 157, it does not expand the application
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of fair value-based measurements in IFRS, but rather offers a hierarchy of guidance (iden-
tical to that under FAS 157) and a slew of expanded disclosure requirements. Its objective is
to bring order to the diversity of rules and interpretations affecting the application of fair
value requirements already extant under IFRS. The effect, once the expected requirements
have been assimilated by preparers, auditors and users, should be to make financial state-
ments more useful and more comparable across entities and over time.

Fair value measures are called for, or used, to greater or lesser extents, by over a score of
IFRS standards, including those dealing with the accounting for construction contractors,
long-lived assets, leases, revenue recognition, employee benefit plans, impairment of assets,
intangible assets, financial instruments, investment property, agriculture, share-based pay-
ment schemes, business combinations, and noncurrent assets held for sale and discontinued
operations. However, these standards provide disparate, and sometimes limited, guidance on
how to measure fair value. What guidance exists has evolved piecemeal and is dispersed
among the IFRSs that refer to fair value, and is neither consistent nor well-organized. The
inconsistencies in the guidance have added to the complexity of financial reporting for pre-
parers as well as users.

If adopted as a standard, the ED will provide uniform and broadly (but not universally)
applicable guidance for a myriad of current and future requirements calling for fair value
measures of assets and 